


Ow alu en prodi ctiofl occurs it oui

at err New Madri Mis oun smelter fit

ti tc iti own raw rr atenal inloadiriq fa ility

ivi ritro system arid sluminum cc durtior

ph it eli din arbor mode ib icati er he lent Li

aiso ii
lcd labr on cility

for the prc eLi of

contiriuou ri cxtiusio billet and foundry ingot

ftc ill CLV II

ii hub tic at

Oic il ci

Nc lidrif so dNif

thc Ft Li If

ii yr
duct ii

TiC CC Ou ir

cd di pu

ft Arai ru sti

011

5144
Ii kM

11

Ou usii low cost srth merit ir

rod alurr nun rolled pr duct id cscsi tsr for

11 ir pr
ducts ii udi hr avy gauqr toil

rrnduuit iIi as fir irid se ru rigid FeLler stoic

Ii 31 iug seer ItO foils arid ugh up she durts

rca ins Huntmgdon Tennessee La red INc phir is

Sabs6ury North Cerohna and Newport Arkansas

NunL rn ip yee 630

363
rue irIs rlu

cxl is th rn mc er IOi na us id is he

rir di 110 iii nina Our ha ixite ci so op ratios ri

ft fir Jars era vi les secure Source of iii te tc

iii ehr If

3m fin an lu srua rninufactur fly facilid near

Cr ii tercy
irs ia situated alorrg the Missisippi River

At tic Jr sir icy
lint ry suxitr is chemically iced

oisverf ito alnm na the pru
ioai at ii

if productrori of pr irs ry
slur mci

Ic ca Or mercy Lousana
Numb Lii ploy 470

New Madnd Mssoun

rue En pc 930



Noranda Aluminum Holding orporation

Operating Cash Flow Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA Ratio

$40 $80 $120 $160

Adjusted E8ITDAr7
$65 30 $195 $260

25x 50s /5 00

Net Cash Cost of Pomary Aluminum

$065 $070 $075 $080

2011

December31
2010 2009

1559 294.9 169

12t4 675 150
1409 669 1014

2M6 127 733

2353 226 98

18.5 23.8 12.3

784 61

1403 112.2 49
483 500 35.1

273 76.9 284
43 4.9

26t9 216 19.6

ii ons xrept per sir edata

Summary ol Operations

Sales

Opt rating corne loss
Net income

Net income per diluted share

Adjusted EBITDA

Segment profit loss

Bauxite

umina

Primary Aluminum

Flat Rolled Products

Corporate

El minaticns

Total

8aance Sheet Data

Cash and cash equivalents

Property plant and equipment net

total assets

Debt

Equity

Trade working capital

Other

Total prinla aluminum shipments pounds in millions
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We choose to manage our input costs

without direct/y linking them to the LME

aluminum price This tactical choice when

combined with our focus on productivity

creates the opportunity to expand margins as

LME prices rise and the responsibility to manage

our cost risk when LME prices are lower

Our CORE CostOut Reliability and

Effectiveness productivity program

spearheaded by Chad Pinson Vice President

of Productivity achieved record $69.4

million of savings in 2011 These savings

were earned through cost reduction

working capital savings and capital avoidance

activities In time when we saw upward

pressure on our input costs we continued to

improve our relative cost structure

According to CRU each of our individual

upstream operations improved its position

on the global cost curve in 2011

As the largest component of smelter cash

costs power is constant key productivity

focus In 2011 Charles Skoda Vice President

of Operations Support led our efforts to

successfully work through the Missouri Public

Service Commissions regulatory process In

addition to controlling our costs by working

tovvards 52% rate increase compared to

Amerans initial request of 11 the

Noranda teams effort together with other

user groups yielded savings for all rate

payer classes

We strive to sell every pound of primary

aluminum as vaueadded product

We make this choice not only to earn

additional margins over commodity grade

aluminum but also because it strengthens

our ties to the consumer market Richard
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Noranda was successfu in 2011

wh measured agahist our two
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Our offset sales effectively reduced our

integrated alumina cost by an additional $47

per tonne in 2011 According to CRU we have

the lowest delivered cost of alumina in the US





we do ionstrated success Dunng the first half of

2011 the aluminum industry experienced

robust recovery from the downturn of 2008 dnd

2009 Although industry experts expected continued

improvement in both demand and price the

second half of 201 saw uncertainty in global

demand and resulting decreases in aluminum

pricing for the industry and for Noranda

Because over 98% of our products are shipped

to destinations in the our volumes and

prodmt premiums over the LME aluminum price

are dependent on the U.S economy The continuing

recovery in the U.S market supported stable

demand for our customers and therefore for us

This stable demand was foundation for

another year of strong performance in 2011 The

second half downturn notwithstanding our 2011

results improved over solid 2010 levels

Excluding special items our earnings were

$1 05 per diluted share 22% higher than the

$u 86 we reported in 2010

Total segment profit was $261.9 million

21% improvement over the $216.1 million of

segment profit generated in 2010

ash flow from operating activities increased

by 32% to $140.6 million compared to

$82 million excludng terminated

aluminum hedges ir 2010

Ry Ihece and many other measures within our

Six Sustainable Workstreams 2011 represented

excellent performance

Our Expectation of Ourseves 2012 and

BeyondAchieving Excellence

We expect excellence of ouFselves in all hdt

we do We define excellence simply we expect

to improve every quarter both in terms of our

controllable financial results and in each of the

Six Sustainable Workstreams of our Operating

Model We are committed to demonstratinq

sustained and sustainable excellence in every

corner of our company

Achieve excellence in 2012

We have work to do before we can meet our

own expectations for excellence That work

divides into four overall themes eliminate losses

from unplanned events improve our

environmental health and safety performance

build stronger business processes and align our

employees through engagement

Eliminate losses from unplanned events

Wayne Hale Upstream Business President and

Scott Croft Downstream Business President have

challenged their teams to eliminate losses from

unplanned events This cnnept is nnt iw at

Noranda we have passion to eliminate safety

and environmental incidents to protect our

people and our environment We are now

exte iding that drive to zero incidents

throughout our culture and our Six Suslainab

Workstreams

This challenge to eliminate losses from

unplanned events has two aspects

Eliminate unplanned vcntS by improvinq the

operating reliability of our assets

Remember that our highly successful CORF

program isnt just about Cost Out

also is founded on identifying and

implementing Reliability and Effectiveness

RE projects Reliability and Effectivenkss

2011 Prinirv
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dove sustainable improvement and help us

get the most from our investment of time

and financial resources We have several key

projects planned for 2012 to address and

el minate unplanned events

Eh ninate losses when unplanned events occur

We are focused on our planning processes

and training to improve our responses so

that unplanned events are remedied

immediately and do not become extended

losses

Improve our environmental health and safety

performance We improved our enterprisewide

safety performance in 2011 but not as much as

we had planned And although of our

segments improved their safety performance we

cant claim excellence in safety our first and

most important accountability as an employer

until all of our locations are achieving their

safety goals

For 2012 led by Steve Robuck Vice President

of Environmental Health Safety we will

continue to drive improvements in safety Our

goal for 2012 is to achieve 37% reduction in

our TR rate to 17S Our ultimate goal is zero

incidei ts and we continue to pursue our

Absolute Zero challenge to have at least one

quarter in 2012 where we achieve zero

reportable incidents companywide

Build stronger business processes Since 2009

we have spent $53 million building our IT

infrastructure so that we can provide our people

with the right data and the right tools to support

decisio i-making In February 2012 our Board

approved the next phase of our infrastructure

investment authorizing $5 million project to

implement new Enterprise Resource Planning

ABSOLUTE

zer

system for our Flat-Rolled Products segment and

new Enterprise Asset Management system for

our Primary Aluminum segment Under the

leadership of Ethan Lane Ch ef Information

Officer we expect this infrastructure investment

will support many CORE productivity initiatives

improve our forecasting and asset management

capabilities and support future growth

Align our employees through engagement We
had 2011 goal to improve the workspace of

every Noranda employee through improvements
in safety process or technology Led by Gail

Lehman General Counsel and Vice President of

Human Resources we believe we made su

improvements for over 90% of our workforce

Knowing that employee engagement like

excellence is continuous journey our goal for

2012 will build on the foundation created

2011 We have started with the same goal as

2011 to again improve the workspace and

work environment of every Noranda employee

We have also added complementary goal to

improve the safety and the safety environment

for every employee We believe that supporting

our employees with safe arid engaging work

environment is key part of winning company
We want to inspire our people to fulfill their

individual aspirations and create team success

2012 and the first five years

With 2012 we will complete the fifth full year

of Norandas young history as stand-alone

company During these five years our strategy

and operating model have been tested throuqh

extraordinary opportunity and unusual

challenge As our external markets and our

circumstance have changed we have chanqed as





well We are proud however that we have

remained constant in our ability to create value

for our shareholders

We are also proud that in November 2011 we

complemented the value creation and cash flow

generation capabilities of our business by

introducing program to return excess cash to

stockholders by initiating regular $003 per

share quarterly dividend raised to $004 per share

in February 2012 Concurrently we introduced

the potential for supplemental dividends

declaring $1 per share supplemental dividend

Launching this dividend program formalized

our commitment to provide prudent returns

of cash to stockholders while continuing to

invest in the longterm growth of Norandas

integrated platform

Already in 2012 weve taken steps to change

and further improve our ability to create value

Led by Bob Mahoney Chief Financial Officer we

strengthened our financial backbone through

strategic refinancing in March We entered into

new $325 million term loan which matures in

2019 as well as new $250 million assetbased

revolving credit line that matures in 2017 We
used portion of the net proceeds to repay $78

million of debt maturing in 2014 repurchase $75

million of debt maturing 2015 and pay $87

million to our equity holders through $125 per

share supplemental dividend The net proceeds

remain on our balance sheet providing us with

approximately $70 million additional funds

to reinvest in our businesses and to pursue

strategic growth

Beyond 2012

To build on our strong start as an independent

company we have asked Tom Robb Vice

President of Strategic Financial Planning and

Development to lead our efforts in developing

new Noranda fiveyear plan This plan will guide

us as we embark upon the next step of our

Noranda journey

Our next five
years begins in 2012 our 5th

birthday is May 18 2012 We have built

Noranda in anticipation of the next five years

and we expect that foundation to serve us wefl

as we go forward We will stay true to our

mission and continue to build every day

sustainable integrated aluminum company

We remain bullish on the near and longer term

future for aluminum and will preserve the focus

that has helped us be so successful

We compete based on our ability to maintain

globally competitive costs and we will grow

based our regional market knowledge quality

service and delivery Every day we focus on

becoming more productive Every day we are

committed to driving new ways to get better

return on the time that we invest and the money

that we spend to operate and renew Noranda

each year

Most importantly we plan to grow We have

vision of meeting larger portion of the US
demand for value added aluminum products lo

realize that vision we will depend first on our

existing customers as they grow and develop

new product markets We will also continue our

track record of acquiring new customers for each

of our business segments

Cumulatve

Core Savinqs

2009 through 2011

71 runs

$78 Pr mary Aluminum

$41 Flat Poled Products

$33 Bauxite

$32 Alumina

$6 Corporate

Average CORE

Saving by Type

hrough

2011

8B EBITDA

12c Capital Fxpenditures

Workrng Caprtal





Growth also means investment As capacity

constraints develop we must address them

Whether we build new assets or acquire the assets

of others we will remain both disciplined in our

approach and committed to our customers Building

strategy and culture that embodies the

inextricable link between growth and productivity

will serve us well for the next five years

It Takes Team to Get the Job Done

At Noranda we believe that one person can

make difference but it takes team to get the

job done In closing express my appreciation to

all of the individuals and team that make

Norancla great company Thank you to our

Board of Directors to our executive team and to

our over 2400 employees for your commitment

to Noranda during 201 It is my privilege to be

part of the Noranda team

Noranda has numerous natural strengths

including resourceful and engaged employees

strong relationships with longstanding

customers and facilities that are both

strategically located and cost competitive

globally Combining these natural strengths with

our flexible capital structure our effective

strategy and our sustainable Operating Model

we will create sustained and sustainable

excellence in 2012 and beyond

All the best

Layle Kip Smith

President and CEO

Robert Mahoney
Chief Financial Officer

Gail Lehman

Vice President of Human

Resources General Counsel

and Corporate Secretary

Scott Croft

President of the

Downstream Business

Ethan Lane

Chief Information

Officer

Richard Lapine

Vice President of

Commercial Activities

Chad Pinson

Vice President of

Productivity

Layle Smith

President and Chief

Executive Officer

Wayne Hae 10
President of the

Upstream Business

Steve Robuck

Vice President of

Environmental

Health and Safety

Thomas Robb

Vice President of Strategic

Planning and

Development

Charles Skoda 11
Vice President of

Operations Support





Sustainability is at the

heart of our mission
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actions in 2012

MONffORNG
We are installing worltoclass

information system to track our

performance across range of critical

environmental and social metrics We

plan to monitor these metrics more

systematically and comprehensively

than we have in the past

ORGANZING
We have begun the

implementation of formal

Environmental Management

System at each of our facilities to

allow for planning goal setting

and reporting

ACflNG
We are developing detailed action

plans to improve our sustainability

performance focusing on energy

consumption water usage and

reductions in air emissions and

greenhouse gases along with

increases in our employee and

community engagements



ard Evans Robert Kasdin

hai in Sri ior cc too i/icc sick

SF it hos tc nturnbit iver ty

ocr iirnar rinc hi anci ii

n/c id Akiminum tr st u/c Univr Mack gai

ii mum sooaimon former Coo is

ii Lx ru /ce Of/ui Pnnce Unive ty

ive tm mt omp my
irvard Law Schoot

Man Schumacher
Matthew Nord

cd nti ig Stand irds rtn

Br rd Apollo Man iger en 1.1

ci Chief Fine mci Of/ice

Ar rear It ml Can FJIOU Enc Press

Partnc

Oar th Turner Apolkm tlanaqcn en

Lx

\uc ntcc

3cr xat

xxx xi Hr di cc

Hoc lit ind ox hoc

LIr ocr crr

Li cC IL t/ yr ndnrc idclmi 55 ic udi gui nrs lati 15/ to tO quaFf it ons

or offic rs nd employers directoi conipensaFi md her iattc

iii at liv orRrlitio.mspaec ourwbsitewvwn rai lamlurinumn or

it uo ii rc he orat gove nsn Jo in ent indudi mm Cod ni ftusines Co dot

ipc irn Ac di Cor iinittec an Noi ii lating md Frovei mc or in Ace

npen Ann proc rain to rIC 1111 UU cxccuciv Ii Inc tc Cl OVr

tiv it tic ros wit cur stockh $d rs In adc it or intend tha our 10 pensa ion orcgi in

iii cii cc cmsh niariajern nt knq rm earn ng gioh ar afrty peifc rician

rip yr ton parkaoc in ord to attract and retain exec tie taft

ii ito our romp ation polirms and programs hi omt nsitmou

if sh ct ye ci the rr mponsatior progr ms aci our orga ior inc risk

xiS VVc ivc nciud ti ocr ccii pcnsat 01 prog ams nol it isks ia arc msc nit ly

dl iinc this do crm nato we in idored the illowin

it tar ir inC among seven rompor cut ctudiiir in ket ppr ipr itc hesc

of r- iipci saP in ar niion rrai jr rnents which do not promote risk

Sr p1 in cho Air uat ncentiVc Plan hich so ir liC mbl to our pci crc incc

-o Ai ci Ic em ur or Jo niriate

cmi ii ii and to safAy cash na icial iar iqe cc it mud oduc iv yr ml our

it fe iv ii aqcrr ent the tI rev nues

ir ii ur iual ncr ntivi Pl so th it riot cd 200 per nt the aic

tI vent xci vc mphas iort ir ives

id tr Ii it iree
yr pcrlr rr mar xycles at ti no vest 11 st ovc hru

cC oij Fr

14





UNITED STATES SEC

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE/COMMISSI Processing

WASHINGTON D.C 20549 Section

FORM 10-K

Annual Report pursuant to section 13 or 15d of the Securities ExiOd1t34
For the fiscal year ended December 31 2011

05

or

Transition report pursuant to section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from ____________ to ____________
Commission file number 001-34741

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter

Delaware 20-8908550

State or other jurisdiction I.R.S Employer
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801 Crescent Centre Drive Suite 600

Franklin TN 37067 37067
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Registrants telephone number including area code 615 771-5700

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12g of the Act None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12b of the Act
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Common Stock $0.01 par value New York Stock Exchange
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is large accelerated filer an accelerated filer non-accelerated filer or smaller reporting
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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT CONCERNING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform

Act of 1995 Forward-looking statements are statements about future not past events and involve certain important risks and uncertainties

any
of which could cause the Companys actual results to differ materially from those expressed in forward-looking statements including

without limitation the cyclical nature of the aluminum industry and fluctuating commodity prices which cause variability in earnings

and cash flows downturn in general economic conditions including changes in interest rates as well as downturn in the end-use

markets for certain of the Companys products fluctuations in the relative cost of certain raw materials and energy compared to the price

of primary aluminum and aluminum rolled products the effects of competition in Norandas business lines Norandas ability to retain

customers substantial number of which do not have long-term contractual arrangements with the Company the ability to fulfill the

businesss substantial capital investment needs labor relations i.e disruptions strikes or work stoppages and labor costs unexpected

issues arising in connection with Norandas operations outside of the United States the ability to retain key management personnel and

Norandas expectations with respect to its acquisition activity or difficulties encountered in connection with acquisitions dispositions or

similar transactions

Forward-looking statements contain words such as believes expects may should seeks approximately intends

plans estimates or anticipates or similarexpressions that relate to Norandas strategy plans or intentions All statements Noranda

makes relating to its estimated and projected earnings margins costs expenditures cash flows growth rates and financial results or to

the Companys expectations regarding future industry trends are forward-looking statements Noranda undertakes no obligation to publicly

update or revise any forward-looking statement as result of new information future events or otherwise except as otherwise required

by law Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements which speak only as of the date on which they

are made and which reflect managements current estimates projections expectations or beliefs All forward-looking statements herein

are based upon information available to us on the date of this report on Form 10-K

Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from our expectations which we refer to as cautionary

statements are disclosed herein under Item IA Risk Factors All forward-looking information in this report on Form 10-K and

subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their

entirety by our cautionary statements in light of these risks and uncertainties the matters referred to in the forward-looking statements

contained in this report on Form 10-K may not in fact occur Accordingly investors should not place undue reliance on those statements

We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement as result of new information future events or

otherwise except as otherwise required by law



Glossary of Selected Terms

Noranda the Company we our and us means collectively Noranda Aluminum Inc and its subsidiaries on consolidated

basis prior to the consummation of the Apollo Acquisition and Noranda HoldCo and its subsidiaries on consolidated basis

2007 Revolver means that certain six-year $250 million revolving credit facility pursuant to the 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

that Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into on May 18 2007

2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities means the 2007 Revolver and the 2007 Term Loan defined below

2007 Term Loan means that certain seven-year term loan with an original principal amount of $500 million pursuant to the 2007

Senior Secured Credit Facilities that Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into on May 18 2007

2012 Refinancing means the February 29 2012 transactions by which we refinanced our 2007 Revolver and 2007 Term Loan as

well as the related repayment of the remaining $78 million 2007 Term Loan

2012 Revolver means that certain five-year $250 million asset-based revolving credit facility pursuant to the 2012 Senior Secured

Credit Facilities that Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into on February 29 2012

2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities means collectively the 2012 Term Loan defined below and the 2012 Revolver

2012 Term Loan means that certain seven-year term loan with an original principle amount of $325 million pursuant to the 2012

Senior Secured Credit Facilities that Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into on February 29 2012

2012 Tender Offer means the transactions pursuant to Dutch Auction tender offer by which the aggregate principal amount of

AcquisitionCo Notes outstanding was decreased by $75 million on March 82012

AcquisitionCo Notes means our senior floating rate notes due 2015 issued by Noranda AcquisitionCo

Apollo means investment funds affiliated with or co-investment vehicles managed indirectly by Apollo Management L.P including

Apollo Investment Fund VI L.P along with its parallel investment funds

Apollo Acquisition means the May 18 2007 acquisition by Apollo of the Noranda aluminum business of Xstrata

Apollo Transactions means collectively the Apollo Acquisition and the related financings

Century means Century Aluminum Company together with its subsidiaries

ORE means Cost-Cut Reliability and Effectiveness the Companys productivity program

CRC means CRV International Limited an independent consulting group focused in part on the mining and metal sectors

DMT means dry metric tonnes

Downstream Business means our Flat-Rolled Products reportable segment consisting of four rolling mill facilities

Exchange Act means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

FIFO means the first-in first-out method of valuing inventory

GOJ means the Government of Jamaica

Gramercy means our wholly owned alumina refinery in Gramercy Louisiana

I-IoldCo Notes means our senior floating rate notes due 2014 issued by Noranda HoldCo

Joint Venture Transaction means the transaction consummated on August 31 2009 whereby Noranda became sole owner of Gramercy

and St Ann

KMts means kilometric tonnes

LIFO means the last-in first-out method of valuing inventory

LME means the London Metals Exchange

Midwest Transaction Price or MWTP is equal to the LME price of primary aluminum plus Midwest premium

NBL means Noranda Bauxite Limited Jamaican private limited company and wholly owned subsidiary of Noranda HoldCo

New Madrid means our aluminum smelter near New Madrid Missouri

NJBP means Noranda Jamaica Bauxite Partnership Jamaican partnership owned 51% by the GOJ and 49% by NBL

Net Cash Cost means our integrated net cash cost to produce pound of primary aluminum including the benefits of the Midwest

premium as well as the profit margin realized from value-added alumina and bauxite sales to external customers



Noranda 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan means the Amended and Restated Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation 2007 Long-Term

Incentive Plan

Noranda 2010 Incentive Award Plan means the Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation 2010 Incentive Award Plan

Noranda AcquisitionCo means Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation Delaware corporation and wholly owned subsidiary of

Noranda HoldCo excluding its subsidiaries

Noranda HoldCo means Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Delaware corporation excluding its subsidiaries

Notes means collectively the AcquisitionCo Notes and the HoldCo Notes

Predecessor means financial information including results of operations cash flows and financial information for the periods from

August 16 2006 to December 31 2006 and from January 2007 to May 17 2007 and as of December 31 2006 for Noranda Aluminum

Inc on basis reflecting the stepped-up values of Noranda Aluminum Inc prior to the Apollo Acquisition but subsequent to the Xstrata

Acquisition

Securities Act means the Securities Act of 1933 as amended

Special Dividend means the June 2007 dividend of $216.1 million paid to Noranda stockholders along with the related financing

St Ann means our bauxite mining operation in Jamaica

Successor means financial information including results of operations cash flows and financial information for the period from

May 18 2007 to December 31 2007 as of December 31 2007 and as of and for the years ended December 31 2008 2009 and 2010

for Noranda on basis reflecting the impact of the purchase allocation of the Apollo Acquisition

Upstream Business means collectively our three reportable segments Primary Aluminum Alumina and Bauxite These segments

consist of the New Madrid Missouri aluminum smelter the Gramercy Louisiana alumina refinery and the St Ann Jamaica bauxite mine

U.S GAAP means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States

Xstrata means Xstrata Schweiz AG

da



PART

ITEM BUSINESS

Except as otherwise indicated herein or as the context otherwise requires references in this report to Noranda HoldCo refr

only to iVoranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Delaware corporation excluding its subsidiaries Noranda AcquisitionCo re/r

only to Noranda lumimim cquis it/on Corporation Delaware corporation andwholly ownedsubsidiary qfNoranda HoldCo excluding

its subsidiaries and Norandathe Company we our and us refer collectively to Noranda Aluminum inc and its

subsidiaries on consolidated basis prior to the Apollo Acquisition and Noranda HoldCo and its subsidiaries on consolidated

basis afier the completion of the Apollo Acquisition HoldCo Notes refer to our senior floating rate notes originally due 2014 issued

by Noranda HoldCo and AcquisitionCo Notes refer to senior floating rate notes due 2015 issued by Noranda AcquisitionCo

Overview

We are leading North American integrated producer of value-added primary aluminum and high quality rolled aluminum coils

We have two businesses our upstream business and downstream business Our upstream business consists of three reportable segments

Primary Aluminum Alumina and Bauxite These three segments are closely integrated and consist of smelter near New Madrid

Missouri which we refer to as New Madrid and supporting operations at our bauxite mine and alumina refinery In 2011 New Madrid

produced approximately 513 million pounds 264000 metric tonnes of primary aluminum representing approximately 13% of total

2011 U.S primary aluminum production based on statistics from CRU Our downstream business comprises our Flat-Rolled Products

segment which is one of the largest aluminum foil producers in North America and consists of four rolling mill facilities with combined

maximum annual production capacity of4lO to 495 million pounds depending on production mix

Our upstream business is one of the largest U.S producers of primary aluminum We believe our combination of captive alumina

and bauxite secure electric power contract and strategically located assets give us meaningful operational flexibility Our bauxite mining

operation in St Ann Jamaica provides secure source of bauxite to our wholly owned alumina refinery in Gramercy Louisiana Gramercy

provides strategic supply of alumina to our New Madrid smelter at costs below recent spot market prices for alumina Because our

captive alumina and bauxite production capacity exceeds our internal requirements we also sell these raw materials to third parties The

margin from these sales effectively lowers the cost of our alumina supply and therefore lowers our integrated net cash cost to produce

primary aluminum Net Cash Cost In addition we have long-term secure power contract at New Madrid that extends through 2020

We believe this contract gives Noranda an advantage over aluminum smelters facing frequent power shortages or disruptions In addition

our power costs are not linked to London Metals Exchange aluminum prices or LME prices unlike the power costs of some of our

competitors particularly in North America

In addition to providing security of supply we believe our fully integrated upstream cost structure benefits us in an environment

of rising aluminum prices The cost of our supply of alumina which we own is positively affected by rising LME price due to our

realization of higher margins on third-party sales of alumina and bauxite

Primary aluminum is global commodity and its price is set on the LME Due to long-term domestic supply deficit in the U.S

and transportation costs our primary aluminum products typically earn Midwest premium on top of the LME price the sum of which

is known as the Midwest Transaction Price or the MWTP In addition we typically sell majority of our primary aluminum shipments

in the form of value-added products such as billet rod and foundry which include fabrication premium over the MWTP We also have

the flexibility to direct primary aluminum volumes to our downstream rolling mills on an arms-length basis when demand is weak for

our value-added end-products This helps to ensure standby demand for our upstream production

Our downstream business is low-cost domestic producer of aluminum rolled products We own and operate four rolling mills

including the West plant in Huntingdon Tennessee which is recognized as one ofthe most advanced rolled aluminum production facilities

in North America Versatile manufacturing capabilities and advantageous geographic locations provide our rolling mills with the flexibility

to serve diverse range ofend-users We believe that this flexibility when combined with our strong customer service capabilities product

quality and strategic sales support has allowed our downstream business to gain share of demand in 2009 and retain demand share through

2011

The downstream business prices its products at the MWTP plus fabrication premium therefore our profitability is largely

insulated from movement in aluminum prices except in periods of rapid change which could create significant differences between the

cost of metal purchased and the price of metal sold to customers As result the downstream businesss performance is predominantly

driven by fluctuations in volumes and the fabrication premiums we are able to achieve During periods of difficult market conditions in

our downstream business we have the ability to scale back meaningfully on capital expenditures such as in 2009 when we reduced our

capital expenditures by 5S% versus 2008 We believe that the nominal maintenance capital requirements combined with operating

performance that is substantially insulated from aluminum price fluctuations make the downstream business relatively effective vehicle

for free cash flow generation The geographic proximity of the facilities in our upstream and downstream businesses creates further

degree of vertical integration providing for additional operational flexibility
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to mine bauxite in Jamaica through 2030 and 49% interest in Noranda Jamaica Bauxite Partnership or NJBP which holds the

physical mining assets and conducts the mining and related operations pursuant to the concession The GOJ owns the remaining 51% of

NJBP

During 2010 we began contracting substantial portion of our bauxite mining out to third party contractors who supply their

own mining equipment The remaining physical mining assets consist primarily of rail facilities other mobile equipment dryers and

loading and dock facilities The age and remaining lives of the mining assets vary and they may be repaired or replaced from time to time

as part of NJBPs ordinary capital expenditure plan

Under the terms of the GOJ concession NJBP mines the land covered by the concession and the GOJ retains surface rights and

ownership of the land The GOJ granted the concession and entered into other agreements with NBL for the
purpose

of ensuring that we

have sufficient reserves to meet our annual alumina requirements The concession ensures access to sufficient reserves to allow NBL to

ship 4.5 million DMT of bauxite annually from mining operations in the specified concession area through September 30 2030 We have

reached agreement with the GOJ giving us the option to mine over the 4.5 million DMT concession and up to 5.4 million DMT during

2012

The GOJ is required to provide additional concessions if the specified concession does not contain sufficient quantities of

commercially exploitable bauxite NBL is responsible for reclamation of the land that it mines The outstanding reclamation liability at

December 31 2011 was $4.6 million

Pursuant to an establishment agreement that governs the relationship between NBL and the GOJ NBL manages the operations of

the partnership NJBPpays operating costs and is entitled to all of its bauxite production NBL pays the GOJ according to negotiated

fiscal structure which consists of the following elements royalty based on the amount of bauxite mined ii an annual asset usage

fee for the use of the GOJs 51% interest in the mining assets iiicustomary income and other taxes and fees iv production levy

which was waived for certain historical periods but which is applicable in 2009 and future periods and certain fees for lands owned

by the GOJ that are covered by the concession In calculating income tax on revenues related to sales to our Gramercy refinery NBL

uses set market price which is negotiated periodically between NBL and the GOJ At the end of 2009 we and the GOJ reached an

agreement setting the fiscal regime structure for NBLs bauxite mining operations through December 31 2014 The agreement covers

the fiscal regime as well as NBLs commitment for certain expenditures for haulroad development maintenance dredging land purchases

contract mining training and other general capital expenditures from 2009 through 2014 If we do not meet our commitment to the GOJ

regarding these expenditures we would owe to the GOJ penalty that could be material to our consolidated financial statements We

believe there is remote possibility that we will not meet the commitment We signed the formal amendment with the GOJ on the fiscal

structure in June 2010 which did not change the cost structure from the agreement reached in 2009 The terms of the agreement required

us to make $14.0 million prepayment of Jamaican income taxes for fiscal years 2011 through 2014 of which $10.0 million was paid

in June 2010 and the remainder was paid in April 2011

Energy

Electrical Power The smelter is located in an area with abundant sources of electrical power New Madrid has power purchase

agreement with Ameren Missouri Missouris largest electric utility Ameren pursuant to which New Madrid has agreed to purchase

substantially all of its electricity from Ameren through May 2020 This contract is for regulated power and cannot be altered without the

approval of the Missouri Public Service Commission MoPSC
On September 2010 Ameren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking an 11% base rate increase In July 2011 the MoPSC

ruled on this rate case approving Ameren to increase its base rates which increased our base rate by 5.2% effective July 31 2011 On

February 2012 Ameren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking 14.6% base rate increase As we have been in previous rate

cases we expect to be an active participant in the MoPSC rate setting process We expect ruling on this request by January 2013

Any increase approved would be effective at the beginning of the month following the MoPSCs ruling

We are currently party to the appeal of several rate-related issues including rate increases approved by the MoPSC in

January 2009 May 2010 and July 2011 and the amount of cost increases related to the FAC Despite these appeals our consolidated

financial statements reflect our payment of power costs at the enacted rates with disputed amounts held in escrow by the Missouri Circuit

Court As of December 31 2011 and 2010 other current assets see Note Supplemental Financial Statement Information to our

consolidated financial statements included $30.1 million and $9.8 million respectively for amounts held in escrow related to these

appeals with corresponding liabilities recorded in accrued liabilities

On November 2011 the Missouri Court ofAppeals issued decision to uphold the MoPSCs January 2009 rate increase approval

The parties to the appeal including Noranda are evaluating whether to request rehearing of the Court of Appeals decision or to appeal

that decision to the Missouri Supreme Court If the parties decide not to file additional appeals or if such appeals are filed and are not

successful substantial portion of the escrowed funds will be released to Ameren At December 31 2011 such amount of released funds

would have been $20.8 million The release of these funds will not result in any impact to our operating results our net working capital

or our net assets

Natural Gas Our Gramercy refinery has contractual relationship with Atmos Energy Marketing LLC Atmosfor the supply

of its full natural gas requirement on delivered basis via the three natural gas pipelines that connect directly into the Gramercy facility



The Atmos contract provides for secure supply of natural gas at price based on the Henry Hub Index plus transportation and pipeline

costs In addition our contract with Atmos provides security in case of short-term supply emergency such as hurricane or other force

majeure situation by granting Gramercy the option at an established premium to obligate Atmos to utilize its storage assets to supply

Gramercys full natural gas supply requirements At December 31 2011 we were party to forward swaps for natural gas effectively

fixing our cost for approximately 45% of our natural gas exposure through 2012 at an average price of $7.37 per million BTU

Fuel Fuel is substantial component of the cost structure at our St Ann bauxite mine and is generally linked to the price of oil

The Pricing Index is based on the Platts Oilgram Price Reports plus an adder for transportation and handling The facility uses two types

of oils Bunker or heavy fuel oil is supplied by Clark Oil Trading Company and diesel fuel is supplied by Petrojam the local refinery

The St Ann Bauxite mine has the ability to receive its fuel by ocean going vessel and from multiple suppliers

Competition The market for primary aluminum is diverse and highly competitive We believe that we compete on the basis of

price quality timeliness of delivery and customer service with our focus on the latter three areas We also compete on global basis

with other producers and other materials on the basis of production cost The marginal cost of these producers who are in the highest

cost quartile is one factor in determining the market price for aluminum Aluminum also competes with other materials such as steel

plastic copper titanium and glass based upon functionality and relative pricing

Sales and Marketing We employ sales force consisting of inside and outside salespeople Inside salespeople are responsible for

maintaining customer relationships receiving and soliciting individual orders and responding to service and other inquiries by customers

Our outside sales force is responsible for identifying potential customers and calling them to explain our services as well as maintaining

and expanding our relationships with our current customers The sales force is trained and knowledgeable about the characteristics and

applications of various metals as well as the manufacturing methods employed by our customers

Our sales and marketing focus is on the identification of original equipment manufacturers or OEMs and other metals end-

users that could achieve significant cost savings through the use of our inventory management value-added processing just-in-time

delivery and other services We use variety of methods to identifr potential customers including the use of databases direct mail and

participation in manufacturers trade shows Customer referrals and the knowledge of our sales force about regional end-users also result

in the identification of potential customers Once potential customer is identified our outside salespeople assume responsibility for

visiting the appropriate customer contact typically the vice-president of purchasing or operations and business owners

All of our value-added billet foundry rod sales are on negotiated price basis In some cases sales are the result of competitive

bid process where customer provides list of products along with requirements to us and several competitors and we submit bid on

each product

Customers During 2011 approximately 50% of the bauxite from St Ann was shipped to our Gramercy refinery and the majority

of the remainder was sold to Sherwin Alumina Company pursuant to contract through 2012 Beginning in 2011 pricing of the Sherwin

contract is based on percentage of LME limited by certain ceilings and floors The margins from these third-party sales effectively

reduce the net cost of bauxite transferred to Gramercy

During 2011 approximately 45% of the alumina from Gramercy was shipped to our New Madrid smelter and the remainder was

sold to third parties The margins from these third-party sales effectively reduce the net cost of alumina transferred to New Madrid In

2011 our ten largest alumina customers represented 60% of that segments sales Alumina sales to one customer represented almost 10%

of our consolidated net sales during 2011 The contract with this customer extends through 2015 with prices based on percentage of

LME

Our target customers in the Primary Aluminum segment are located in the midwestern United States and Mexico with 78% of

loads delivered to these customers within one-day truck delivery distance We have diverse customer base in our Primary Aluminum

segment with no single customer accounting for more than 10% of our consolidated net sales in each of the last three full fiscal
years

In 2011 our ten largest primary aluminum customers represented 45% of that segments sales

Rolling Mills Downstream Business

Business Overview Our downstream business is an integrated manufacturer of aluminum foil and light sheet Our rolling mills

are located in the southeastern United States in Huntingdon Tennessee SalisburyNorth Carolina and Newport Arkansas with combined

maximum annual production capacity of 410 to 495 million pounds depending on our production mix Our products include heavy gauge

foil products such as finstock and semi-rigid container stock light gauge converter foils used for packaging applications consumer foils

and light gauge sheet products such as transformer windings and building products We primarily sell our products to OEMs of air

conditioners transformers semi-rigid containers and foil packaging most of whom are located in the eastern and central part of the

United States Our plants are well situated to serve these customers and approximately 64% of deliveries are within one-day truck

delivery distance resulting in freight savings and customer service benefits Versatile manufacturing capabilities and advantageous

geographic locations provide our rolling mills the flexibility to serve diverse range of end uses while maintaining low cost base

The Huntingdon site has ISO 900 1-2000 certification from the International Organization for Standardization with regards to its

quality management system description of the products produced at our four rolling mill facilities follows
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures about Market Risk for summary of the price and quantity of natural gas hedging contracts

Electricity is purchased through medium-term contracts at industrial rates from regional utilities supplied through local distributors

Supply has been reliable at all plants

Competition The aluminum rolled products market is highly competitive We face domestic competition from number of

companies in the markets in which we operate Our primary competitors are J.W Aluminum Company Aleris International Inc and

Novelis North America Some of our competitors are substantially larger have more diversified operations and compete in product lines

in which we do not operate We also face competition from imports mainly from Asia The factors influencing competition vary by region

and end-use but we generally compete on the basis of price product quality the ability to meet customers specifications range
of

products offered lead times technical support and customer service

In addition to competition from within the aluminum rolled products industry the industry faces competition from non-aluminum

materials In the packaging market aluminum rolled products primary competitors are plastics and cardboard However for our largest

market usage of aluminum finstock is well entrenched because we believe no other material offers more favorable economics Factors

affecting competition with substitute materials include technological innovation relative prices ease ofmanufacture consumer preference

and performance characteristics

Sales and Marketing Customers Our sales force consists of inside and outside salespeople Our outside sales force is primarily

responsible for identifying potential customers and calling on them to negotiate profitable business and handling any subsequent issues

that may arise Inside salespeople are primarily responsible for maintaining customer relationships receiving and soliciting individual

orders and responding to service and other inquiries by customers The sales force is trained and knowledgeable about the characteristics

and applications of our various products as well as our manufacturing methods and the end-use markets in which our customers are

involved

Our sales and marketing focus is on servicing OEMs who are major participants in the markets where our products are used as

inputs However our staff participates in industry groups
and attends trade shows in order to keep abreast of market developments and

to identify potential new accounts Once potential new customer is identified our outside salespeople assume responsibility for visiting

the appropriate customer contact typically the purchasing manager or manager of operations to explore and develop business

opportunities

Nearly all business is conducted on negotiated price basis with few sales made at list prices typically to smaller accounts

Our downstream business has diverse customer base with no single customer accounting for more than 10% of our consolidated

net sales in each of the last three years In 2011 our ten largest Flat-Rolled Products customers represented 53% of that segments sales

Facilities We operate four plants at three locations in the southeastern United States and our divisional offices which consist of

leased office space aggregating to approximately 30000 square feet are located at our Corporate headquarters in Franklin Tennessee

Huntingdon Our largest production site is in Huntingdon Tennessee with maximum annual capacity of up to 365 million pounds

depending on production mix The Huntingdon site is subject to long-term lease arrangement with the Industrial Development Board

of the Town of Huntingdon pursuant to which we functionally own the facility and can acquire legal title for the nominal sum of $100

The site includes long established casting and rolling facility which was built in 1967 and acquired from Archer Aluminum by Noranda

in 1979 which we refer to as the East plant Construction began on second plant in 1998 and production started in 2000 at capital

cost of $238 million which we refer to as the Westplant The two plants are physically separate but are operated with shared administration

and maintenance personnel and with some sharing of production capabilities According to CRU the Huntingdon West facility is one

of the most advanced rolled aluminum production facilities in North America and has the lowest conversion cost excluding metal for

foil stock production in North and South America

Salisbury This plant was originally constructed in 1965 and has maximum annual capacity of up to 95 million pounds depending

on production mix The Salisbury plant is major U.S producer of intermediate width light gauge product less than 0.001 inches

thickness typically sold to customers who laminate the foil with paper plastic or cardboard used in flexible packaging applications such

as juice boxes

Newport The Newport plant is rolling and finishing operation only and relies on intermediate gauge reroll supplied by Salisbury

or Huntingdon The Newport plant has maximum annual capacity of up to 35 million pounds depending on production mix

Employees

As of December 31 2011 we employed approximately 2500 persons of which approximately 69% were union members

We are party to collective bargaining agreements all of which expire within the next five years Our collective bargaining

agreements are with the following unions the United Steelworkers of America USWA the International Association of Machinists

and Aerospace Workers IAMAW the University and Allied Workers Union UAWU and the Union of Technical Administrative

and Supervisory Personnel UTASP We have recently completed the process
of formalizing recognition of third union at St Ann

with the Bustamante Industrial Trade Union BITU
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During third quarter 2011 we finalized the terms of three-year agreement with the UAWU at St Ann which will extend

through April 30 2013 This agreement covers the majority of our Jamaican workforce

The agreement at St Ann with the UTASP expired in December 2010 claim for new contract was received in June 2011

Negotiations regarding the terms of new agreement are on going

With the recent formalization of the BITU at St Ann approximately 90% of our St Ann workforce is represented by union

The agreement with the IAMAW at our Newport rolling mill expired in May 2011 and on June 2011 new three-year

labor agreement went into effect

The five year contract in place with the USWA representing our unionized employees at the New Madrid smelter will

expire in August 2012 This contract covers approximately 80% of our New Madrid workforce

The three-year contract in place with the USWA representing our unionized employees at the Salisbury rolling mill will expire

in November 2012 This contract covers approximately 88% of our Salisbury workforce

From time to time there are shortages of qualified operators of metals processing equipment In addition during periods of low

unemployment turnover among less-skilled workers can be relatively high We believe that our relations with our employees are

satisfactory

Safety

We believe ensuring the safety of our workforce is our number one accountability as an employer We are commuted to continuing

and improving upon each facilitys focus on safety in the workplace We have number of safety programs in place which include regular

bi-weekly safety meetings and training sessions to teach proper safe work procedures

Our executive management along with site managers and union leadership are actively involved in supporting and promoting

the ongoing emphasis on workplace safety Improvement in safety performance is key metric used in determining annual incentive

awards for our U.S employees

Research and Development

We do not incur material expenses in research and development activities but from time to time participate in various research and

development programs We address research and development requirements and product enhancement by maintaining staff of technical

support quality assurance and engineering personnel

Additional Information

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation was incorporated in Delaware on March 27 2007 We file annual quarterly and current

reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission the SEC You may read and copy any document we file

with the SEC at the SECs public reference room at 100 Street N.E Washington D.C 20549 Please call the SEC at l-800-SEC-0330

for further information on the public reference room Our SEC filings are also available to the public at the SECs website at http//

www sec.gov

You may obtain copies of the information and documents incorporated by reference in this report at no charge by writing or

telephoning us at the following address or telephone number

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation

801 Crescent Centre Drive Suite 600

Franklin TN 37067

Attention Robert Mahoney

Chief Financial Officer

615 771 57O0

We also maintain an Internet site at http//www.norandaaluminum.com We will as soon as reasonably practicable after the electronic

filing of our annual report on Form 10-K quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports

if applicable make available such reports free of charge on our website Our website and the information contained therein or connected

thereto is not incorporated into this annual report

13
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ITEM IA RISK FACTORS

You should aetiilli consider the risk factors set forth below as well as the other information contained in this Annual Report on

lorm 10-K including our consolidated financial statements and related notes The risks described below are nol the on/v risks wetiice

.4clditional risks not ncscn11v known to us or which we current/v consider immaterial also may adversely qfject us If any of these risks

01 uncertainties cii maul occurs our business financial condition and operating results could be materially adversely attected Past

flnamuialperformaiul may not he reliable indicator of future pertormance and historical trends should not be used to anticipate results

or trends in future periods

Crclicaljluctuation.s in the primary aluminum industry cause variability in our earnings and cash flows

Our operating results depend on the market for primary aluminum cyclical commodity whose prices have historically been

volatile as illustrated in the chart below

LME AluminumCash Prices from 2002 through 2011

$1.60

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Primary aluminum prices are subject to regional and global market forces of supply and demand and other related factors Such

factors include production activities by competitors production costs in major production regions economic conditions interest rates

non-market political pressures speculative activities by market participants and currency exchange and interest rates Extended phases

of industry overcapacity may result in weak pricing environment and margin compression for aluminum producers including Noranda

Our significant cost components specifically our supply of alumina which we own and our New Madrid power contract are not

tied to the price of aluminum As result as the price decreases absent corresponding decreases in other raw material input

costs our profit margins may suffer which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations

and cash flows

Although we hae at times hedged our exposure to the volatility of LME prices since the Apollo Acquisition we currently have

no such hedges in place We are under no obligation under our senior secured credit facilities our AcquisitionCo Notes or otherwise to

enter into further hedging arrangements lfwe do not undertake further hedging activities we will continue to have price risk with respect

to the unhedged portion of our primary aluminum shipments prolonged downturn in prices thr primary aluminum products could

significantly reduce the amount of cash available to us to meet our current obligations and fund our long-term business strategies In

addition we may enter into new hedging arrangements in the future which may not be beneficial depending on subsequent price

changes and could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows For additional

information regarding our hedging activities see Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of

Operations and Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

downturn in eneral economic conditions as well as downturn in the end-use markets for certain of our products could

inateriallt and adversely a/ftct our businessfmnancial condition results ofoperations and cash flows

llistoricallv demand for primary aluminum has been highly correlated to general economic and market conditions in the United

States and other major global economies including China As demonstrated by the global recession and credit crisis that began in late

2007 and continued through much of 2009 sustained decline in either the United States or global primary
aluminum market would have

negative impact on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The substantial majority of our products are delivered to destinations in the United States However adverse changes in economic
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$1.20

$1.00

$0.80

$0.60
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conditions in regions outside the United States such as the European sovereign debt crisis may have negative impact on demand fir

our products Although not all-inclusive such negative impacts may include increased competition from displaced imports or because

of the impact of those conditions on the demand for our customers products In addition certain end-use markets for our rolled products

such as the housing construction and transportation industries experience demand cycles that are correlated to the general economic

environment Economic downturns in regional and global economies or decrease in manufacturing activity in industries such as

construction packaging and consumer goods all of which are sensitive to number of factors outside our control could materially and

adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Losses caused by disruptions in the supply of electrical power could materially and adversely affect our businessfinancial condition

results of operations and cash flows

We are subject to losses associated with equipment shutdowns which may be caused by the loss or interruption of electrical power

to our facilities due to unusually high demand blackouts equipment failure natural disasters or other catastrophic events We use large

amounts of electricity to produce primary aluminum and any loss of power that causes an equipment shutdown can result in the hardening

or freezing of molten aluminum in the pots where it is produced If this occurs we may experience significant losses if the pots are

damaged and require repair or replacement process that could limit or shut down our production operations for prolonged period of

time

During the week of January 26 2009 power supply to our New Madrid smelter was interrupted numerous times because of

severe ice storm in Southeastern Missouri causing loss of approximately 75% of the smelter capacity Although the smelter returned

to full operations by March 31 2010 there can be no assurance that we will not ultimately experience shorter pot lives or higher failure

rates as result of damage from the equipment shutdown

Although we maintain property and business interruption insurance to mitigate losses resulting from catastrophic events we may
be required to pay significant amounts under the deductible provisions of those insurance policies In addition our coverage may not be

sufficient to cover all losses or may not address all causes of loss or cover certain events Certain of our insurance policies do not cover

any losses we may incur if our suppliers are unable to provide us with power during periods of unusually high demand

Our operations consume substantial amounts of energy and our profitability may decline if energy costs rise

Electricity and natural gas are essential to our businesses which are energy intensive The costs of these resources can vary widely

and unpredictably The factors that affect our energy costs tend to be specific to each of our facilities

Electricity

Electricity is the largest cost component at our New Madrid smelter and is key factor to our long-term competitive position in

the primary aluminum business We have power purchase agreement with Ameren Missouri Missouris largest electric utility Ameren
pursuant to which we have agreed to purchase substantially all of New Madrids electricity through May 2020 The pricing structure of

our power contract includes two components base rate and fuel adjustment clause

Ameren may increase the rates it charges its customers including Noranda with the approval of the Missouri Public Service

Commission MoPSC Once rate increase request is filed the MoPSC has 11 months to issue its ruling Other than the time required

by this rate setting process and the fact that Ameren may not file two rate cases in the same calendar year there are no restrictions on

the frequency with which Ameren may seek rate increases Indeed during the five year period ended December 31 2011 Ameren has

filed four rate cases

On February 2012 Ameren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking a14.6% base rate increase As we have in previous

rate cases we expect to be an active participant in the MoPSC rate setting process Any increase approved would be effective at the

beginning of the month following the MoPSCs ruling We expect ruling on this request by January 2013 The outcome of this case

or any future rate cases Ameren may initiate could materially and adversely affect the competitiveness and long-term viability of our

smelter as well as our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The impact of the fuel adjustment clause may have dramatic and unpredictable effect on our future operating results as they are

dependent on Amerens fuel costs and off-system sales volume and prices The fuel adjustment clause increased cost of goods sold by

14.7 million in 2011 and $5.4 million in 2010 and decreased cost of goods sold by $0.2 million in 2009

Electricity is also key cost component at our rolling mill facilities Electricity is purchased through medium-term contracts at

industrial rates from regional utilities supplied through local distributors If we are unable to obtain power at affordable rates upon

expiration of these contracts we may be forced to curtail or idle portion of our production capacity which could materially and adversely

affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Natural
gas

Natural
gas

is the largest cost component at our Gramercy refinery and key cost component at our rolling mill facilities Our

Gramercy refinery has contract to guarantee secure supply at an index-based price Our downstream business purchases natural gas on

the open market The price of natural
gas can be particularly volatile As result our natural gas costs may fluctuate dramatically and

we may not be able to mitigate the effect of higher natural gas costs on our cost of sales Any substantial increases in energy costs could
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cause our operating costs to increase and could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations

and cash flows At December 2011 we are party to forward swaps for natural gas effectively fixing our cost for approximately

45% of our natural gas exposure through 2012 We will continue to have price risk with respect to the unhedged portion of our natural

gas purchases In addition our actual future usage may be higher or lower than we estimated As result of these factors our hedging

activities may be less effective than expected in reducing the economic variability of our future costs

Fuel

Fuel is substantial component ofthe cost structure at our St Ann bauxite mining operation Our fuel is provided under an indexed-

based contract linked to the price of oil Our fuel costs at St Ann may fluctuate and we may not be able to mitigate the effect of higher

fuel costs Changes in the index will have an impact on our cost structure Any increases in fuel costs could cause our operating costs to

increase and could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

We nwt encounter increa.se.s in the cost of raw materials which could cause our cost of goods sold to increase thereby material/i

and adversely affecting our business financial condition results of operations or cash flows and limiting our operating flexibility

We require substantial amounts of raw materials in our business These raw materials consist principally of bauxite alumina

primary aluminum recxcled aluminum and aluminum scrap however pricing volatility ofother raw materials including carbon products

and caustic soda may have significant impact on our costs Ifraw material prices increase we may not be able to pass on the entire cost

of the increases to our customers or offset fully the effects of high raw materials costs through productivity improvements which could

materially and atherselv affect our business financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Beginning in fturth quarter 2008 and continuing through second quarter 2009 the cost of alumina purchased from the Gramercy

retThery exceeded the spot prices of alumina available from other sources If such situations arise in the future we may not be able to

decrease Gramercys production in
response to changes in market forces and any such decreases will increase our unit costs and limit

our ability to fully recover fixed costs We may he forced to sell excess alumina at market prices that could be substantially lower than

our Net Cash Cost which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

During 2011 sold approximately 50% of St Anns bauxite production to Sherwin Alumina Company pursuant to contract

that extends through 2012 Margins from these sales effectively reduce the net cost of bauxite to Gramercy In the event Sherwin Alumina

Company is unable to honor that contract or chooses not to extend the contract upon expiration the net cost of our bauxite could increase

which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Prices for the raw materials used by our downstream business including primary aluminum recycled aluminum and alloying

elements are subject to continuous volatility and may increase from time to time Our sales are generally made on the basis ofa margin

over metal price hut it raw material costs other than metal increase we may not be able to pass on the entire cost of the increases to our

customers or offset fully the effects ofhigh raw materials costs through productivity improvements which could materially and adversely

affeci our bLisiness financial condition results of operations and cash flows In addition sustained material increase in raw materials

prices may cause some of our customers to substitute other materials for our products

We may he unable to continue to compete successfully in the highly competitive markets in which we operate

We are engaged in highly competitive industry We compete with number of large well-established companies in each of the

markets in which operate Our Primary Aluminum segment competes with large number of other value-added metals producers on

an international national regional and local basis We also compete to much lesser extent with primary metals producers who typically

sell to very large customers requiring regular shipments of large volumes of metals Our Flat-Rolled Products segment competes in the

production and sale of rolled aluminum products with number of other aluminum rolling mills including large single-purpose sheet

mills continuous casters and other multi-purpose mills Aluminum also competes with other materials such as steel copper plastics

composite materials and glass among others for various applications In the past for certain applications customers have demonstrated

willingness to substitute other materials for aluminum In both businesses some of our competitors are larger than us and have greater

flnancial and techrucal resources than we do These larger competitors may be better able to withstand reductions in price or other adverse

industry or economic conditions

Similarly competitors with superior cost positions to ours particularly those competitors that operate smelters with access to

relatively lower cost production inputs may be betterahle to withstand reductions in price orother adverse industry oreconomic conditions

In the event that the current competitive smelter cost landscape changes such that other smelters see stability or reductions in their major

input costs and/or we see increases in ours the long-term viability of our smelter could be compromised current or new competitor

may also add or build new capacity or increase import activity into the United States which could diminish our profitability by decreasing

the equilibrium prices in our markets New competitors could emerge from within North America or globally including in China the

Middle East and South America If we do not compete successfully our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows could be materially and adversely affected

In addition our Flat-Rolled Products segment competes with other rolled products suppliers principally multi-purpose mills on

the basis of quality price and timeliness of delivery technological innovation and customer service One primary competitive factor

particularly in the flat rolled business is price We may be required in the future to reduce fabrication prices or shift our production to
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products that generally yield lower fabrication prices in order to remain at full capacity which could impact our level of profitability In

addition technological innovation is important to our customers and if we are unable to lead or effectively meet new innovations to meet

our customersneeds such as down-gauging our financial performance could be materially and adversely impacted Increased competition

in any of our businesses could have material and adverse effect on our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows

Aluminum may become less competitive with alternative materials which could reduce our share of industry sales lower our selling

prices and reduce our sales volumes

Aluminum competes with other materials such as steel copper plastics composite materials and glass for various applications

Higher aluminum prices relative to substitute materials tend to make aluminum products less competitive with these alternative materials

Environmental or other regulations may increase our costs and be passed on to our customers making our products less competitive The

willingness of customers to accept aluminum substitutes or the ability of large customers to exert leverage in the marketplace to affect

pricing for fabricated aluminum products could result in reduced share of industry sales or reduced prices for our products and services

which could decrease revenues or reduce volumes either ofwhich could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition

results of operations and cash flows

if we were to lose order volumes from any of our largest customers our revenues and cash flows could be materially reduced

Our business is exposed to risks related to customer concentration In 2011 our ten largest customers were responsible for 40%

of our consolidated revenues In 2011 one customer accounted for approximately 10% of our consolidated revenues loss of order

volumes from or loss of industry share by any major customer could materially and adversely affect our financial condition and results

of operations by lowering sales volumes increasing costs and lowering profitability In addition our customers may become involved

in bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings or default on their obligations to us Our consolidated balance sheet reflected an allowance for

doubtful accounts totaling $0.1 million and $0.2 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

We do not have long-term contractual arrangements with significant majority of our customers and our revenues and cash flows

could be reduced if our customers switch their suppliers

majority of our customer contracts have term of one year or less although we have long-term relationships with many of our

customers Many of our customers purchase products and services from us on purchase order basis and may choose not to continue to

purchase our products and services The loss of these customers or significant reduction in their purchase orders could have material

and adverse impact on our sales volume and business or cause us to reduce our prices which could have material and adverse effect

on our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Our business requires substantial capital investments that we may be unable to fulfilL

Our operations are capital intensive Our capital expenditures were $64.6 million $61 .3 million and $46.7 million for 2011 2010
and 2009 respectively On

pro
forma basis assuming 100% ownership for Gramercy and St Ann capital expenditures would have been

$52.3 million for 2009

We may not generate sufficient operating cash flows and our external financing sources may not be available in an amount sufficient

to enable us to make required capital expenditures service or refinance our indebtedness pay dividends or fund other liquidity needs If

we are unable to make upgrades or purchase new plant and equipment our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows could be materially and adversely affected by higher maintenance costs lower sales volumes due to the impact of reduced product

quality and other competitive influences

We may be materially and adversely affected by environmental safety production and product regulations or concerns

Our operations are subject to wide variety of U.S federal state local and non-U.S environmental laws and regulations including

those governing emissions to air discharges to waters generation use storage transportation treatment and disposal of hazardous

materials and wastes land reclamation and employee health and safety matters Compliance with environmental laws and regulations

can be costly and we have incurred and will continue to incur costs including capital expenditures to comply with these requirements

Additionally certain of our raw material suppliers may be subject to significant compliance costs which may be passed through to us

As these direct or indirect regulatory costs increase and are passed through to our customers our products may become less competitive

than other materials which could reduce our sales If we are unable to comply with environmental laws and regulations we could incur

substantial costs including fines and civil or criminal sanctions or costs associated with upgrades to our facilities or changes in our

manufacturing processes in order to achieve and maintain compliance In addition environmental requirements change frequently and

have tended to become more stringent over time We cannot predict what environmental laws or regulations will be enacted or amended

in the future how existing or future laws or regulations will be interpreted or enforced or the amount of future expenditures that may be

required to comply with such laws or regulations Our costs of compliance with current and future environmental requirements could

materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The Environmental Protection Agency EPA has developed National Ambient Air Quality Standards NAAQS for six

compounds currently identified as criteria pollutants The NAAQS establishes acceptable ambient air levels of each pollutant based on

review oftheir effects to human health and the environment Sulfur dioxide S02 an emission from our New Madrid smelter facility
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is one such criteria pollutant Currently ambient monitoring is used to determine whether emissions from our smelter meet NAAQS

Changes to the stringency of the NAAQS could present material implications for the compliance of our smelter Failure to meet NAAQS

may require us to incur significant capital or operational costs to bring our smelter into compliance and could have negative implications

for the permits that we currently have in place in support of our smelter expansion project

In addition as an owner and operator
of real property and generator of hazardous waste we may be subject to environmental

cleanup liability regardless of fault pursuant to Superfund or analogous state or non-U.S laws Thus we could incur substantial costs

inciLiding cleanup costs and costs arising from third-party property damage or personal injury claims relating to environmental

contamination at properties currently or formerly operated by us or at third-party sites at which wastes from our operations have been

disposed Contaminants have been discovered in the soil and/or groundwater at some of our facilities The discovery of additional

contaminants or the imposition of additional cleanup obligations at these or other sites could result in significant liability In addition

hecaLise we use or process
hazardous substances in our operations we may be liable for personal injury claims or workers compensation

claims relating to exposire to hazardous substances

We have identihed certain environmental matters at both Gramercy and St Ann which are disclosed in our consolidated financial

statements to the extent they represent liabilities as defined by U.S GAAP There could he other significant environmental issues of

which we are not aware The occurrence of new environmental issues could materially and adversely affect our business financial

condition results of operations and cash flows

Climate change legislation or regulations may adversely impact our operations and markets

Energy generated from fossil fuel sources such as coal diesel and natural gas
is significant input in number of our operations

number of governments or governmental bodies have introduced or are contemplating legislative and regulatory changes in response

to view that consumption of energy
derived from fossil fuels is contributor to global warming Regulatory and legislative changes

may impact our operations directly or indirectly through customers or our supply chain Assessments of the potential impact of future

climate change legislation regulation and international treaties and accords are uncertain We may experience increased capital

expenditures requirenients in order to comply with revised or new legislation orregulations increased insurance premiums and deductibles

as new actuarial tables are developed to reshape coverage change in competitive position relative to industry peers
and changes in the

demand for the goods we produce or increases to our raw material input costs

Some of our facilities are located in areas that have been subject to natural disasters Future natural disasters in these areas could

damage our facilities and disrupt our operations

OLir aluminum smelter is located in New Madrid Missouri on the banks of the Mississippi River and near the New Madrid fault

line in an area that ma\ he subject to natural disasters such as floods tornadoes ice storms and earthquakes As experienced during the

January 2009 ice storm and subsequent power outages at our New Madrid facility when such disaster occurs it can damage the facility

in question and disrupt our production of aluminum Our bauxite mine is located in St Ann Jamaica and our refinery is located in

Gramercy Louisiana areas that may he exposed to hurricanes In addition our other facilities may be subject to natural disasters We

maintain insurance to protect us from events that may be caused by floods earthquakes tornadoes and hurricanes in amounts that we

believe are commercially reasonable There can be no assurance however that such insurance would be available on timely basis or

adequate to completely reimburse us for the losses that might be sustained or to provide funds for the reconstruction of our facilities and

in any event such insurance would not enable us to immediately reconstruct our facilities to avoid suspension or disruption of our

business while reconstruction proceeded to completion or alternative sourcing was located In addition our hedging arrangements could

require us to deliver aluminum even if we are unable to produce such aluminum which could cause us to incur unexpected costs iii

purchasing aluminum on the open market

Our business is subject to unplanned business interruptions that may adversely affect our performance

rhe production of aluminum is subject to unplanned events such as accidents supply interruptions transportation interruptions

human error mechanical failure and other contingencies Operational malfunctions or interruptions at one or more of our facilities could

cause substantial losses in our production capacity For example during January 2009 an ice storm caused power outage at our

New Madrid smelter causing loss of approximately 75% of the smelters capacity As such events occur we may experience substantial

business loss and the need to purchase one ofour integrated raw materials at prices substantially higher than our normal cost of production

which could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows Furthermore our

vertical integration ma cause operational malfunctions or interruptions at facility in our upstream business to niaterially and adversely

aiThet the perfarmance or operation of the facilities downstream of the interrupted facility Such interruptions may harm our reputation

aniong actual and potential customers potentially resulting in loss of business Although we maintain property and business interruption

insurance to mitigate losses resulting from catastrophic events we may be required to pay significant amounts under the deductible

provisions of those insurance policies In addition our coverage may not be sufficient to cover all losses or may not cover certain events

To the extent these losses are not covered by insurance our financial condition results of operations and cash flows could be materially

and adversely affected

fe could experience labor disputes that disrupt our business

Ve are party to zerocollective bargaining agreements all of which expire within the next five years Our collective bargaining
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agreements are with the following unions the United Steelworkers of America USWA the International Association of Machinists

and Aerospace Workers IAMAW the University and Allied Workers Union UAWU and the Union of Technical Administrative

and Supervisory Personnel UTASP We have recently completed the
process

of formalizing recognition of third union at St Ann

with the Bustamante Industrial Trade Union BITU Negotiations are on-going with one union and two agreements expire in 2012

All other collective bargaining agreements expire within the next five years

As customary in Jamaican labor practices unions generally submit claims subsequent to the expiration of the collective bargaining

agreements Until new agreement is ratified we continue to operate under the terms of the expired agreement and once signed the

new agreement is retroactive to the previous expiration date

As we renew bargaining agreements labor negotiations may not conclude successfully and in that case may result in significant

increase in the cost of labor or may break down and result in work stoppages or labor disturbances disrupting our operations Any such

cost increases stoppages or disturbances could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations

and cash flows by limiting plant production sales volumes and profitability

Our operations have been and will continue to be exposed to various business and other risks changes in conditions and events beyond

our control in foreign countries

We have production activities outside the United States via our bauxite mining operations in St Ann Jamaica We are and will

continue to be subject to financial political economic and business risks in connection with our non-U.S operations These risks include

those associated with political or financial instability expropriation renegotiation or nullification of existing agreements and changes

in local government laws regulations and policies including those related to taxation employment regulations and repatriation ofearnings

While the impact of these factors is difficult to predict and beyond our control any one or more of them could adversely affect our

business financial condition or operating results In addition to the business risks inherent in operating outside the U.S economic

conditions may he more volatile legal and regulatory systems less developed and predictable and the possibility of various types of

adverse governmental action more pronounced

In addition our revenues expenses cash flows and results of operations could be affected by actions in foreign countries that

more generally affect the global market for primary aluminum products including inflation fluctuations in
currency and interest rates

conipetitive factors civil unrest and labor problems Our operations and the commercial markets for our products could also be materially

and adversely aflected by acts of war terrorism or the threat of any of these events as well as government actions such as controls on

imports exports and prices tariffs new forms of taxation or changes in fiscal regimes and increased government regulation in countries

engaged in the manufacture or consumption of aluminum products Unexpected or uncontrollable events or circumstances in any of these

markets could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations or cash flows

The loss of certain members of our management may have an adverse effect on our operating results

Our success will depend in part on the efforts of our senior management and other key employees These individuals possess

sales marketing engineering manufacturing financial and administrative skills that are critical to the operation of our business If we
lose or suffer an extended interruption in the services of one or more of our senior officers our business financial condition results of

operations and cash flows may be materially and adversely affected Moreover the market for qualified individuals may be highly

competitive and we may not be able to attract and retain qualified personnel to replace or succeed members of our senior management

or other key employees should the need arise

Past and future acquisitions or divestitures may adversely affect our financial condition

We have grown partly through the acquisition of other businesses including the transaction whereby we became sole owner of

Gramercy and St Ann during 2009 As part of our strategy we may continue to pursue acquisitions divestitures or strategic alliances

which may not be completed or if completed may not be ultimately beneficial to us There are numerous risks commonly encountered

in business combinations including the risk that we may not be able to complete transaction that has been announced effectively

integrate businesses acquired or generate the cost savings and synergies anticipated Failure to do so could materially and adversely affect

our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The insurance that we maintain may not fully cover all potential exposures

We maintain property casualty and workers compensation insurance but such insurance does not cover all risks associated with

the hazards of our business and is subject to limitations including deductibles and maximum liabilities covered We may incur losses

beyond the limits or outside the coverage of our insurance policies including liabilities for environmental compliance or remediation

In addition from time to time various types of insurance for companies in our industries have not been available on commercially

acceptable terms or in some cases have not been available at all In the future we may not be able to obtain
coverage at current levels

and our premiums may increase significantly on coverage that we maintain In addition the outage at our New Madrid smelter could

have an impact on our ability in the future to obtain insurance at similar levels and costs which could materially and adversely affect our

business financial conditions results of operations and cash flows
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Future changes to healthcare legislation could materially affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash

flows

The requirements of the Health Care Reform Act that impacted our healthcare plans included the following dependents up to

age
26 can he covered under the health plans ii lifetime dollar limits are removed on essential health benefits and iii pre-existing

condition exclusions arc removed for individuals under age 19 While we currently judge that the changes required by the Health Care

Relhrm Act will not have material impact on our costs in 2012 future revisions and clarifications to the legislation could materially

and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operation and cash flows

Apollo controls uc and its interests may conflict with or differ from your interests

Our equity sponsor Apollo beneficially owns approximately 63.6% of our common stock As result Apollo has the power to

elect all of our directors Therefore Apollo effectively has the ability to approve or to prevent any transaction that requires the approval

of the Board or our stockholders including significant corporate
transactions such as mergers and the sale of substantially all of our

assets In addition following reduction of the equity owned by Apollo to below 50% of our outstanding common stock Apollo will

retain the right to cause the Board to nominate number of Apollo designees for the Board Thus Apollo will continue to be able to

significantly influence or effectively control our decisions

The interests of Apollo could conflict with or differ from stockholder interests For example the concentration of ownership held

by Apollo could delay defer or prevent change of control of Noranda or impede merger takeover or other business combination that

stockholders or dehtholders may otherwise view favorably If we encounter financial difficulties or are unable to pay our debts as they

mature Apollo may have an interest in pursuing acquisitions divestitures financings or other transactions that in their judgment could

enhance their equity investment even though these transactions might involve risk to our shareholders or debt holders Additionally

Apollo is in the business of making or advising on investments in companies and holds and may from time to time in the future acquire

interests in or provide advice to businesses that directly or indirectly compete with certain portions of our business or are suppliers or

customers of ours Apollo may also pursue acquisitions that may be complementary to our business and as result those acquisition

opportunities may not he available to us sale of substantial number of shares of stock in the future by funds affiliated with Apollo

could cause our stock price to decline

Risks Related to our Indebtedness

We have indebtedness which could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fund our operations limit our ability to

react to changes in the economy or our industry and prevent us from servicing our debt

As of Decemher 31 2011 our total indebtedness was $428.5 million On February 29 2012 we refinanced our 2007 Senior

Secured redit Facilities including both the 2007 Term Loan and 2007 Revolver and entered into the 2012 Term Loan and the 2012

Revolercollectiev the 2012 Refinancing On March 82012 pursuant to Dutch Auction tender offer the aggregate principal

amount of Acquisitiono Notes outstanding was decreased by $75.0 million the 2012 Tender Offer

Based on the amount of indebtedness outstanding and interest rates immediately following the execution of our 2012 Refinancing

and 2012 Tender Offer see Description of Certain Indebtedness for the full discussion our total indebtedness was $600.3 million and

our annualized cash interest expense is approximately $33.3 million all of which represents interest expense on floating-rate obligations

and is subject to increase in the event interest rates rise

Our sLibsidiaries ability to generate sufficient cash flow from operations to make scheduled payments on their and our debt

depends on range of economic competitive and business factors many of which are outside their and our control Our subsidiaries

inability to generate cash flow sufficient to satisfy their and our debt obligations or to refinance their and our obligations on commercially

reasonable terms..could materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations or cash flows and could

require us and our subsidiaries to do one or more of the following

raise additional capital through debt or equity issuances or both

cancel or scale hack current and future business initiatives or

sell businesses or properties

Our and our subsidiaries indebtedness could have important consequences including

making it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our indebtedness

limiting our ability to borrow money for our working capital capital expenditures debt service requirements or other Corporate

purposes

requiring our subsidiaries to dedicate portion of their cash flow to payments on their and our indebtedness which will reduce

the amount of cash flow available for working capital capital expenditures product development and other Corporate

requirenicillS
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increasing our vulnerability to general economic and industry conditions

placing us at competitive disadvantage to our less leveraged competitors

limiting our ability to respond to business opportunities and

subjecting us and our subsidiaries to restrictive covenants which if we and our subsidiaries fail to comply with could result

in an event of default under their and our debt which if not cured or waived could materially and adversely affect our business

financial condition results of operations and cash flows

Restrictive covenants under the indenture governing our AcquisitionCo Notes and our senior secured credit facilities may adversely

affect our operational flexibility

The indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes and our senior secured credit facilities contain and any future indebtedness we

incur may contain number of restrictive covenants that could impose significant operating and financial restrictions on us and our

subsidiaries including restrictions on our and our subsidiaries ability to among other things

incur or guarantee additional debt

pay dividends or make distributions to our shareholders

repurchase or redeem capital stock

make loans capital expenditures acquisitions or investments

sell assets including stock of subsidiaries

create or incur liens

merge or consolidate with other companies or transfer all or substantially all of our assets

enter into transactions with our affiliates and

engage in certain business activities

As result of these covenants we are limited in the manner in which we conduct our business and we may be unable to engage

in favorable business activities or finance future operations or capital needs

failure to comply with the covenants contained in our senior secured credit facilities the indenture governing the AcquisitionCo

Notes or any future indebtedness could result in an event of default under the senior secured credit facilities the indenture governing the

AcquisitionCo Notes or such future indebtedness which if not cured or waived could materially and adversely affect our business

financial condition results of operations and cash flows The events of default contained in our existing indebtedness are customary for

senior secured credit facilities and indentures of companies similar to the Company Certain of such events of default generally defaults

based on volitional acts that violate prohibitions on our taking certain actions such as incurring debt or paying dividends beyond permitted

amounts are not subject to notice or cure periods In the event of any default under the senior secured credit facilities the indenture

governing the AcquisitionCo Notes or any future material indebtedness our and our subsidiaries debt holders and lenders

will not be required to lend any additional amounts to us and our subsidiaries

could elect to declare all borrowings outstanding together with accrued and unpaid interest and fees to be due and payable

may have the ability to require us to apply all of our available cash to repay these borrowings or

may prevent us and our subsidiaries from making debt service payments under our and our subsidiaries other agreements

any of which could result in an event of default under such agreements

See Description of Certain Indebtedness

Despite our indebtedness we and our subsidiaries may still be able to incur significantly more debt This could increase the risks

associated with our leverage including our ability to service our indebtedness

The indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes and our senior secured credit facilities contain restrictions on our and our

subsidiaries ability to incur additional indebtedness These restrictions are subject to number of important qualifications and exceptions

and the indebtedness incurred in compliance with these restrictions could be substantial Accordingly we and our subsidiaries could incur

significant additional indebtedness in the future much of which could constitute secured or senior indebtedness The more leveraged we

and our subsidiaries become the more we and our subsidiaries and in turn our security holders become exposed to the risks described

above under the heading We have indebtedness which could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to fundour operations

limit our ability to react to changes in the economy or our industry and prevent us from servicing our debt
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Our variable-rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk which could cause our annual debt service obligations to increase

significaiitl

Substantialk all of our and our subsidiaries indebtedness including the AcquisitionCo Notes and borrowings under the 2012

Senior Secured Credit Facilities are subject to variable rates of interest and expose us to interest rate risk See Description of Certain

Indebtedness If interest rates increase our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase resulting in

reduction of our net income even though the amount borrowed remained the same

Based on the amount of indebtedness outstanding and interest rates immediately following the 2012 Refinancing and the 2012

Tender Of6r our iota indebtedness was $600.3 million and our estimated annualized cash interest
expense

is approximately $33.3

million O/ increase in the interest rates would increase our annual interest expense by an estimated $6.0 million

ITEM lB UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable

ITEM PROPERTIES

Our upstream business is vertically integrated producer of primary aluminum consisting ofan aluminum smelter in New Madrid

Missouri Bauxite mmmc operations in St Ann Jamaica and an alumina refinery in Gramercy Louisiana

Our downstream business is manufacturer of aluminum foil and light sheet We own and operate four rolling mills facilities

located in the southeastern United States two in Huntingdon Tennessee and one each in SalishuryNorth Carolina and Newport Arkansas

with combined maximum annual production capacity of4lO to 495 million pounds depending on product mix

Our corporate headqLiarters are located in Franklin Tennessee and consist of leased office space aggregating approximately 30000

square feet

For additional inFrmation about the location and productive capacity of our facilities see Item Business

ITEM LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time we are involved in variety of claims lawsuits and other disputes arising in the ordinary course of business

We believe the resolution of these matters and the incurrence of their related costs and expenses should not have material adverse effect

on our consolidated IThancial position results of operations or liquidity While it is not feasible to predict the outcome of all pending suits

and claims the ultiniate resolution ofthese matters as well as future lawsuits could have material adverse effect on our business financial

condition results of operations or reputation

ITEM MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

We believe ensuring the safety of our workforce is our number one accountability as an employer We are committed to continuing

and improving upon each facilitys focus on safety in the workplace We have number of safety programs in place which include regular

hi-weekly safety meetings and training sessions to teach
proper

safe work procedures

Our executive management along with site managers and union leadership are actively involved in supporting and promoting

the ongoing emphasis on workplace safety Improvement in safety performance is key metric used in determining annual incentive

awards tor our U.S employees

The infirmation concerning mine safety violations or other regulatory matters required by Section 1503a of the Dodd-Frank

Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and Item 104 of Regulation S-K is included in Exhibit 95.1 of this report which is

incorporated herein by refrence
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PART II

ITEM MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND

ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information and Holders

Our common stock began trading on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol NOR following our initial public offering

in May 2010 Before then there was no public market for our common stock The following table sets forth for the periods indicated

the high and low sales prices of our common stock as reported by the New York Stock Exchange

2011

High Low Dividends

2010

High Low Dividends

First quarter
17.23 13.79

Second quarter
17.43 13.02 9.35 6.33

Third quarter
15.48 8.35 8.59 5.87

Fourth quarter
10.39 6.87 1.03 14.70 8.14

As of February 29 2012 we had approximately 180 holders of record of our common stock Investment funds associated with

Apollo beneficially own approximately 63.6% of our capital stock During the year ended December 31 2011 the Company made no

common stock repurchases

Dividends

The payment of any cash dividend on our common stock is considered restricted payment under our credit facilities and the

indentures governing our Notes and we are restricted from paying any cash dividend on our common stock unless we satisfy certain

conditions including satisfying certain financial thresholds and the absence of any event of default At December 2011 and 2010 we

met all required performance ratios contained in the indentures

On November 2011 the Board declared regular quarterly cash dividend of$0.03 per share on our outstanding shares ofcomrnon

stock In addition on November 2011 the Board declared supplemental cash dividend of$ .00 per
share on our outstanding common

stock The regular and supplemental dividends were paid on November 22 2011 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on

November 14 2011

Cash payments related to the November 2011 regular and supplemental dividends totaled approximately $71 .1 million in aggregate

comprising $69.3 million of dividends on outstanding shares of common stock and $1.8 million of cash payments to holders of stock

options We paid these amounts entirely from available cash balances

On February 15 2012 the Board declared regular quarterly dividend of $0.04 per share to be paid on March 21 2012 to

shareholders ofrecord as ofFebruary 272012 The Board anticipates declaring this dividend in future quarters on regular basis however

changes in the Companys financial condition and cash needs could result in dividends being declared in different amounts or not at all

On February 29 2012 the Board declared supplemental dividend of$ 1.25 per share to be paid on March 19 2012 to shareholders

of record as ofMarch 122012 Cash payments related to the supplemental dividend will total approximately $88 million in aggregate We

expect to pay these amounts from the net proceeds from the 2012 Refinancing discussed above

Use of Proceeds

Initial Public Offering On May 13 2010 our registration statement File No 333-150760 was declared effective for our initial

public offering pursuant to which we registered the offering and sale of II .5 million shares of common stock including the underwriters

right to purchase up to an additional .5 million shares to cover over-allotments at public offering price of$8.00 per share We completed

our IPO on May 19 2010 Aggregate gross offering proceeds were $92.0 million The representatives for the underwriters were Merrill

Lynch Pierce Fenner and Smith Incorporated Morgan Stanley and Co Incorporated Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC Goldman

Sachs and Co and UBS Securities LLC

The net proceeds from the offering after underwriting discounts and commission of $5.6 million and additional offering-related

fees and expenses of $3.5 million were $82.9 million We used the net proceeds together with $95.9 million of proceeds from settling

all our outstanding fixed price aluminum hedges to repurchase all outstanding Holdco Notes of which $66.3 million was remaining

and to repay $110.0 million principal amount outstanding under the 2007 Term loan The remaining $2.5 million was used for general

Corporate purposes

Follow-on Offering On December 2010 our registration statement File No 333-170620 was declared effective fir our follow

on public offering pursuant to which we registered the offering and sale of 11.5 million shares ofcommon stock including the underwriters

right to purchase up to an additional 1.5 million shares to cover over-allotments at public offering price of $11 .35 per share We

23 da



completed the tbllow-oii ering on December 10 2010 and the over-allotment on December 22 2010 Aggregate gross oftering proceeds

were SI 30.5 million The representatives for the underwriters were Merrill Lynch Pierce Fenner Smith Incorporated Morgan Stanley

and Co Incorporated itigroup Global Markets Inc Credit Suisse Securities USA LLC Goldman Sachs Co and UBS Securities

The net proceeds from the offering alter underwriting discounts and commission of $5.9 million and additional offering-related

lees and expenses olS .ô million were $1 23.1 million We used the net proceeds to repay $122.3 million principal amount outstanding

under the term loan Ihe remaining $0.8 million was used for general Corporate purposes

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans

See Security Onership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of

Stockholders to he held on May 10 2012 which is incorporated herein by reference

Stock Performance Graph

The lllowirig graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our common stock from May 14 2010 the date of our

IPO to December 2011 with the cumulative total returns of the Russell 2000 Index and the SP 600 SmalICap Materials Index over

the same period The comparison assumes $100 was invested on May 14 2010 in shares of our common stock and in each of the indices

shown and assumes that all ofthe dividends were reinvested The historical stock price performance shown on this graph is not necessarily

indicative of future perErmanee
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This performance graph shall not be deemed filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

the Exchange Act or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference

into any tiling of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or the Exchange Act
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ITEM SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Selected Historical Consolidated Financial Data

The following tables present our selected historical consolidated financial data This information should be read in conjunction

with the sections entitled Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and with the audited

consolidated financial statements of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and their notes included elsewhere in this report as well

as the other financial information included herein

Noranda HoldCo Noranda AcquisitionCo and Noranda Intermediate Holding Corporation did not engage in any business or other

activities prior to the Apollo Acquisition except in connection with their formation the Apollo Transactions and the Special Dividend

The Apollo Transactions means collectively the Apollo Acquisition and related financings Special Dividend means the June 2007 dividend

of S2 16.1 million paid to Noranda stockholders along with the related financing Accordingly all financial and other information herein

relating to periods prior to the completion of the Apollo Transactions and the Special Dividend is that of Noranda Aluminum Inc

The financial information for the periods from January 2007 to May 17 2007 includes the results of operations cash flows and

financial condition for Noranda Aluminum Inc on basis reflecting the stepped-up values ofNoranda Aluminum Inc prior to the Apollo

Acquisition and is referred to as Predecessor The financial information for the period from May 18 2007 to December 2007 as

of December 31 2007 and as of and for the years
ended December 31 2010 2009 and 2008 includes the results of operations cash

flows and financial condition for Noranda HoldCo on basis reflecting the impact of the purchase allocation of the Apollo Acquisition

and is referred to as Successor

The consolidated statements of operations and cash flow data for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 and the

consolidated balance sheet data as of December 312011 and 2010 have been derived from our consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this report Other prior period operations data cash flow data and balance sheet data have been derived from our consolidated

financial statements which are not included in this report

The unaudited supplemental pro
forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year 2007 is based on the historical

consolidated statements of operations for the Predecessor period from January 2007 to May 17 2007 and the Successor period from

May 18 2007 to December 31 2007

The following information should be read in conjunction with and is qualified by reference to our Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations our consolidated financial statements and the notes included elsewhere

in this report as well as the other financial information included in this report

25 da



See accompan ring no/es to this tahI

Iro forma

predecessor

and

successorSuccessor

2011 2010 2009

Year ended and as of December 31

2008

1559.8 1294.9 769.9 1266.4

2007

1344.5 1112.4 779.5 1122.9

93.9 115.0 76.0 73.6

108.0 25.5

43.5

1395.1

1205.0

56.8

0.5

1438.4 1227.4 920.0 1222.0 1261.3

121.4 67.5 150.1 44.4 133.8

21.5 31 53.5 88.0 106.8

86.4 65.6 111.8 69.9 44.1

79.7 7.7 1.5

0.1 211.2 1.2 2.2

120.3

64.9 34.4 310.1 151.4 141.6

186.3 101.9 160.0 107.0 7.8
45.4 35.0 58.6 32.9 1.7

140.9 66.9 101.4 74.1 9.5

in millioiis except per share data and where noted

Statements of operations data

Sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales

Selling general and administrative expenses

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment

Excess insurance proceeds

Other recoveries charges net

Total operating costs and expenses

Operating income loss

Other income expense

Interest expense net

Gain loss on hedging activities net

Equity in net income loss of investments in affiliates

Gain loss on debt repurchase

in on bus ness corn hi nati on

Total other income expense

Income loss before income taxes

Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss bar the period

Net income loss per common share

Diluted

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends declared per common share

13a lance sheet daia4

Cash and cash equivalents

Property plant and eqlnpment net

Total assets

Longterm debt ic udi ng current portion1

Common stock subject to redemption

lquit deticiencyt

Working capitalt6t

Cash loss data

Operating activities

Ins esting activities

Financing activities

Financial and other data

EBITDA17t

Average reahied idis est Transaction Price per pound
Net Cash Cost per pound shippedt

Shipments

Third party shipments

llauxite kMts

Alumina kItst91

Prniiary Alunimuni pounds in millions

Flat-Rolled Products pounds in millions

Inierseginent shipments

Bauxite k.Mts

Aluniina kf\lts

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions

1.30 2.33

1.27 2.33

1.70

1.70

43.53 43.44

43.53 43.44

2.35

2.10

2.06$

67.06

68.35

1.03

42.75

99.8

1377.5

428.5

2.0

259.6

126.4

140.6

62.0

69.7

305.5

1.17

0.75

2499.9

635.1

513.0

362.6

2643.6

487.5

68.4

51.56

52.80

33.8

719.9

1414.7

419.7

2.0

295.7

171.5

270.9

61.1

343.2

231.7

1.04

0.70

1738.0

683.6

438.8

346.4

2565.5

467.4

121.7

0.22

0.22

43.07

43.07

5.00

75.6

657.5

1650.5

1151.7

0.1

211.5

1.23

523.4

371.6

31.2

167.2

745.5

1697.6

951.7

2.0

92.2

387.9

220.5

24.0

214.0

306.9

0.81

0.77

482.9

245.0

291.4

309.3

835.1

116.5

60.2

184.7

599.6

1936.2

1346.6

2.0

36.6

336.0

65.5

51.1

94.7

79.3

1.21

0.82

509.5

346.1

80.4
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Predecessor Successor

Period from

May 18 2007

Period from
to

January 2007 and as of

in millions except per shaie data and where noted to May 17 2007 December 31

Statements of operations data

Sales 527.7 867.4

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales 424.3 767.9

Selling general and administrative expenses 17.0 39.3

Other recoveries charges net
_________________

0.5

441.3 806.7

Operating income 86.4 60.7

Other expenses income

Interest expense net 6.2 65.0

Gain loss on hedging activities net 56.6 12.5

Equity in net income of investments in affiliates 4.3 7.3

Loss on debt repurchase 2.2

Income before income taxes 27.9 13.3

Income tax expense 13.6 5.1

Net income for the period 14.3 8.2

Net income per common share3

Basic 0.19

Diluted 0.19

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 43.21

Diluted 43.33

Cash dividends declared per common share 5.00

Balance sheet data

Cash and cash equivalents 75.6

Property plant and equipment net 657.8

Total assets 1650.5

Long-term debt including current portion151 1151.7

Shareholders equity deficiency 0.1

Working capital161 211 .5

Cash flow data

Operating activities 41.2 160.8

Investing activities 5.1 1197.7

Financing activities 83.7 1112.5

Financial and other data

Average realized Midwest Transaction Price per pound1 1.31 .21

Shipments

Third party shipments

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions 202.3 321.1

Flat-Rolled Products pounds in millions 135.6 236.0
110

Intersegment shipments

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions 12.1 19.1

II Pro forma financial data is presented See table on following page for historical financial data For reconciliation of the pro forma financial data to the

historical data see Unaudited Supplemental Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated statements of Operations

See Item Managements Discussion andAnalysis of Financial Condition and Results ofOperationsCompany Overview Joint VentureTransaction

for summary of the Joint Venture Transaction which closed on August 31 2009

Net income loss per common share is not presented for the Predecessor historical periods because Noranda vas wholly owned subsidiary during those

periods

Historical balance sheet data is presented

Long-term debt includes long-term debt due to related parties and to third parties including current installments of long-term debt but does not include

issued and undrassn letters of credit under the revolving credit facility

Working capital is defined as current assets net of current liabilities

EBITDA represents net income loss before income taxes net interest expense and depreciation and amortization We have pros ided FI3ITDA herein

because we believe it provides investors with additional information to measure our performance We use EBITDA as one criterion for evaluating out

performance relative to our peers We believe that EBITDA is an operating performance measure and not liquidity measure that provides iiivestors and

analysis with measure of operating results unaffected by diflØrences in capital structures capital investment cycles and ages of related assets among

otherwise comparable companies
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1A31l lA is is measure of financial performance under U.S GAAP and may not he comparable to similarly
titled measures used by other companies in

our industry I-3ITIA should not he considered in isolation from or as an alternative to net income operating income loss or any other performance

measures fern ed in accordance with 12.8 GAAP

For example filTlA excludes certain tax payments that may represent reduction in cash available to us does not reflect any cash requirements for the

annum being depreciated and amortized that may have tohe replaced in the future does not reflect capital
cash expenditures future requirements for capital

expenditures or contractual commitments does not reflect changes in orcash requirements for our working capital needs and does not reflect the significant

interest expense or the cash Iequirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our indebtedness The following table reconciles net

aicome loss io EIIITDA for ihe periods presented in millions

Net income

45.4 353 513.6Income tax expense

Interest expense net 215 31.1 53.5

Depreciation and amortization 98.7

EBITDA 305.5 231.7 306.9

price Icr primary aluminuni consists of two components the price quoted for primary aluminum ingot on the and the Midwest transaction

prenilum premium to LME price reflecting domestic market dynamics as well as the cost of shipping and warehousing the sum of which is known as

the Midw est ransaetion Price As majority of our value-added products are sold at the
prior

months MWTP we calculate realized MWTP which

reflects the specific pricing of sale transactions in each period

External alumina and bauxite shipments are recorded subsequent to the August 31 2009 Joint Venture Transaction Additionally from time-to-time the

Nen Madrid smelter sells excess alumina Alumina and bauxite are exchanged and priced in metric tonnes One metric tonne represents 2204.6 pounds

For the year ended lecemher 31 2009 our sales included 540.1 million pounds of alumina sold to third parties and 1.1 billion pounds of bauxite sold to

third parties
10

For purposes of comparability to other periods brokered metal sales are excluded from pounds shipped in the flat rolled products segment because the

related metal was sold without fabrication premiums Brokered metal sales excluded were $8.1 million for the period from January 2007 to May 17 2007

and $43.2 lion dr the period from May 18 2007 to December 31 2007
1W

Net Cash Cost represents our costs of producing pound of commodity grade aluminum including the benefits of the Midwest premium as well as the

profit margin realized from value-added alumina and bauxite sales to external customers

We have pros ided Net Cash ost because we believe it provides investors with additional information to measure our operating performance Using this

nictric ins estors are able to assess the prevailing price plus Midwest premium per pound versus our unit net costs per pound shipped Net Cash Cost

is positisly or negatively impacted by changes in primary aluminum alumina and bauxite production and sales volumes natural gas and oil related costs

seasonality in our electrical contract rates and increases or decreases in other production related costs Net Cash Cost is not measure of financial

performance under U.S GAAP and may not he comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies in our industry and should not be considered

in isolation fioni or as an alternative to any performance measures derived in accordance with U.S GAAP

Total primary aluminum cash cost in millionste

Total shipments pounds in millions

Net Cash Cost per pound shipped

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

436.0 391.2 271.6

581.4 560.5 351.6

0.75 0.70 0.77

340.3

55.8

284.5

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

140.9 66.9 101.4

97.7 93.4

Total primary aluminum cash cost is calculated below in millions

Total primary aluminum revenue

Less fabrication premiums and other revenue

Realized Midwest transaction price revenue

Primary Aluminum segment profit

Alumina segment profit loss

Bauxite segment profit

Profit Eliminations

total

Total primar aluminum cash cost in millions

724.1 621.3

466 371
677.5 584.2

140.3 112.2

78.4 61.9

18.5 23.8

43 4.9

4.9

2.3

12.3

2.0

12.9241.5 193.0

436.0 391.2 271.6
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UNAUDITED SUPPLEMENTAL PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31 2007

in millions except per share data

The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2007 is

based on the historical consolidated statements of operations of the Predecessor period from January 2007 to May 17 2007 and the

Successor period from May 18 2007 to December 31 2007 and gives effect to the Apollo Transactions and Special Dividend as if they

had occurred on January 2007

Predecessor Successor

Period from Period from Year ended

May 18 2007 to

January 2007 December 31
Pro torma

to May 17 2OO7
2007 adjustments 31 2007

527.7 867.4 1395.1

424.3 767.9 12.8 1205.0

7.0 39.3 0.5 56.8

0.5 0.5

441.3 806.7 13.3 1261.3

86.4 60.7 13.3 133.8

7.2 7.2

1.0 65.0 42.8 106.8

56.6 12.5 44.1

4.3 7.3 0.1 11.5

2.2 2.2

58.5 47.4 35.7 141.6

27.9 13.3 49.0 7.8

13.6 5.1 17.0 1.7

14.3 8.2 32.0 9.5

Basic 0.19 0.22

Diluted 0.19 0.22

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 43.21

Diluted 43.33

Represents the historical consolidated results of operations

Reflects an increase of $12.5 million for the year ended December 31 2007 of depreciation resulting from fair value adjustments to property plant and

equipment as result of the Apollo Acquisition The adjustment also reflects an increase of $0.3 million for the year ended December 31 2107 resulting

from the fair value adjustment to inventory as result of the Apollo Acquisition

Includes an increase of $0.5 million for the year ended year ended December 31 2007 of amortization resulting from fair value adjustments to amortizable

intangible assets as result of the Apollo Acquisition

Reflects the elimination of historical intercompany interest income and expenses related to intercompany balances which were not acquired as part
of the

Apollo Acquisition

Reflects the net efict of the increase in interest expense related to the additional indebtedness incurred in the Apollo Transactions and the Special Dividend

in the aggregate principal amount of $1227.8 million bearing interest at weighted-average interest rate of 8.3% The interest rates used for pro fbrnia

purposes are based on assumptions of the rates at the time of the acquisition The adjustment assumes straight-line amortization of related deferred financing

costs 0.125% change in the interest rates on our pro forma indebtedness would change our annual pro forma interest expense by $1.5 million

Reflects an Increase of amortization of excess of carrying value of investment over Norandas share of the investments underlying net assets resulting from

the fair value adjustments to Norandas joint ventures as result of the Apollo Acquisition

Reflects the estimated tax effect of the pro forma adjustments at Norandas statutory tax rate

Sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales

Selling general and administrative expenses

Other charges recoveries net

Operating income

Other expenses income

Interest expense income net

Parent and related party

Other

Gain loss on hedging activities net

Equity in net income loss of investments in

affiliates

Gain on debt repurchase

Total other expenses net

Income loss before income taxes

Income tax expense benefit

Net income loss

Net income loss per common share

43.07

43.07

29



ITEM MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF

OPERATIONS

You should scud I/ic following discussion of our results of operations
and financial condition with the Selected Historical

Consolidated Financial Data and the audited consolidated financial statements and related notes included elsewhere in tins report

The to/lowing discussion contains fdrward-/ooking statements that rejiect our plans estimates and beliefs and that involve numerous

risks and uncertainties including but not limited to those described in the Risk Factors section of this report Actual results mw thffr

material/i fioni ihosi contained in any forwardlooking statements See Cautionary Statement Concerning ForwardLooking

Statements

Introduction

The lollowing Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations MDA is provided

to supplement the conso idated financial statements and the related notes included elsewhere in this report to help provide an understanding

of our financial condition changes in financial condition and results of our operations The MDA is organized as follows

Company Osersien This section provides general description of our business as well as recent developments that we believe

are necessary to understand our financial condition and results of operations and to anticipate future trends in our business

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates This section discusses the accounting policies and estimates that we consider being

important to our financial condition and results ofoperations and that require significantjudgrnent and estimates on the part ofmanagement

in their application

.Selected Quarteilv Consolidated Financial Data This section provides the unaudited quarterly financial information for each of

our years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Results of Operations This section provides discussion of the results of operations on historical basis for each of our years

ended years ended December 2011 2010 and 2009

Liquidity and Capital Resources This section provides an analysis of our cash flows for each of our years ended December

2011 2010 and 2009 and availability offunds at December 31 2011

Description of ertain Indebtedness This section provides general description of our senior secured credit facilities our Notes

and governing indentures including covenant compliance and financial ratios as of December 2011

oniractual Obligations and Contingencies This section provides discussion of our commitments as of December 31 2011

Company Overvies

We are leading North American integrated producer of value-added primary aluminum and high quality rolled aluminum coils

We have two businesses our upstream business and downstream business Our upstream business consists of three reportable segments

Primary Aluminum Alumina and Bauxite These three segments are closely integrated and consist of smelter near New Madrid

Missouri which we refr to as New Madrid and supporting operations at our bauxite mine and alumina refinery In 2011 New Madrid

produced approximately 583 million pounds 264000 metric tonnes of primary aluminum representing approximately 13% of total

2011 U.S primar aluminum production based on statistics from CRU Our downstream business comprises our Flat-Rolled Products

segment which is one ofihe largest aluminum foil producers in North America and consists of four rolling mill facilities with combined

maximum annual production capacity of4lO to 495 million pounds depending on production mix

Joint Venture Transaction

Through August 2009 we held 50% interest in Gramercy and in St Ann Our investments in these non controlled entities

in which we had the ability to exercise equal or significant influence over operating and financial policies were accounted for by the

equity method On August 2009 we entered into an agreement with Century whereby we would become the sole owner of both

iranlerey and St Ann The transaction closed on August 31 2009 and is discussed further in Note 22 Joint Venture Transaction to our

consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this report

In the transaction Noranda and Gramercy released Century from certain obligations These obligations included approximately

$23.5 million Centur\ owed Gramercy for pre-transaction alumina purchases and iienturys guarantee to fund future payments of

environmental and asset retirement obligations

Kej flictors uffcting our results of operations

Prices and insoIcts Primary aluminum is global commodity and its price is set on the Our primary aluminum typically

earns the price plus Midwest premium As result of the global economic contraction the monthly average LME price dropped

from peak of $1.49 per pound in July 2008 to low of $0.57 per pound in February 2009 The average LME price for 2010 was $0.99
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per pound which had significant negative impact on our upstream business and our 2010 operating results By December 31 2010

LME prices had risen to $1.12 per pound During 2011 the average LME cash price was $1.09 per pound and the average Midwest

premium was $0.08 per pound

Profit margins in the Flat-Rolled Products segment are generally unaffected by short-term volatility in the underlying LME price

except in periods of rapid change which could create significant differences between the cost of metal purchased and the price of metal

sold to customers The price of any given end-product is equal to the cost of the metal the MWTP plus negotiated fabrication premium

These fabrication premiums are determined in large part by industry capacity utilization which in turn is driven by supply-demand

fundamentals for our products

Because primary aluminum is global commodity we have experienced and expect to continue to be subject to volatile primary

aluminum prices This price volatility is influenced primarily by the world supply-demand balance for those commodities and related

processing services and other related factors such as speculative activities by market participants production activities by competitors

and political and economic conditions as well as production costs in major production regions Increases or decreases in primaly aluminum

prices result in increases and decreases in our revenues assuming all other factors are unchanged At times since the Apollo Acquisition

we have partially hedged this volatility through the use of derivative financial instruments See Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative

Disclosures about Market Risk for further discussion of fixed price aluminum swaps See Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

for further discussion of our accounting for these hedges

Demand \Ve are North American producer with majority of our primary aluminum sales in the form of value-added products

delivered within one-day delivery radius of New Madrid Therefore while global market trends determine the price and impact

our margins domestic supply and demand for our value-added products also directly impact our margins

Our integrated operations provide us the flexibility to shift portion of our upstream production to our downstream business

reducing our overall external purchase commitments and allowing us to retain the economic differential between pricing and our

production costs

Production Our rolling mills have combined maximum annual production capacity of 410 to 495 million pounds depending on

our product mix

In 2011 2010 and 2009 our Primary Aluminum segment produced approximately 583 million pounds 553 million pounds and

316 million pounds respectively of primary aluminum In January 2009 an ice storm disrupted the power grid throughout Southeastern

Missouri The resulting power outage completely disabled two of New Madrids three production lines and partially dIsabled the third

initially reducing our daily production to 25% of pre-outage levels This event had substantial negative impact on our 2009 operating

results resulting in an average operating rate of 58% of capacity for the year This operating rate is significantly below our operating rate

for the past 20 years of 99% We reached settlement with our insurance providers with respect to this incident pursuant to which we

collected approximately $67.5 million in the second and third quarters of 2009

Our smelter became fully operational in the first quarter of 2010 Shipnients of value-added prodLicts in the year ended December

31 2010 were 45.7% higher than in the year ended December 31 2009

Million lb New Madrid Production Volume

600

400

316

200

231 213

115

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

Billet Foundry Rod Sow

Source Company data as of December 2011

Production costs The key cost components at our smelter are power and alumina however other integrated input costs such as

wages carbon products and caustic soda may affect our results as well

We have long-term secure power contract at New Madrid that extends through 2020 This contract is for regulated power and

cannot be altered without the approval ofthe Missouri Public Service Commission MoPSC Our power contract with Ameren includes
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two cnlponents lae ate and fuel adjustment clause The fuel adjustment clause increased cost of goods sold by $14.7 million in

2011 h\ 55.4 million in 2010 and decreased cost of goods sold by $0.2 million in 2009 Though we are not able to predict future fuel

adlustiiient chanie they are dependent on Amerens fuel costs and off system sales volume and prices we do not expect the impact

ol hid ad ustmenl ci iai yes in 2012 to increase our Net Cash Cost

On September 2010 Ameren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking an 11% base rate increase In July 2011 the MoPSC

ruled on this rate case approving Ameren to increase its base rates which increased our base rate by 5.2% effective .Juy 31 2011 On

Februar\ 22012 \nicren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking 14.6% base rate increase As we have been in previous rate

cases expect to 0e an active participant in the MOPSC rate setting process We expect ruling on this request by January 2113

j\n\ increase appro cd ould he effective at the beginning of the month following the MoPSCs ruling

We are curi eni l\ party to the appeal ofseveral rate-related issues including rate increases approved by the MoPSC in January 2009

May 20 and .Ju 20 and the amount of cost increases related to the FAC Despite these appeals our consolidated financial statements

reflect our payment ol power costs at the enacted rates with disputed amounts held in escrow by the Missouri Circuit Court As of

December 2111 and 2010 other current assets see Note Supplemental Financial Statement Information to our consolidated

financial statements included $30.1 million and $9.5 million respectively for amounts held in escrow related to these appeals with

correspondinLL liabilities recorded in accrued liabilities

On Novemhei 201 the Missouri CourtofAppeals issued adecision to uphold the MoPSCsJanuary 2009 rate increase approval

parties to the appeal including Noranda are evaluating whether to request rehearing of the Court of Appeals decision or to appeal

that decision to the Misouri Supreme Court If the parties decide not to file additional appeals or if such appeals are filed and are not

successful uhsiann.il portion ol the eserowed funds will be released to Ameren At December 31 2011 such amount of released funds

ottld ha been s20 million The release of these funds will not result in any impact to our operating results our net working capital

on net assets

tir vertical niftgration with Gramercy provides us with secure supply of alumina at cost effectively equal to Gramercy and

Si Anns combined ut ofproduetion net of bauxite and alumina sales to third parties St Ann sells bauxite to third parties and Gramercy

sells chemical and smelter grade alumina to third parties Margins from these third-party sales effectively reduce the cost for producing

smelter yrade aluniimii 4w our smelter in New Madrid Upon becoming sole owner of Gramercy we began selling smelter grade alumina

under contract to third arties on market terms The margin from these sales effectively lowers the cost of our alumina supply and therefore

lowers our Net ash st

Ihe 4llo inn chart presents our New Madrid smelters placement on the aluminum cost curve

World Aluminium Smelter Business Costs for 2011

Cost US S/ton
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gas prices

have shown high level of volatility Average natural gas prices were $4.00 per million BTU in

2011 5437 mu 2111 and 53.94 in 2009 based on end of day prices at the Henry Huh At December 31 2011 vtc are party to forward

s\vaps fur natural oac tietively fixing our cost for approximately 45% of our natural gas exposure through 2012 at an average price
of

S7.7 per million

Duriny 211 in ur downstream business aluminum metal units which represent pass-through cost to our customers accounted

fur 76% of production osts with value-added conversion costs accounting for the remaining 24% Conversion costs include labor energy
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and operating supplies including maintenance materials Energy includes natural gas and electricity which made up about 13% of

conversion costs during 2011

CORE stands for Cost-Out Reliability and Effectiveness and represents our productivity program We believe CORE is an

effective part of our efforts to manage for productivity where we identify opportunities throughout the organization to either remove

existing costs or to affect
processes or business arrangements We then utilize project teams to address the opportunity Although results

will
vary from year to year our overarching aim is to use CORE projects to offset the effects of inflation and to mitigate the impact of

unexpected cost increases Our CORE program has generated savings of over $189.0 million since its inception in 2009 For the
year

ended December 31 2011 our results reflected approximately $62.5 million in cost savings and $6.9 million in capital expenditure

savings achieved towards our three year $140.0 million program goal 2011 through 2013

We believe the impact of CORE is evident in the Net Cash Cost which declined from $0.82 per pound for the full year ended

December 31 2008 to $0.75 per pound for the year ended December 31 2011

Seasonality and the effects of inflation

We are subject to seasonality associated with the demand cycles of our end-use customers which results in lower shipment levels

from November to February each year Our power contracts have seasonally adjusted pricing which results in fluctuations in our cost of

production the rates from June to September are approximately 45% higher than the rates from October to May

We experience inflationary pressures
for input costs such as wages carbon products such as coke chemical products such as

caustic soda and other key inputs We may not be able to offset fully the inflationary impact from these input costs or energy costs through

price increases productivity improvements or cost reduction programs We expect full year 2012 Net Cash Cost to be unfavorably

impacted by approximately to cents per pound for chemical products carbon-based products and fuel and an additional to cents

related to increased wages and benefits Based on the current forward natural gas curve we expect lower natural
gas prices to favorably

impact Net Cash Cost by to cents per pound

Off balance sheet arrangements

We do not have any significant off balance sheet arrangements

Government regulations and environmental matters

Our operations are subject to wide variety of U.S federal state local and non-U.S environmental laws and regulations including

those governing emissions to air discharges to waters generation use storage transportation treatment and disposal of hazardous

materials and wastes land reclamation and employee health and safety matters Compliance with environmental laws and regulations

can be costly and we have incurred and will continue to incur costs including capital expenditures to comply with these requirements

Additionally certain of our raw material suppliers may be subject to significant compliance costs which may be passed through to us

As these direct or indirect regulatory costs increase and are passed through to our customers our products may become less competitive

than other materials which could reduce our sales If we are unable to comply with environmental laws and regulations we could incur

substantial costs including fines and civil or criminal sanctions or costs associated with upgrades to our facilities or changes in our

manufacturing processes in order to achieve and maintain compliance In addition environmental requirements change frequently and

have tended to become more stringent over time We cannot predict what environmental laws or regulations will be enacted or amended

in the future how existing or future laws or regulations will be interpreted or enforced or the amount of future expenditures that maybe
required to comply with such laws or regulations Our costs of compliance with current and future environmental requirements could

materially and adversely affect our business financial condition results of operations and cash flows

The Environmental Protection Agency EPA has developed National Ambient Air Quality Standards NAAQS for six

compounds currently identified as criteria pollutants The NAAQS establishes acceptable ambient air levels of each pollutant based on

review of their effects to human health and the environment Sulfur dioxide SO2 an emission from our New Madrid smelter facility

is one such criteria pollutant Currently ambient monitoring is used to determine whether emissions from our smelter meet NAAQS
Changes to the stringency of the NAAQS could present material implications for the compliance of our smelter Failure to meet NAAQS
may require us to incur significant capital or operational costs to bring our smelter into compliance and could have negative implications

for the permits that we currently have in place in support of our smelter expansion project

We accrue for costs associated with environmental investigations and remedial efforts when it becomes probable that we are liable

and the associated costs can be reasonably estimated Our aggregate environmental-related liabilities at December 31 2011 and 2010

were $24.4 million and $28.6 million respectively Additionally at December 31 2011 and 2010 we had $9.2 million of restricted cash

in an escrow account as security for the payment of red mud lake closure obligations that would arise under state environmental laws

upon the termination of operations at the Gramercy facility With regard to our New Madrid smelter we have asset retirement obligations

related to the disposal of certain spent pot liners Related to St Ann we have land reclamation liabilities to rehabilitate the land disturbed

by St Anns mining operations With respect to the Gramercy refinery we have asset-retirement obligations associated with the future

closure and post-closure care of the red mud lakes where Gramercy disposes of nonhazardous red mud wastes from its refining

process We also have an environmental liability for the remediation of certain hazardous waste contamination at the Gramercy refinery

All accrued amounts have been recorded without giving effect to any possible future recoveries With respect to ongoing



environmental compliance costs including maintenance and monitoring we expense the costs when incurred

For the year ended December 2011 we incurred 10.4 million of capital expenditures related to compliance with environmental

regulations In each ofthe years ending 2012 2013 and 2014 we anticipate from $13.0 million to $18.0 million ofenvironmental capital

expenditures We have incurred and in the future will continue to incur operating expenses related to environmental compliance As

part of our general capital expenditure plan we also expect to incur capital expenditures for other capital projects that may in addition

to improving operations reduce certain environmental impacts

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our principal accounting policies are described in Note Accounting Policies of the audited consolidated financial statements

included elsewhere in this report The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S GAAP requires

management to make significant judgments and estimates Some accounting policies have significant impact on amounts reported in

our consolidated financial statements Our financial position and results of operations may be materially different when reported under

different conditions or when using different assumptions in the application of such policies In the event estimates or assumptions prove

to be diffirent from actual amounts adjustments are made in subsequent periods to reflect more current information The preparation of

interim financial statements involves the use of certain estimates that are consistent with those used in the preparation of our annual

consolidated financial statements Significant accounting policies including areas of critical management judgments and estimates

include the tbllowing financial statement areas

Revenue recognition
Asset retirement obligations

Impairment of long-lived assets Land obligation

Goodwill and other intangible assets Derivative instruments and hedging activities

Inventory valuation

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when title and risk of loss pass to customers in accordance with contract terms

impairment of long-lived assets

Our long-lived assets primarily property plant and equipment comprise significant amount of our total assets We evaluate our

long-lived assets and make judgments and estimates concerning the carrying value of these assets including amounts to be capitalized

depreciation and useful lives The carrying values of these assets are reviewed for impairment periodically whenever events or changes

in circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable An impairment loss is recorded in the period in which it is

determined that the carrying amount is not recoverable This evaluation requires us to make long-term forecasts of future revenues and

costs related to the assets subject to review These forecasts require assumptions about demand for our products and future market

conditions Significant and unanticipated changes to these assumptions could require provision for impairment in future period

Although we believe the assumptions and estimates we have made in the past have been reasonable and appropriate different assumptions

and estimates could materially impact our reported financial results

Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition consideration paid over the fair value of identifiable net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets acquired Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment at

least annually in the fourth quarter or upon the occurrence of certain triggering events We evaluate goodwill for impairment using

two-step process The first step is to compare the fair value of each of our reporting units to their respective book values including

goodwill If the fair value of reporting unit exceeds its book value reporting unit goodwill is not considered impaired and the second

step of the impairment test is not required If the book value of reporting unit exceeds its fair value the second step of the impairment

test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss if any The second step of the impairment test compares the implied fair

value of the reporting units goodwill with the book value of that goodwill If the book value of the reporting units goodwill exceeds the

implied fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to that excess The implied fair value of goodwill

is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in business combination

Our analysis includes assumptions about future profitability and cash flows of our segments which reflect our best estimates at

the date the valuations was performed The estimates are based on information that was known or knowable at the date of the valuations

It is at least reasonably possible that the assumptions we employ will be materially different from the actual amounts or results and that

additional impairment charges may be necessary

inventory valuation

Inventories are stated at the lower ofcost or marketLCM We use the last-in-first-out LI FO method ofvaluing raw materials

work-in-process and finished goods inventories at our New Madrid smelter and our rolling mills Inventories at Gramercy and St Ann

and supplies at New Madrid are valued at weighted-average cost The remaining inventories principally supplies are stated at cost using
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the first-in first-out FIFO method Inventories in our Flat-Rolled Products segment our Bauxite segment and our Alumina segment

are valued using standard costing system which gives rise to cost variances Variances are capitalized to inventory in proportion to the

quantity of inventory remaining at period end to quantities produced during the period Variances are recorded such that ending inventory

reflects actual costs on year-to-date basis

As of the date of the Apollo Acquisition new base layer of LIFO inventories was established at fair value such that FIFO basis

and LIFO basis were equal For layers added between the acquisition date and period end we use dollar-value LIFO approach where

single pool for each segment represents composite of similar inventory items Increases and decreases in inventory are measured on

pool basis rather than item by item In periods following the Apollo Acquisition LIFO cost of sales generally reflect sales at current

production costs which are substantially lower than the fair value cost recorded at the date of acquisition to the extent that quantities

produced exceed quantities sold In periods when quantities sold exceed quantities produced cost of goods sold generally reflect the

higher fair value cost per unit

As LME prices fluctuate our inventory will be subject to market valuation reserves In periods when the LME price at given

balance sheet date is higher than the LME price at the time of the Apollo Acquisition the date used to determine the fair value of the

majority of our inventory no reserves will be necessary

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of our LIFO adjustment by showing the amount by which pre-tax income would have

changed for the year ended December 31 2011 given certain specified changes in inventory costs

Increase decreasein pro-tax
income in

Inventory item Sensitivity millions

Primary aluminum segment

Coke 10% increase in price 0.7
Alumina $0.10 increase in LME per pound 1.7
Flat rolled products segment

Metal $0.10 increase in LME per pound 5.2

Asset retirement obligations

We record our costs for legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived asset that results from its acquisition

construction development or normal operation as asset retirement obligations We recognize liabilities at fair value for our existing

legal asset retirement obligations and adjust these liabilities for accretion costs and revision in estimated cash flows The related asset

retirement costs are capitalized as increases to the carrying amount of the associated long-lived assets and depreciation on these capitalized

costs is recognized

Land obligation

In cases where land to be mined is privately owned St Ann
agrees to purchase the residents property including land crops

homes and other improvements in exchange for consideration paid in the form of cash commitment to relocate the residents to another

area or combination of these two options the St Ann Land Obligation We account for the costs associated with fulfilling the St

Ann Land Obligation by recording an asset included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets for the estimated cost of the

consideration with corresponding liability included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance

sheets We amortize those costs over three-year period representing the approximate time the land is used for mining purposes the

Mining Period

We record the costs to acquire and develop the assets to be used to satisfy the obligations such as land land improvements and

housing as property plant and equipment in our consolidated balance sheets As cash is paid or title to land land improvements and

houses is transferred we remove those assets from our consolidated financial statements and reduce the land obligation

Relocating residents occurs often over several years requiring management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amount ofassets and liabilities at the date ofthe consolidated financial statements Actual results could differ from these estimates

As such estimates of the cost to fulfill the St Ann Land Obligation and the Predecessor Land Obligation are subject to revision therefore

it is reasonably possible that further adjustments to our liabilities may be necessary

As revisions are made we amortize such adjustments prospectively over the remaining amortization period in cases where the

Mining Period has not been completed As revisions are made in cases where the Mining Period is complete we record such adjustments

as additional amortization
expense

in the period of revision

Derivative instruments and hedging activities

Derivatives that have not been designated for hedge accounting are adjusted to fair value through earnings in gain loss on hedging

activities in the consolidated statements of operations For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges

the effective portion of any gain or loss on the derivative is reported as component of accumulated other comprehensive income loss

AOCI and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings Gains and

losses on the derivatives representing either hedge ineffectiveness or hedge components excluded from the assessment of effectiveness
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are recognized in current earnings Amounts recorded in AOCI are reclassified into earnings in the periods during which the hedged

transaction affects earnings unless it is determined that it is probable that the original forecasted transactions will not occur at which

point corresponding amount of AOCI is immediately reclassified into earnings

Forecasted sales represent sensitive estimate in our designation of derivatives as cash flow hedges As result of the New Madrid

power outage in January 2009 management concluded that certain hedged sale transactions were no longer probable of occurring and

we discontinued hedge accounting for all our aluminum fixed price sale swaps on January 29 2009 At that date the accounting for

amounts in AOCI did not change Forecasted sales represent sensitive estimate in our accounting for derivatives because they impact

the determination of whether any amounts in AOCI should be reclassified into earnings in the current period

We determine the fair values of our derivative instruments using industry standard models that incorporate inputs which are

observable throughout the full term of the instrument Key inputs include quoted forward prices for commodities aluminum and natural

gas and interest rates and credit default swap spread rates for non-perfonnance risk Our derivative assets are adjusted for the

non-performance risk of our counterparties using their credit default swap spread rates which are updated quarterly Likewise in the

case of our liabilities our nonperformance risk is considered in the valuation and are also adjusted quarterly based on current default

swap spread rates on entities we consider comparable to us We present the fair value of our derivative contracts net of cash paid pursuant

to collateral agreements on net-by-counterparty basis in our consolidated balance sheets when we believe legal right of set-off exists

under an enforceable master netting agreement
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Selected Quarterly Consolidated Financial Data

The following table presents unaudited quarterly financial information as required by Item 302 of Regulation S-K in millions

except per share data

2011 quarter ended 2010 quarter ended

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter

Sales 394.6 426.3 400.4 338.5 301.5 334.9 314.2

Gross profit 66.3 73.2 50.0 25.8 36.8 44.1 40.2

Operating income 41.4 52.6 23.2 4.2 7.6 0.8 20.1

Net income loss 38.3 47.4 30.8 24.4 0.1 6.9 25.2

Net income loss per common share

Basic 0.57 0.71 0.46 0.36 0.14 0.46

Diluted 0.56 0.69 0.45 0.36 0.14 0.45

At September 30 2011 we determined that the information that gave rise to revisions recorded to our St Ann Land Obligation during 201 was known or

knowable at December31 2010 As result cost of goods sold was overstated in third quarter 2011 by $3.0 million excluding income tax effects

The special items outlined below significantly impacted the comparability of our unaudited quarterly financial results in millions

Pre tax impact of special items

Release of indemnification

receivable related to

uncertain tax positions 3.4 1.1

Early retirement benefits 0.7

Restructuring

Management agreement
termination

Modification of stock

options

Transaction related legal

costs

Executive separation

agreement

Impact of special items on

operating income loss 3.4 1.8

Gain on hedging activities 21.8 24.3 19.5 20.8

Gain loss on debt

repurchase

344.3

61.4

39.0

34.9

0.60

0.59

2011 quarter ended 2010 quarter ended

First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth

quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter quarter

_S

4.4 3.2

12i

3.2

0.3 52

3.3

Pre-tax impact of special items

4.7 24.1 3.3

1.7 20.6 21.7 21.6

01 2.5 3.5 1.0

21.8 24.3 16.1 19.0 3.1 6.0 25.2 17.3
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Results of Operations

To aid the reader in understanding the results of operations of each of these distinctive periods we have provided the following

discussion You should read the following discussion of the results of operations and financial condition with the consolidated financial

statements and related notes included herein

The following chart indicates the percentages of sales represented by each of our segments for the periods presented

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Bauxite 10

Alumina 26 28 11

Primary Aluminum 46 49 44

Flat-Rolled Products 39 40 53

E1iminatons .. .. 13
Total 100 100 100

The following chart indicates the percentages ofsegment profit loss represented by each ofour segments for the periods presented

2011

\ear ended December_31

2010 2009

Bauxite 11

Alumina 30 20

Primary Aluminum 54 51

Products 18 23

Corpora 11 12
Flimination

_____________

Total
lilA lilA

63

12
25

179

145
10
100

da
38



Discussion of results for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to the year ended December 31 2010

The following table sets forth certain consolidated financial information for the years
ended December 31 2011 and 2010 in

millions except per share data and where noted

Statements of operations data

Sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales

Selling general and administrative expenses

Total operating costs and expenses

Operating income

Other expenses income
Interest expense net

Gain on hedging activities net

Loss on debt repurchase

Total other income

Income before income taxes

Income tax expense

Net income

Net income per common share

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

Cash dividends declared per common share

Sales by segment

Bauxite

Alumina

Primary Aluminum

Flat-Rolled Products

Eliminations

Total

Segment profit loss
Bauxite

Alumina

Primary Aluminum

Flat-Rolled Products

Corporate

Eliminations

Total

Third party shipments

Bauxite kMts
Alumina kMts

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions

Flat-Rolled Products pounds in millions

Intersegment shipments

Bauxite kMts
Alumina kMts
Primary Aluminum pounds in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

21.5 31.1

86.4 65.6

0.1

64.9 34.4

1863 1019

45.4 35.0

140.9 66.9

724.1

6112

329.6

1.559.s

18.5

78.4

1403

48.3

27
4.3

261

1559.8 1294.9

1344.5

93.9

1438.4

121.4

1112.4

115.0

1227.4

67.5

10

2.06

67.06

68.35

1.03

151.0

403

1.30

1.27

51.56

52.80

120.4

365.4

621.3

521.4

333.6

1i94Q

Financial and other data

Average realized Midwest transaction price per pound 17

Net Cash Cost per pound shipped 0.75

Shipments

23.8

61.9

112.2

50.0

26.9

4.9
1k1

2499.9

635.1

5130

362.6

2643.6

487.5

68.4

1.04

0.70

1738.0

683.6

438.8

346.4

2565.5

467.4

121.7
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Sale

Sales in the year ended December 31 2011 were $1559.8 million compared to $1294.9 million in the year ended December

2010 an increase of 20.5% Of the increase in sales $148.4 million was attributable to higher realized prices LME aluminum price

averaged $1.09 in 2011 compared to $0.99 in 2010 The remaining $116.5 million increase in sales was attributable primarily to higher

volumes in the Bauxite Primary Aluminum and Flat-Rolled Products segments

Sales to external customers from our Primary Aluminum segment increased 30.2% to $645.7 million in the year ended December

31 2011 from $495.9 million in the year ended December 31 2010 driven primarily by higher realized prices for aluminum and higher

third-party shipments

The average price improved to $1.09 per pound during 2011 from $0.99 per pound during 2010 Our average realized

MWTP for 2011 was $1.17 per pound compared to $1.04 per pound in 2010

Demand remained strong during 2011 particularly for billet and rod in the Primary Aluminum segment

Sales to our external customers in our Flat-Rolled Products segment increased 17.2% to $611.2 million during the year ended

December 2011 from $521.3 million in the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to the increase in LME prices and also to

increased sales volume

Rising LME prices contributed $65.5 million to the sales increase Fabrication premiums were relatively unchanged

Higher shipment volumes increased sales by $24.4 million Shipment volumes from our Flat-Rolled Products segment increased

4.7%

Sales to external customers from our Bauxite and Alumina segments for the year ended December 31 2011 were $68.0 million

and $234.9 million respectively compared to $54.9 million and $222.8 million respectively in the year ended December 31 2010 The

increase is primarily due to more favorable pricing in the Alumina segment and higher third-party shipment volumes in the Bauxite

segment resulting from slightly higher production These increases were partially offset by lower realized pricing in the Bauxite segment

and lower shipment volumes in the Alumina segment

Cost o/ sales

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31 2011 was $1344.5 million compared to $1112.4 million in the year ended

December 31 2010 The increase in cost of sales is mainly the result of higher shipment volumes in the Primary Aluminum and Flat-

Rolled Products segments as well as the increase in prices reflected in the pass-through nature ofthe Flat-Rolled Products segment

Total cost of sales in the Primary Aluminum segment increased to $621.5 million in the year ended December 31 2011 from

$550.1 million in the year December31 2010 The increase primarily related to an increase in total shipments ofprimary

aluminum and the effects of rising carbon based products prices

Flat-Rolled Products segment cost ofsales increased to $585.0 million in the year ended December 312011 from $485.0 million

in the year ended December 31 2010 The increase related principally to the increase in the LME aluminum price since much

of that segments product cost represents the pass-through cost of metal

Cost of sales in the Bauxite and Alumina segments before the effects of intercompany eliminations were $128.6 million and

$339.7 million respectively during the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $94.0 million and $315.8 million

respectively during the year ended December 31 2010 Cost of sales in the Alumina segment for the year ended December

2011 reflected $4.5 million favorable cumulative impact of negotiations to reduce our maintenance obligations for ships

transporting bauxite to Gramercy from St Ann Cost ofsales in the Alumina and Bauxite segments for the year ended December

2011 reflects $16.5 million from scheduled alumina and bauxite maintenance activities whose impact on costs and lost

volume exceeded managements expectations

Excessive amounts of scale were identified during maintenance of Gramercys largest bauxite digester As result

the digester experienced an extended outage and subsequently performed at less than normal flow rates Coincident

with the extended digester maintenance Gramercy experienced the failure ofequipment that screens incoming bauxite

and prevents rock and other material from entering the production process
This failure further restricted production

until the piping and vessels were cleared We estimate that the combined impact of these two events on cost of sales

was $14.5 million

At St Ann the conveyor belt which transports dried bauxite to the storage dome failed prior to planned outage

This failure limited bauxite movement and led to additional costs for demurrage and re-drying bauxite We estimate

that the impact of this event on cost of sales was $2.0 million

Selling general and administrative expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses in the year ended December 31 2011 were $93.9 million compared to $1 15.0 million

in the year ended December 31 2010 This $21.1 million change reflected the favorable impact of the following decreases in expense in

40



2011 compared to 2010 no management fees in 2011 compared to $13.5 million of Apollo management consulting fees in 2010

$12.5 million related to the termination of the agreement in connection with our IPO ii $7.2 million of restructuring costs related to

our 2010 workforce and contract mining restructuring plans for which there were no comparable charges during 201 iii $2.4 million

lower severance payments iv $1.4 million lower pension costs associated with settlement and termination benefits $1.8 million in

lower consulting and legal fees and vi $0.6 million lower stock compensation expense offset by the following increases in expense

during 2011 compared to 2010 $4.5 million related to the release of an indemnification receivable from our previous owner associated

with portion of our uncertain tax positions ii increased other post-retirement benefit plan OPEB expenses of $0.9 million and iii

increased insurance premiums of $0.8 million The indemnification receivable was released because the statute of limitations expired on

the uncertain tax position which resulted in reversal against income tax expense of $4.5 million liability

Operating income

Operating income in the
year

ended December31 2011 was $121.4 million compared to $67.5 million in the year ended December

31 2010 The increase in operating income relates to sales margin improvements of $32.8 million and the decrease in selling general

and administrative expenses discussed previously

Sales margin was $215.3 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $182.5 million in the year ended December

31 2010 This increase resulted from the favorable impacts of higher external shipment volumes and realized prices coupled with cost

savings achieved through our CORE program partially offset by the Alumina and Bauxite segments maintenance activities described

above

Interest expense net

Interest expense in the year ended December 31 2011 was $21 .5 million compared to $3 .1 million in the year ended
year

ended

December 31 2010 The $9.6 million decrease resulted from the repayment of debt during 2010 Average debt outstanding was $425.6

million during 2011 and $613.4 million during 2010

As described in Description of Certain Indebtedness on February 29 2012 we entered into the 2012 Term Loan $325.0

million and repaid the remaining $78.2 million balance of the 2007 Term Loan 2012 Refinancing The 2012 Refinancing and the

related transactions as described in Description of Certain Indebtedness resulted in $246.8 million increase in our outstanding

indebtedness

Had the 2012 Refinancing and the related transactions been completed on January 2011 our 2011 interest expense would

have been approximately $35.0 million $13.5 million increase over our actual 2011 interest expense

On this pro forma basis our interest expense would have comprised $33.3 million of cash interest expense at rate of 5.75/s

and $1.7 million amortization of deferred financing costs and original issuance discount

The 2012 Term Loan interest rate is determined by the combination of base rate or an adjusted eurodollar rate each with

floor and an applicable margin

Gain on hedging activities net

Gain on hedging activities was $86.4 million in the
year

ended December 31 2011 compared to $65.6 million in the year ended

December 31 2010 Reclassifications of aluminum and natural
gas hedge gains and losses from AOCI into earnings in 2011 were $98.7

million compared to $82.1 million in the year ended December 31 2010

Loss on debt repurchase

We did not repurchase any debt during the year ended December 31 2011 During the
year ended December 31 2010 we used

net proceeds from our completed IPO our December 2010 follow-on public offering available cash balances and proceeds from the

termination of fixed price aluminum swaps to repay $249.9 million and $215.9 million of aggregate principal balances on the 2007 Term

Loan and 2007 Revolver respectively and to repurchase $66.3 million and $20.6 million aggregate principal balance of our HoldCo

Notes and AcquisitionCo Notes respectively The 2010 debt repurchases resulted in $0.1 million net loss

Income before income taxes

Income before income taxes was $186.3 million in the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $101.9 million in the year

ended December31 2010 The special items outlined below significantly impacted the comparability of our pre -tax income in millions

41



Pre-tax impact of special items

Release of indemnification receivable related to uncertain tax positions

Early retirement benefits

Restructuring

Loss on debt repurchase

Executive separation agreement

Management agreement termination

Modification of stock options

Transaction related legal costs

Gain on hedging activities

Total pre-tax impact of special items

Income lax expense

31 2010

Net iflCOfllC

Ban vile

lziinina

Priinari liuninum

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

4.5

O.7

7.6

0.1

3.3

12.5

3.2

5.5

86.4 65.6

gL2. .33A

Income tax expense was $45.4 million in the year ended December31 2011 compared to $35.0 million in the year ended December

The effective tax rate was 24.4 for 2011 and 34.3% for 2010 The effective income tax rate for 2011 was impacted by the release

of portion of our reserve for uncertain tax positions which reduced income tax expense by $6.3 million of which $4.5 million was

indemnified by Xstrata Our effective tax rate in both periods was impacted by state income taxes the Internal Revenue Code Section 199

manufacturing deduction the release of valuation allowances and accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits

Net income was 140.9 million in the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $66.9 million in the year ended December 31

2010 The increase in net income resulted from $53.9 million increase in operating income $20.8 million increase in gain on hedging

activities and $9.6 million reduction in interest expense net offset by $10.4 million increase in income tax expense

Year ended December 31 2011 compared to year ended December 31 2010 discussion of segment results

Sales to external customers from our Bauxite segment for the year ended December 31 2011 were $68.0 million compared to

$54.9 mill ion for the ear ended December 31 2010 Sales volume to external customers increased by 43.8% resulting in $24.1 million

favorable impact to revenues partially offset by lower realized pricing

Segment profit in the year ended December 31 2011 was $18.5 million compared to $23.8 million in the year ended December

2010 The higher bauxite sales discussed above were more than offset by the impact of costs and inefficiencies associated with

scheduled maintenance of equipment used in processing mined bauxite for shipping as well as the impact of higher demurrage and fuel

costs and lower realized prices

Sales to external customers from our Alumina segment for the year
ended December 31 2011 were $234.9 million compared to

$222.8 million for the year ended December31 2010 This increase is primarily pricing related as reflected by the LME-indexed nature

of alumina pricing and is partially offset by lower sales volumes to external customers and the impact of lost volumes associated with

scheduled niaintenance at the refinery

Segment profit in 2011 was $78.4 million compared to $61.9 million in 2010 The 2011 segment profit reflects an increase in

average
LME prices combined with savings from our CORE program offset in part by increased input costs for bauxite and caustic soda

as well as costs inefficiencies and lost volumes resulting from the maintenance activities at the refinery mentioned above

Sales to external customers from our Primary Aluminum segment increased to $645.7 million in the year ended December

2011 from S495.9 million in the
year

ended December31 2010

12.5 increase in average realized MWTP in 2011 compared to 2010 increased external Primary Aluminum segment revenue

by approximately $65.9 million

6.90 increase in external primary aluminum shipments generated approximately $83.9 million of additional revenue

comparing 2011 to 2010 Shipment increases in 2011 compared to 2010 were driven by the increased volume of value-added

shipments

Primary Aluminum segment costs increased in 2011 compared to 2010 primarily due to increased power and raw materials costs
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such as alumina as well as upward cost pressure in carbon-based products Fuel adjustment charges of $14.7 million were recorded in

cost of goods sold during 2011 compared to $5.4 million during 2010

Our Net Cash Cost was $0.75 per pound in 2011 compared to $0.70 per pound in 2010 The negative effects of maintenance

projects in the Alumina and Bauxite segments contributed to the increase in Net Cash Cost

Segment profit in the year ended December 31 2011 was $140.3 million compared to $112.2 million in the year ended December

31 2010 The 2011 results were most significantly impacted by increased realized pricing and higher shipments which were offset in

part by higher power costs and increased raw materials costs The 2010 results reflect lower realized prices and the lingering negative

impact of the New Madrid power outage on volumes and Net Cash Cost

Flat -Rolled Products

External sales in our Flat-Rolled Products segment were $611.2 million in the year ended December 31 2011 compared to $521.3

million in the
year

ended December 31 2010 The $89.9 million increase was primarily due to the increase in LME prices as well as

higher shipment volumes to external customers

Rising LME prices contributed $65.5 million to the sales increase Fabrication premiums were relatively unchanged

4.7% increase in shipment volumes contributed $24.4 million to the revenue increase primarily due to higher end-market

demand associated with the U.S economic recovery

Flat-Rolled Products segment costs increased due to the increase in the LME price since the majority of flat rolled product cost

represents the pass-through cost of metal

Segment profit in 2011 was $48.3 million compared to $50.0 million in 2010 reflecting the impact of higher shipments resulting

from increased customer demand offset by higher electricity and freight costs

Corporate

Corporate costs in the year ended December 31 2011 were $27.9 million and Corporate costs in the year ended December31

2010 were $26.9 million The increase reflects the variability in legal and consulting fees
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Discussion of results/or the year ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

The following table sets forth certain consolidated financial information for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 in

millions except per share data and where noted

Total

Segment profit loss
Bauxite

Alumina

Primary Aluminum Products

Flat-Rolled Products

Corporate

Eliminations

Total

Financial and other data

Average realized Midwest transaction price per pound

Net Cash Cost per pound shipped

Shipments

Third party shipments

Bauxite kMts
Alumina kMts

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions

Flat-Rolled Products pounds in millions

Intersegment shipments

Bauxite kMts
Alumina kMts

Primary Aluminum pounds in millions

Statements of operations data

Sales

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

.2-4.9 760.9

Operating costs and expenses

Cost ot sales 1112.4 779.5

Selling general and administrative expenses and other 115.0 76.0

ill and other intangible asset impairment OX
Excess insurance proceeds 43.5

aI uperating custs and e\penses 1227.4 920.0

Operating income loss 67.5 150.1

thcr pen ses tin come

Interest expense net 31.1 53.5

jam un hedging acti\ ties net 65.6 III .8

Equity in net loss of investments in affiliates 79.7

Gani loss on debt repurchase 1.1 t2 11.2

Gain on business combination 120.3

otal other income 344 3101

Income before income taxes 101.9 160.0

Income t.i\ e\ietisC 35.0 58.6

Net income .9 101.4

et nci me per common share

Basic 1.30 2.33

Iiluted 1.27 2.33

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 5l.5 43.53

Diluted 52.80 43.53

sales Ii seginelit

Bauxite

uniiiii

Primary Aluminum

IuItol led ln iduets

Eliminations
_____________________________

120.4 34.6

365.4 84.2

621.3 340.3

521.4 408.4

33.3 976
1294.9 769.9

23.8 12.3

619 2.3
112.2 4.9

50.0 35.1

26.9 28.4

4.9 2.0

216.1 19.6

1.04

0.70

1738.0

683.6

438.8

346.4

2565.5

467.4

121.7

0.81

0.77

482.9

245.0

291.4

309.3

835.1

116.5

60.2
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Sales in the year ended December 31 2010 were $1294.9 million compared to $769.9 million in the year ended December 31

2009 an increase of 68.2%

Sales to external customers from our Primary Aluminum segment increased 70.8% to $495.9 million in the year ended December 31

2010 from $290.4 million in the year ended December31 2009 driven primarily by the increase in LME prices higher volumes of value-

added shipments related to increased end-market demand and higher sow volumes related to the New Madrid power outage in the prior

year

28.4% increase in realized MWTP increased external Primary Aluminum segment revenue by $80.0 million in the year

ended December 31 2010 compared to the year ended December 31 2009

50.6% increase in external primary aluminum shipments generated $139.7 million additional revenue comparing the year

ended.December 31 2010 to the year ended December31 2009 This increase is largely the result of the New Madrid smelter

becoming fully operational during first quarter 2010 Shipments of value-added products in the year ended December 31
2010 were 45.7% higher than in the year ended December 31 2009

Revenues in the Primary Aluminum segment for the year ended December31 2009 included $14.2 million related to quantities

of excess alumina shipped to external customers from our New Madrid smelter

Sales to our external customers in our Flat-Rolled Products segment increased 27.6% to $521.3 million during the year ended

December 31 2010 from $408.4 million in the year ended December 31 2009 primarily due to the increase in LME prices as well as

higher shipments to external customers

Rising LME prices contributed $63.9 million to the sales increase Fabrication premiums were relatively unchanged

Higher shipment volumes increased revenues by $49.0 million Shipment volumes from our Flat-Rolled Products segment

increased 12.0% to 346.4 million pounds primarily due to higher end-market demand

Sales to external customers from our Alumina and Bauxite segments for the year ended December 31 2010 were $222.8 million

and $54.9 million respectively comparison to 2009 is not meaningful as we only wholly-owned the Alumina and Bauxite segments

for four months during 2009

Cost of sales

Cost of sales for the year ended December 31 2010 was $1112.4 million compared to $779.5 million in the year ended December

31 2009 The increase in cost of sales is mainly the result of higher shipment volumes in the Primary Aluminum and Flat-Rolled Products

segments as well as the increase in LME prices reflected in the pass-through nature of the Flat-Rolled Products segment

Total cost of sales in the Primary Aluminum segment increased to $550.1 million in the year ended December 31 2010 from

$384.6 million in the year December31 2009 The increase relates to several factors including the increase in total shipments

of primary aluminum as referenced in the discussion of sales offset by decreased depreciation expense related to certain

fixed assets which became fully depreciated in the year ended December 31 2009 and ii significant reduction in our Net

Cash Cost of $0.70 per pound in the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $0.77 per pound in the year ended December

31 2009 This decrease in Net Cash Cost reflects efficiencies gained from bringing the smelter back to full capacity during

the year ended December 2010 as well as reduced raw materials inputs

Flat-Rolled Products segment cost of sales increased to $485.0 million in the year ended December 31 2010 from

$369.0 million in the year ended December 31 2009 The increase related principally to the increase in the LME aluminum

price since much of that segments product cost represents the pass-through cost of metal

Cost of sales in the Bauxite and Alumina segments before the effects of intercompany eliminations totaled $94.0 million and

$315.8 million respectively during the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $32.9 million and $91.1 million

respectively during the year ended December 31 2009 We became sole owner of these two segments on August 31 2009

Cost of sales in the Alumina segment for the year ended December31 2010 reflects $4.5 million favorable cumulative

impact of negotiations to reduce our maintenance obligations for ships transporting bauxite to Gramercy from St Ann

Selling general and administrative expenses

Selling general and administrative expenses in the year ended December 31 2010 were $115.0 million compared to $76.0 million

in the year ended December 312009 This change reflects $17.4 million of increased costs from the inclusion of St Ann and Gramercy

since the Joint Venture Transaction ii $7.6 million of costs related to our workforce and contract mining restructuring plans

iii $11.5 million in increased fees related primarily to the termination ofthe Apollo management agreement iv $4.3 million in increased

stock compensation costs primarily associated with accelerated vesting in connection with the IPO and $5.5 million of increased

consulting costs and professional fees which were primarily transaction-related legal fees The cost increases were partially offset by

CORE productivity savings and $3.3 million of reduced losses on fixed asset disposals
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Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment

No goodwill impairment was recorded during the year
ended December 31 2010 We recorded $108.0 million of goodwill and

other intangible asset impairments related to our Flat-Rolled Products segment in the year ended December 2009

Excess insurance proceeds

We reached an insurance settlement with our primary insurance carrier in the
year

ended December 31 2009 The settlement

proceeds of $67.5 million were allocated to cost of sales and selling general and administrative expenses
to the extent losses were realized

and eligible for recovery under our insurance policies The line item titled Excess insurance proceeds reflects the residual after applying

the total proceeds recognized against losses incurred through September 30 2009 This amount is not intended to represent gain on the

insurance claim but only timing difference between proceeds recognized and claim related costs incurred

Operating income loss

Operating income in the year
ended December 31 2010 was $67.5 million compared to loss of $150.1 million in the year ended

December 31 2009 The increase in operating income relates to sales margin improvements of $192.9 million offset in part by

$39.0 million increase in selling general and administrative expenses discussed previously

Sales margin was income of $182.5 million for the year ended December 31 2010 compared to loss of $10.4 million for the year

ended December .31 2009 This increase resulted from the impact of 28.4% increase in realized MWTP coupled with efficiencies

gained in bringing the smelter back to full production

Interest expense net

Interest expense in the year ended December 31 2010 was $31.1 million compared to $53.5 million in the year ended December

31 2009 decrease of $22.4 million During the year ended December 31 2010 we used net proceeds from our completed IPO our

fbllow-on offering proceeds from the termination of fixed price aluminum swaps and available cash balances to repay $249.9 million

and $215.9 million of aggregate principal balances on the 2007 Term Loan and 2007 Revolver respectively and to repurchase

$66.3 million and $20.6 million aggregate principal balance of our HoldCo Notes and AcquisitionCo Notes respectively The

$22.4 million decrease in interest expense is primarily result of these lower average debt balances

Gain on hedging aclivities net

Gain on hedging activities was $65.6 million in the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $111.8 million in the year ended

December31 2009 Reclassifications of aluminum and natural gas hedge gains and losses from AOCI into earnings in 2010 were $82.1

million compared to $172.3 million in the
year

ended December 31 2009 Of this amount in 2009 $77.8 million was reclassified into

earnings related to the January 2009 re-designation of our then remaining fixed price aluminum swaps because it was probable that the

original forecasted transactions would not occur

Gain on debt repurchase

During the year ended December 2010 we used net proceeds from our completed IPO our December 2010 follow-on public

offering available cash balances and proceeds from the termination of fixed price aluminum swaps to repay $249.9 million and

$21 5.9 million of aggregate principal balances on the 2007 Term Loan and 2007 Revolver respectively and to repurchase $66.3 million

and $20.6 million aggregate principal balance of our HoldCo Notes and AcquisitionCo Notes respectively The 2010 debt repurchases

resulted in $0.1 mill ion net loss During the year ended December 312009 we repurchased $161.9 million and $194.5 million aggregate

principal balance ofour HoldCo and AcquisitionCo notes respectively at discounts to face value and repaid $65.4 million and $9.1 million

of outstanding principal balance on the 2007 Term Loan and 2007 Revolver borrowings respectively The 2009 debt repurchases

resulted in $211.2 million net gain

Income he/ore income taxes

Income bethre income taxes was $101.9 million in the year
ended December 31 2010 compared to $160.0 million in the year

ended December 2009 The special items outlined below significantly impacted the comparability of our pre tax income in millions

da
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Year ended December 31

2010 2009

Increase decrease to income befbre income taxes for special items

Insurance recoveries in excess of costs and losses 43.5

Management agreement termination 12.5
Modification of stock options 3.2
Other transaction related legal costs 5.5
Restructuring 7.6
Gain loss on debt repurchases 0.1 211.2

Gain on business combination 120.3

Joint venture impairment 80.3
Executive separation agreement 3.3
Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment 108.0
Gain on hedging activities 65.6 111.8

Total 33.4 298.5

Income tax expense

Income tax expense was $35.0 million in the year ended December 312010 compared to $58.6 million in the year ended December

31 2009 The effective tax rate was 34.3% for 2010 and 36.6% for 2009

The effective tax rate for the year ended December 31 2010 was primarily impacted by state income taxes the Internal Revenue

Code Section 199 manufacturing deduction and accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits The effective tax rate for the year

ended December 31 2009 was primarily impacted by goodwill impairment state income taxes equity method investee income and

bargain purchase accounting

Net income

Net income was $66.9 million in the year ended December 31 2010 compared to $101.4 million in the year ended December 31
2009 The decrease in net income resulted from the net effects of reductions in other income specifically $46.2 million reduction

in gains on hedging activities $21 1.3 million reduction in gains on debt repurchases and the prioryear $120.3 million gain on business

combination offset by ii favorable impacts of $217.6 million of increased operating income $80.3 million of prior year impairment

losses on our investment in affiliates and $46.0 million in reduced interest and income tax expenses

Year ended December 31 2010 compared to year ended December 31 2009 discussion of segment results

Primary Aluminum Segment profit in the year ended December 31 2010 was $112.2 million compared to segment profit of $4.9

million in the year ended December 31 2009 Segment profit in the year ended December 31 2010 reflects increases in LME prices

higher volumes of value-added shipments related to increased end-market demand and lower Net Cash Cost The
year

ended December

31 2009 segment results reflect the negative impact from the power outage as average pots in operation were only approximately 58%

Flat-Rolled Products Segment profit in the year ended December 31 2010 was $50.0 million compared to $35.1 million in the

year ended December 31 2009 Shipment volumes from our Flat-Rolled Products segment increased 12.0% to 346.4 million pounds

primarily due to higher end-market demand along with increased efficiencies associated with higher production

Corporate Corporate costs in the year ended December 31 2010 were $26.9 million compared to $28.4 million in the year ended

December 31 2009 due to variability in legal and consulting fees

Bauxite andAlumina Segment profit for the Bauxite segment in the year ended December 31 2010 was $23.8 million compared

to $12.3 million in the year ended December 31 2009 Segment profit for the Alumina segment in the year ended December 31 2010

was $61.9 million compared to segment loss of $2.3 million in the year ended December 31 2009 comparison of the
year

ended

December 31 2010 to the year ended December 31 2009 for our Bauxite and Alumina segments is not meaningful as we only wholly-

owned the bauxite mining operations and the alumina refinery for four months in the
year

ended December 31 2009

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are available cash balances cash provided by operating activities and available borrowings under

our 2012 Revolver

In 2011 we generated $140.6 million of cash flow from operating activities

At December 31 2011 we had $42.7 million of cash and cash equivalents

On February 29 2012 we refinanced our 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities and entered into the 2012 Senior Secured Credit

Facilities consisting of the 2012 Term Loan $325.0 millionand the 2012 Revolver up to $250.0 million We refer to this
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transaction as the 2012 Refinancing This refinancing transaction resulted in $246.8 million increase in our outstanding

indebtedness

After the 2012 Refinancing we have $325.0 million outstanding under the 2012 Term Loan

In connection with the 2012 Refinancing we repaid the remaining $78.2 million balance of the 2007 Term Loan

On February 29 2012 we announced the declaration of supplemental dividend of$l .25 per share expected to result

in $88 million of aggregate cash payments during March 2012

On March 2012 pursuant to Dutch Auction tender offer the aggregate principal amount of AcquisitionCo Notes

outstanding was decreased by $75.0 million to $275.3 million the 2012 Tender Offer

We expect the net effect of the 2012 Refinancing the supplemental dividend and the 2012 TenderOffer net of related

fees and expenses to increase our cash balance by approximately $73 million

Immediately upon the completion of the 2012 Refinancing the 2012 Revolver was undrawn and our borrowing base under the

2012 Revolver was $137.7 million less $29.4 million of letters of credit

In addition to financing the working capital needs of our business our primary continuing liquidity requirements are to fund

capital expenditures and acquisitions iimeet debt service obligations and iiipay dividends

We expect total capital expenditures to be approximately $75 million to $82 million in 2012 We expect spending on sustaining

capital projects to range from $65 million to $70 million in 2012 We expect 2012 spending for growth capital projects to range

from $10 million to $12 million primarily related to our capacity expansion project in New Madrid as well as approximately

$2 million related to the engineering phases of two potential growth projects which require Board authorization to proceed

As of December 31 2011 our total indebtedness was $428.5 million and following the execution of the 2012 Refinancing and

the 2012 Tender Offer our total indebtedness was $600.3 million Based on the amount of indebtedness outstanding and interest

rates immediately following the 2012 Refinancing and the 2012 Tender Offer our annualized cash interest expense
would be

approximately $33.3 million This amount represents interest expense on floating-rate obligations and is subject to increase in

the event interest rates rise

In November 2011 we announced the initiation of regular quarterly $0.03 per share dividend In February 2012 our Board

increased the regular quarterly dividend to $0.04 per share Our Board anticipates declaring this dividend in future quarters on

regular hasis however changes in our financial condition and cash needs could result in dividends being declared in different

amounts or not at all

In November 2011 we also announced that our Board had declared $1 .00 per share supplemental dividend to be paid from

existing cash balances We believe such supplemental dividend was appropriate based on our current cash position and careful

evaluation of our near and intermediate term liquidity needs and other considerations In February 2012 our Board declared

$1.25 per share supplemental dividend to be paid as part of the use of proceeds from the 2012 Refinancing Despite the payment

of these two supplemental dividends over relatively short span of time there is no assurance that supplemental dividends will

be paid in the future

Based on our current level of operations we believe the combination of cash flow from operations and available cash will be

adequate to meet our short-term liquidity needs Our ability to make scheduled payments of principal to pay interest on or to refinance

our indebtedness to pay dividends or to fund planned capital expenditures will depend on our ability to generate cash in the future This

ability is to certain extent subject to general economic financial competitive legislative regulatory and other factors that are beyond

our control

Discussion 0/certain historical cash flow information for the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010

The following table sets forth consolidated cash flow information for the periods indicated in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Cash provided by operating activities 140.6 270.9

ash used in ins esling acti ties 62.0 61

Cash used in financing activities 69.7 343.2

hane in cash and cash equi\ alents 8.9 133.4

/kraIini Lh tivities

Operating activities generated $140.6 million of cash in the year ended December31 2011 compared to $270.9 million in the year

ended December 31 2010 Cash provided by operating activities in 2010 included $164.6 million of cash settlements related to fixed-

price aluminum hedges
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In 2011 we produced $235.8 million of Adjusted EBITDA comprising $261.9 million of total segment profit less $26.1 million

of cash payments on natural gas hedges Adjusted EBITDA is defined and discussed under the following Covenant Compliance and

Financial Ratios section During 2011 we made $43.6 million of pension funding interest and other payments and $82.8 million of

income tax payments offset by $31.2 million provided by operating working capital

Investing activities

Capital expenditures were $64.6 million in the year ended December 31 2011 and $61 .3 million in the year ended December

2010 Property plant and equipment accrued in accounts payable and not yet paid were $8.7 million for the year ended December 31

2011 and are not reflected as capital expenditures in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows

During late 2010 we re-launched project to expand the aluminum production capacity at our New Madrid smelter at remaining

cost of $38 million That project had been suspended during the 2008-2009 economic downturn Once complete we expect this project

to increase the smelters annual metal production by approximately 35 million pounds through combination of additional rectifiers and

upgraded equipment allowing for increased amperage of electricity and more efficient utilization

We expect to see incremental capacity increases coming on-line beginning in 2013 and to be completed in 2014 Since re-launching

the project we have spent $7.7 million We anticipate the remaining capital spending to be incurred primarily in 2012 and 2013

During the year ended December 31 2011 AcquisitionCo issued $8.9 million ofAcquisitionCo Notes as payment-in-kind interest

due May 15 2011 For subsequent periods Noranda AcquisitionCo is required to pay all interest in cash During the year ended

December 31 2010 we issued total of $18.0 million AcquisitionCo Notes and $2.3 million HoldCo Notes as payment-in-kind for

interest due

Financing activities

On November 2011 the Board declared regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per share on our outstanding shares ofcommon

stock In addition on November 2011 the Board declared supplemental cash dividend of$ 1.00 per share on our outstanding common
stock The regular and supplemental dividends were paid on November 22 2011 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on

November 14 2011

Cash payments related to the November 2011 regular and supplemental dividends totaled approximately $71 .1 mill ion in aggregate

comprising $69.3 million of dividends on outstanding shares of common stock and $1.8 million of cash payments to holders of stock

options We paid these amounts entirely from available cash balances

On February 15 2012 the Board declared regular quarterly dividend of $0.04 per share to be paid on March 21 2012 to

shareholders ofrecord as of February 272012 The Board anticipates declaring this dividend in future quarters on regular basis however

changes in the Companys financial condition and cash needs could result in dividends being declared in different amounts or not at all

On February 29 2012 the Board declared supplemental dividend of$ 1.25 per share to be paid on March 192012 to shareholders

of record as of March 12 2012 Cash payments related to the supplemental dividend will total approximately $88.0 million in

aggregate We expect to pay these amounts from the net proceeds from the 2012 Refinancing discussed above

Discussion of certain historical cash flow information for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009

The following table sets forth certain historical condensed consolidated financial information for the years ended 2010 and 2009

in millions

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

Cash provided by operating activities 270.9 220.5

Cash used in investing activities 61.1 24.0
Cash provided by used in finanoing activities 343.2 214.0

Change in cash and cash equivalents 133.4 17.5

Operating activities

Cash provided by operating activities in the year ended December 31 2010 reflected $164.6 million of proceeds from hedge

terminations under our hedge settlement agreement with Merrill Lynch offset by $36.7 million from increases in working capital due

to the increased level of volume and the smelter becoming fully operational

We contributed $21.3 million and $25.3 million to our pension/OPEB plans in 2010 and 2009 respectively Additionally in 2010

we made $10.0 million tax prepayment in connection with the finalization of the GOJ agreement

Investing activities

Capital expenditures amounted to $61.3 million in the year ended December 31 2010 and $46.7 million in the year ended
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December 2009

Purchases of property plant and equipment accrued in accounts payable and not yet paid were $6.3 million for the year ended

December 31 201 and are not reflected as capital expenditures on the statements of cash flows

During the global economic contraction we reduced our capital expenditures to critical maintenance activities and costs

associated with bringing the smelter back to full capacity Of our capital spending in the year ended December 31 2010

$11.5 million was related to the New Madrid restart all of which was funded with insurance proceeds

During 2010 we invested $1.2 million toward the New Madrid smelter expansion and $2.0 million on the port expansion at

our Jamaican Bauxite mine

Excluding these two growth projects our capital spending totaled $58.0 million for 2010

Financing activities

luring the year ended December 31 2010 our financing cash flows mainly reflected debt reduction and issuance of common

stock Through December 2010 we used available cash balances $206.0 million of proceeds from issuance of common stock and

$164.6 million of proceeds from our remaining hedge terminations to repay $249.9 million of 2007 Term Loan borrowings and to

repurchase $66.3 million principal balance of our HoldCo Notes and $20.6 million principal balance of our AcquisitionCo Notes for an

aggregate reacquisition price of $333.4 million We also repaid $215.9 million of our 2007 Revolver at face value

In 2010 we issued total of $18.0 million and $2.3 million in AcquisitionCo Notes and HoldCo Notes respectively as payment

fbr P1K interest In 2009 we issued total of $28.5 million AcquisitionCo Notes and $6.0 million HoldCo Notes as payment for P1K

interest

Description of Certain Indebtedness

We summarize below the principal terms of the agreements that govern the senior secured credit facilities as well as our Notes

This summary is not complete description of all of the terms of the relevant agreements Copies of the senior secured credit facilities

and the indentures governing the Notes have been filed with the SEC

2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

On February 29 2012 Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into the following senior secured credit facilities

term loan that matures February 2019 or earlier as described below with an original principal amount of $325.0 million

the 2012 Term Loan and

$250.0 million asset-backed revolving credit facility that matures in February 2017 or earlier as described below which

includes borrowing capacity available for letters of credit and for borrowing on same-day notice the 2012 Revolver

2012 Term Loan

The 2012 Term Loan provides for an initial borrowing of $325.0 million The 2012 Term Loan also permits Noranda

AcquisitionCo to incur incremental borrowings thereunder in an aggregate principal amount equal to the greater of1 $100.0 million

and an amount such that after giving effect to such incremental borrowing Noranda AcquisitionCo will be in pro forma compliance

with maximum total net senior secured leverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.00 Incremental borrowings are uncommitted and the availability

thereof will depend on market conditions at the time Noranda AcquisitionCo seeks to incur such borrowings

Obligations of Noranda AcquisitionCo under the 2012 Term Loan are senior obligations guaranteed by the Company and

substantially all ofNoranda AcquisitionCoswholly-owned existing and future direct and indirect U.S subsidiaries with certain customary

or agreed-upon exceptions NHB Capital LLC NHB in which we have 100% ownership interest is the only unrestricted subsidiary

and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these obligations Noranda AcquisitionCo and its subsidiary guarantors have

pledged substantially all of their assets as security for such obligations while the Company has pledged its shares of capital stock of

Noranda AcquisitionCo These security interests shall be second priority with respect to accounts receivable inventory and certain related

assets and first priority with respect to all other pledged assets

All outstanding principal and interest under the 2012 Term Loan will be due and payable on the earlier ofi February 28 2019

and ii 91 days prior to the maturity of the AcquisitionCo Notes if more than $100.0 million of the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo

Notes remains outstanding on such date The 2012 Term Loan requires Noranda AcquisitionCo to repay borrowings outstanding

thereunder in the amount of .00% per annum payable quarterly with the balance due on the maturity date

Noranda AcquisitionCo may prepay amounts outstanding under the 2012 Term Loan at any time If such prepayment is made

on or prior to the first anniversary of the date of the 2012 Term Loan as result of certain refinancing or repricing transactions Noranda

AcquisitionCo shall be required to pay fee equal to .00% of the principal amount of the obligations so refinanced or repriced Subject

to certain exceptions the 2012 Term Loan requires Noranda AcquisitionCo to prepay
certain amounts outstanding thereunder with

the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and certain issuances of debt and percentage of excess cash flow which percentage is
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based upon Noranda AcquisitionCos total net senior secured leverage ratio

Borrowings under the 2012 Term Loan bear interest at rate equal to an applicable margin plus at Noranda AcquisitionCos

option either base rate calculated in customary manner provided such base rate shall not be less than 2.25% or an adjusted

eurodollar rate calculated in customary manner provided that such adjusted eurodollar rate shall not be less than 1.25% The applicable

margin is 3.50% per annum with respect to base rate borrowings and 4.50% per annum with respect to eurodollar rate borrowings

The 2012 Term Loan contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants restrictions and events of default

2012 Revolver

Subject to certain exceptions maximum availability under the 2012 Revolver is equal to the lesser ofl $250.0 million and

borrowing base ordinarily equal to 85% of the net amount of eligible accounts receivable plus ii the lesser ofA 80% of the lesser

of the original cost or market value of eligible inventory and 90% of the orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory minus iii

any applicable reserves provided that until delivery of an initial inventory appraisal and field examination the borrowing base shall be

equal to the sum ofx 65% of the net book value of the borrowers consolidated accounts receivable and 40% of the net book value

of the borrowers consolidated inventory Subject to such limitation the borrowers may request the issuance of letters of credit up to an

aggregate amount available to be drawn of $75.0 million and the borrowing of swingline loans up to an aggregate amount equal to 10%
of the outstanding commitments under the 2012 Revolver The 2012 Revolver also permits NorandaAcquisitionCo to incur incremental

commitments thereunder in an aggregate principal amount of
up to $100.0 million Incremental commitments are uncommitted and the

availability thereof will depend on market conditions at the time Noranda AcquisitionCo seeks to incur such commitments

Obligations of the borrowers under the 2012 Revolver are senior obligations guaranteed by the Company each borrower and

substantially all ofNoranda AcquisitionCos wholly owned existing and future direct and indirect U.S subsidiaries with certain customary

or agreed-upon exceptions NHB is the only unrestricted subsidiary and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these

obligations Noranda AcquisitionCo and its subsidiary guarantors have pledged substantially all of their assets as security for such

obligations while the Company has pledged its shares of capital stock of Noranda AcquisitionCo These security interests shall be first

priority with respect to accounts receivable inventory and certain related assets and second priority with respect to all other pledged

assets

All outstanding principal and interest under the 2012 Revolver will be due and payable on the earlier of February 28 2017 and

91 days prior to the maturity of the AcquisitionCo Notes if more than $100.0 million of the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo

Notes remains outstanding on such date Noranda AcquisitionCo may prepay amounts and/or terminate commitments outstanding under

the 2012 Revolver at any time without penalty or premium

Borrowings under the 2012 Revolver bear interest at rate equal to an applicable margin plus at Noranda AcquisitionCos option

either base rate calculated in customary manner or an adjusted eurodollar rate calculated in customary manner The applicable

margin is determined based on Noranda AcquisitionCos average quarterly excess availability under the 2012 Revolver The initial

applicable margin is 0.75% per annum with respect to base rate borrowings and .75% per annum with respect to eurodollar rate borrowings

Noranda AcquisitionCo is also required to pay quarterly commitment fee equal to 0.3 75% per annum of the average amount of unused

commitments during the applicable quarter as well as quarterly letter of credit fees equal to the product of the applicable margin

with respect to eurodollar borrowings and the
average amount available to be drawn under outstanding letters of credit during such

quarter

The 2012 Revolver contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants restrictions and events of default Ifavailability

under the 2012 Revolver is less than certain minimum threshold amounts Noranda AcquisitionCo must maintain minimum fixed charge

coverage ratio of 1.00 to .00

At closing there was no outstanding balance under the 2012 Revolver and approximately $29400000.0 million in letters of credit

outstanding thereunder

Certain covenants

Certain covenants contained in our debt agreements governing our 2007 and 2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the indentures

governing our Notes restrict our ability to take certain actions if we are unable to meet certain ratios of Adjusted EBITDA to fixed charges

and Net Debt Senior Secured Net Debt and Senior First Lien Secured Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA These actions include incurring

additional secured or unsecured debt expanding borrowings under existing term loan facilities paying dividends engaging in mergers

acquisitions and certain other investments and retaining proceeds from asset sales We met all financial ratio thresholds as of December 31
2011 In addition to the restrictive covenants described above upon the occurrence of certain events such as change of control our

debt agreements could require that we repay or refinance our indebtedness

2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

Prior to the 2012 Refinancing Noranda AcquisitionCo was party to senior secured credit facilities as follows

term loan that matured May 2014 with an original principal amount of $500.0 million of which $78.2 million remained

outstanding as of December 31 2011 the 2007 Term Loan and
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$250.0 million revolving credit facility that matured in May 2013 which included borrowing capacity available for letters

of credit and for borrowing on same-day notice the 2007 Revolver We had no outstanding balance under the revolving

credit facility at December 31 2011 As result of the revolving credit facility repurchase in 2009 our maximum borrowing

capacity was reduced $7.3 million from $250.0 million to $242.7 million As of December 31 2011 we had $213.3 million

available for borrowing which is net of $29.4 million outstanding letters of credit

The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were guaranteed by us and by all of the existing and future direct and indirect wholly

owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo not designated as unrestricted under the senior secured credit facilities These

guarantees were full and unconditional NHB Capital LLC NHB in which we have 100% ownership interest is the only unrestricted

subsidiary and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these obligations The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were

secured by first priority pledges of all of the equity interests in Noranda AcquisitionCo and all of the equity interests in each of the existing

and future direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo other than subsidiaries of unrestricted

subsidiaries The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were also secured by first priority security interests in substantially all of the

assets ofNoranda AcquisitionCo as well as those of each of our existing and future direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidiaries

that guaranteed the 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

2007 Term Loan

Interest on the loan was based either on LIBOR or the prime rate at Noranda AcquisitionCos election in either case plus an

applicable margin 1.75% over LIBOR at December 31 2011 that depended upon the ratio of Noranda AcquisitionCos Senior Secured

Net Debt to EBITDA in each case as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan The interest rate at December 31

2011 was 2.05% Interest on the 2007 Term Loan was payable no less frequently than every six months

Noranda AcquisitionCo was required to prepay amounts outstanding under the credit agreement based on an amount equal to

50% of our Excess ash Flow as calculated in accordance with the terms of the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan

within 95 days after the end of each fiscal year The required percentage of Noranda AcquisitionCos Excess Cash Flow payable to the

lenders under the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan was able to be reduced from 50% to either 25% or based on Noranda

AcquisitionCos Senior Secured Net Debt to EBITDA ratio in each case as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2007

Term Loan or the principal amount of 2007 Term Loan that had been repaid During 2011 no mandatory prepayments were due

pursuant to the cash flow sweep provisions of the credit agreement The payment due in 2012 would have been $24.2 million however

this amount was repaid in connection with the 2012 Refinancing

2007 Revolver

Interest on the 2007 Revolver was based either on LIBOR or the prime rate at Noranda AcquisitionCos election in either case

plus an applicable margin 1.75% over LIBOR at December 31 2011 that depended upon the ratio of Noranda AcquisitionCos Senior

Secured Net Debt to EBITDA in each case as defined in the applicable credit facility and was payable at least quarterly

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the 2007 Revolver Noranda AcquisitionCo was required to pay

commitment fee to the lenders under the 2007 Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments at rate equal to 0.5% per

annum subject to step down if certain financial thresholds were met 0.38% at December 31 2011 and

additional tees related to outstanding letters of credit under the 2007 Revolver at rate equal to the margin applicable to loans

under the 2007 Revolver of 2.0% per annum subject to step down if certain financial thresholds were met 1.75% per annum

at December 31 2011

Noranda AcquisitionCo Notes

On May 18 2007 Noranda AcquisitionCo issued $510.0 million senior floating rate notes due 2015 The AcquisitionCo Notes

mature on May 15 2015 Through May 15 2011 Noranda AcquisitionCo was permitted to elect to pay interest entirely in cash ii

by increasing the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo Notes by paying interest entirely in kind P1K interest or iii50% in cash

and 50/o in AcquisitionCo P1K Notes interest For any subsequent period after May 15 2011 Noranda AcquisitionCo must pay all interest

in cash The AcquisitionCo Notes cash interest accrues at six-month LIBOR plus 4.0% per annum reset semi-annually The interest rate

at December 31 2011 was 4.66%

The AcquisitionCo Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on senior unsecured joint and several basis by the existing

and future wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo that guarantee the senior secured credit facilities NHB and

St Ann are not guarantors of the senior secured credit facilities and are not guarantors
of the AcquisitionCo Notes Noranda HoldCo

fully and unconditionally guarantees the AcquisitionCo Notes on ajoint and several basis with the subsidiary guarantors The guarantee

by Noranda HoldCo is not required by the indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes and may be released by Noranda HoldCo at any

time Noranda HoldCo has no independent operations or any assets other than its interest in Noranda AcquisitionCo Noranda

AcquisitionCo is wholly owned finance subsidiary of Noranda FoldCo with no operations independent of its subsidiaries

In 2011 and 2010 we issued the following amounts of AcquisitionCo Notes as AcquisitionCo P1K interest due in millions
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AcquisitionCo

Notes issued as

P1K interest

May 152011 8.9

November 15 2010 8.9

May 152010 9.1

If the AcquisitionCo Notes would otherwise constitute applicable high yield discount obligations AHYDO within the meaning

of applicable U.S federal income tax law Noranda AcquisitionCo will be required to make mandatory principal redemption payments

in cash at such times and in such amounts as is necessary to prevent the AcquisitionCo Notes from being treated as an AHYDO

The indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes limits Noranda AcquisitionCos and its subsidiaries ability among other things

to incur additional indebtedness ii declare or pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our capital stock

iiimake investments iv sell assets including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries enter into agreements restricting our

subsidiaries ability to pay dividends vi consolidate merge sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets vii enter

into transactions with our affiliates and viii incur liens

As of December 31 2011 we had $350.3 million in principal amount ofAcquisitionCoNotes outstanding

2012 Tender

Pursuant to an Offer to Purchase for Cash on February 21 2012 Noranda AcquisitionCo launched modified Dutch Auction

tender offer the 2012 Tender Offer for up to $75.0 million of its outstanding AcquisitionCo Notes Noranda AcquisitionCo received

tenders prior to 500 p.m New York City time on March 2012 the Early Tender Date As the aggregate principal amount of

AcquisitionCo Notes tendered prior to the Early Tender Date exceeded $75.0 million $75.0 million in principal amount ofAcquisitionCo

Notes were accepted for payment by Noranda AcquisitionCo Noranda AcquisitionCo paid total of $75 .2 million in principal interest

and fees on March 2012 in connection with the 2012 Tender Offer As result of the 2012 Tender Offer the aggregate principal amount

of AcquisitionCo Notes outstanding was decreased by $75.0 million to $275.3 million as of March 82012

Noranda HoldCo Notes

On June 72007 Noranda HoldCo issued senior floating rate notes due 2014 in aggregate principal amount of $220.0 million

with discount of .0% of the principal amount While the HoldCo Notes were outstanding Noranda HoldCo had the option to pay
interest entirely in cash ii in HoldCo Notes P1K interest or iii 50% in cash and 50.0% in HoldCo Notes P1K interest On May
15 2010 we issued $2.3 million of HoldCo Notes as HoldCo P1K interest due

During second quarter 2010 we used portion of the proceeds from our IPO to repurchase and retire all outstanding HoldCo

Notes
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Covenant compliance and financial ratios

Upon the occurrence of certain events such as change of control we could be required to repay or refinance our indebtedness

In addition certain covenants contained in our debt agreements restrict our ability to take certain actions including incurring additional

secured or unsecured debt expanding borrowings under existing term loan facilities paying dividends and making other restricted

payments prepaying subordinated indebtedness engaging in mergers acquisitions and certain other investments and selling assets and

retaining the proceeds from such sales unless we meet certain standards in respect of certain financial ratios including the ratio of our

Adjusted EBITDA calculated on trailing four-quarter basis to our fixed charges during the same period the fixed-charge coverage

ratio or the ratio ofour senior first-lien secured net debt to our Adjusted EBITDA calculated on trailing four-quarter basis Furthermore

our ability to take certain actions including paying dividends and making acquisitions and certain other investments depends on the

amounts available for such actions under the applicable covenants which amounts accumulate under certain of our debt obligations

with reference to our Adjusted EBITDA or our net income on quarterly basis We met all financial ratio thresholds as of December 31

2011

Certain of the minimum or maximum ratio levels set forth in our covenants as conditions to our undertaking certain actions and

our actual performance are summarized below

Financial ratio As of December 31
relevant to

cos.enants Cosenant threshold 2011 2010

Noranda AcquisitionCo

Fived Charge Minimum

senior Floating Rate Notes due 201 oerage Ratio 2.0 to 1.0 to t.3 to

Total Net Senior

First Lien

Secured Maximum

2012 Term Loan and 2012 Revolver Leverage Ratio 2.25 to 1.0 0.9 td 1.0 to

orind ui it toot Ii
\cd charges .i pro Ii rota hasi gi\ ng effect to debt repayment or the four quarters ended ccemher and

e.emh 20 II scrc 2r5 million and $36.1 million respectively

As u.ed in ..ilLulaiing this rauo senior first-lien secured net debt means the amountoutstandingunderour 2012 Term Loan and 2012 Revolver immediately

I/il Ion Inc the ii12 Re fin.inL
iiig

and any debt secured by first priority lien on assets ofNoranda AcquisttionCo and/or any of its subsidiaries less unrestricted

cash and ci ii ied ins estments as defined under our 2012 Senior Secured Credit Faciltties up to cap of$ 100 mtllion The ratios presented are assuming

the 2012 ReIn incitto had been in place as of December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 Under this assumption at December 31 2011 senior first lien

.e.urcd dchi na million and unrestricted cash and permitted investments were capped at $100.0 million including the approximate $73.0 million

incici.c in La.h immediately fillowing the 2012 Refinancing and 2012 TenderOffer resulting tn senior first lien secured netdebt of$225.0 million Also

under thi i.sutnption at December 31 2010 senior secured debt was $325.0 million and unrestricted cash and permitted investments were equal to S99.5

million iiidiidins ihc approximate $73.0 million increase in cash immediately following the 2012 Refinancing and 2012 Tender Offer resulting in senior

se ured dcli ol $225.5 million

Our debt agreements do not require us to maintain any financial performance metric or ratio in order to avoid default except

that ii availability under the 2012 Revolver is less than certain minimum threshold amounts Noranda AcquisitionCo must maintain

minimum fixed charge coverage ratio as defined under our 2012 Revolver of not less than 1.0 to 1.0

Management uses Adjusted EBITDA as liquidity measure in respect of the fixed-charge coverage ratio and the net senior

secured leverage ratio as defined in the AcquisitionCo Notes and our 2012 Term Loan As used herein Adjusted EBITDA means net

income before income taxes net interest expense and depreciation and amortization adjusted to eliminate certain non-cash expenses

restructuring charges related party management fees charges resulting from purchase accounting and other specified items of income

or expense as outlined below in millions
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Adjusted EBITDA

Last in first out and lower of cost or market inventory adjustments

Loss on disposal of assets

Non cash pension accretion and stock compensation

Restructuring relocation and severance

Consulting and sponsor fees

Interest rate swaps

Gain loss on debt repurchases

New Madrid power outage

Charges and fees related to hedge terminations

Non-cash derivative gains and lossest

Goodwill and other intangible asset impairment

Joint venture impairment

Gain on business combination

Joint venture EBITDAe

Purchase accounting and other

Depreciation and amortization

Interest expense net

Income tax expense

Net income

Twelve months ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

235.8 226.1 98.3

12.6 4.1 15.4

3.3 4.0 7.3

12.4 14.9 10.8

2.9 11.9 2.8

2.3 18.9 5.8

4.6 11.0 11.9

0.1 211.2

30.6

9.0 17.9

117.0 73.2 86.1

108.0

80.3

120.3

8.0

9.2 6.3 9.0

97.7 98.7 86.6

21.5 31.1 53.5

45.4 35.0 58.6
140.9 66.9 101.4

Adjusted EBITDA is not measure of financial performance under U.S GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled

measures used by other companies in our industry Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation from or as an alternative to

net income income from continuing operations operating income or any other performance measures derived in accordance with U.S

GAAP Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and you should not consider it in isolation or as substitute for analysis

of our results as reported under U.S GAAP For example Adjusted EBITDA excludes certain tax payments that may represent reduction

in cash available to us does not reflect any cash requirements for the assets being depreciated and amortized that may have to be replaced

in the future does not reflect capital cash expenditures future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments does

not reflect changes in or cash requirements for our working capital needs and does not reflect the significant interest expense or the

cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our indebtedness Adjusted EBITDA also includes incremental

stand-alone costs and adds back non-cash hedging gains and losses and certain other non-cash charges that are deducted in calculating

net income However these are expenses that may recur vary greatly and are difficult to predict In addition certain of these expenses

can represent the reduction of cash that could be used for other corporate purposes You should not consider our Adjusted EBJTDA as

an alternative to operating or net income determined in accordance with U.S GAAP as an indicator of our operating performance or

as an alternative to cash flows from operating activities determined in accordance with U.S GAAP as an indicator of our cash flows or

as measure of liquidity
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The following table reconciles Adjusted EBITDA to cash flow from operating activities for the periods presented in millions

Adjusted EWTDA
Settlements from hedge terminations net

Stock cospensation expense

Changes in other assets

Cbangçflpensio her pct-nirunentiWbilities and other long-

term Rat$fftbs

Changes in current operating asset and liabilities

Changei in current income taxes

Changes in accrued interest

Non-eMil pension accretion and stock compensation

Restructuring relocation and severance

Consulting and sponsor fees

Interest rate swaps

New Madrid power outage

Insurance proceeds applied to capital expenditures

Insurstee proee applied to depreciation expense and loss on

disposatofassØts

Joint venture EBITDAe

Equity innet income of investment in affiliates

Purchase accounting and other10

Cash flow from operating activities

Twelve months ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

235.8 226J 98.3

164.6 120.8

.3 5.9 1.5

6.7 10.0 0.9

14.3 tL6 2.9

30.8 36.7 38.6

70.5 20.2 0.9

9.8 7.4 12.1

12.4 14.9 10.8

2.9 11.9 2.8

2.3 I9 5.8

4.6 11.0 11.9

... 30.6

..- 8.8

8.0

7.8 5.9 11.6

t46 27GS 23L7

di
Our Ness Madrid smelter and our rolling mills use the LIFO method of inventory accounting for financial reporting and tax purposes This adjustment restates

net income to thc 1-IFO method hy eliminating LIFO expenses related to inventory held at the New Madrid smelter and the rolling
mills Inventories at

Gramercy and St Ann arc stated at lower of weighted-average cost or market and are not subject to the LIFO adjustment We also reduce inventory to the

lower of cost adjusted for purchase accounting or market value

Represents the portion of the insurance seulement used for claim-related capital expenditures

We use derixative financial instmments to mitigate effects of fluctuations in aluminum and natural gas prices This adjustment eliminates the non-cash gains

and losses resulting
from fair market value changes of aluminum swaps hut does not affect the following cash settlements rcccived/paid in millions

Fixed priced aluminum swaps

Variable price aluminum offset swaps and other

NaWal gas swaps

Interest rate swaps

Total

Twelve months ended December 31

201 2010 2009

242 93.1

0.1 2.5 23.8

26 233 31.8

4.6 11.0 11.9

30.6 74 25.6

hc prex ious table presents fixed price aluminum swap cash settlement amounts net of early termination discounts totaling $17.9 million in 2009 and

S9.l million in 2111

During third quarter 2010 we concluded that certain non-cash hedge gains should be excluded for purposes of calculating Adjusted EBITDA under the

credit agrcemcot governing our 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities As such we excluded from the calculation ofAdjusted EBITDA hedge gains totaling

553.6 miflion br the year ended December 31 2010

Prior to the consummation of the joint Venture Tnmsaetion on August 31 2009 our reported Adjusted EBITDA includes 50 of the net income of Gramercy

and St Ann To reflect the underlying economies of the vertically integrated upstream business this adjustment eliminates the following components of

equity income to reflect 5O% of the FBITDA of the joint ventures for the following periods in millions

Depreciation and amortization

Net tax expense

Interest income

Total joint enture FBITDA adjustments

December 31

8.0

Represents inipaet from inventory step-up and other adjustments arising from adjusting assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Joint VentureTransaction

to their hir .alues as well as other inioiaterial nonrecurring items

2009

8.7

0.7

tda
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Contractual Obligations and Contingencies

Our contractual obligations as of December 31 2011 in millions were

Total 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Thereafter

Operating activities

Operating lease commitments 6.0 2.0 1.1 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.7

Power contract 4.0 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 0.5 1.5

Other purchases 0.5 0.5

Asset retirement obligations 16.2 2.3 2.0 2.0 2.0 2.0 5.9

Environmental remediation obligations 4.1 1.9 0.9 1.3

Land obligation 13.2 4.3 4.4 4.5

Reclamation obligation 4.6 2.8 0.9 0.9

Pension and OPEB benefit payments 237.1 18.7 19.8 20.7 21.8 22.7 133.4

Investing activities

Capital expenditures 14.5 14.5

Financing activities

Total debt 428.5 2.4 75.8 350.3

Interest 58.7 17.9 17.9 16.9 6.0

Total 787.4 67.8 475 122.0 38i.3. 26.0 142.8

Obligations for operating activities

We enter into operating leases in the normal course of business Our operating leases include the leases on certain of our

manufacturing and warehouse facilities We have long-term power contract at New Madrid and contract for minimum nitrogen

purchases at the rolling mill in Huntingdon If the nitrogen contract at Huntingdon is cancelled during 2012 we would be obligated to

pay contract termination fee of $1 .2 million Obligations that are legally cancellable without penalty are excluded

We have other contractual obligations that are reflected in the consolidated financial statements including asset retirement

obligations AROs environmental remediation land and reclamation obligations AROs are stated at the present value of the liability

In the table above AROs for 2012 include an additional $0.5 million related to failed pots at New Madrid which are recorded in other

accrued liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2011

Pension and OPEB expected benefit payments have been included above at amounts estimated annually by our actuaries To the

extent that actual returns on pension fund investments are lower than our estimates our future requirements to fund those benefit payments

could increase to above historical levels For example in 2012 we expect to make pension contributions totaling $25.6 million which

is approximately $3.4 million higher than the amounts we contributed to those plans in 2011

As of December 31 2011 the noncurrent portion of our income tax liability including accrued interest and penalties related to

unrecognized tax benefits was approximately $2.1 million which is not included in the table above At this time the settlement period

for the noncurrent portion of our income tax liability cannot be determined We expect cash outlays for income taxes to exceed income

tax expense during the next three years as some deferred tax liabilities enter into the determination of current taxable income For example

in 2012 we expect our cash tax rate to be approximately 42.5% to 44.5% compare to U.S GAAP tax rate of3l.5% to 33.5% This

difference is likely to increase as debt repurchase gains recognized in 2009 affect taxable income beginning in 2014 See Note 18 Income

Taxes to our consolidated financial statements for information regarding income taxes

The GOJ and NBL are parties to an Establishment Agreement that
governs

the relationship between them as to the operation of

our bauxite mine in St Ann Jamaica On December31 2009 NBL arrived at an understanding with the GOJ to amend the Establishment

Agreement This amendment sets the fiscal regime structure ofthe Establishment Agreement from January 2009 through December 31
2014 The amendment provides for commitment by NBL to make certain expenditures for haulroad development maintenance dredging

land purchases contract mining training and other general capital expenditures from 2009 through 2014 These commitments are not

included in the table above

Obligations for investing activities

Capital expenditures which were accrued in accounts payable as of December 31 2011 of $8.7 million are included above as

these amounts will be paid during 2012 We have also included obligations related to ongoing capital expenditure projects to the extent

we have contractual obligations that cannot be cancelled without incurring penalty

Obligations for financing activities

Total debt and interest payments in the table above reflect our debt and interest obligations as of December 31 2011 based on

interest rates as of December 31 2011 and therefore do not include the impact of the 2012 Refinancing The 2012 Term Loan requires

AcquisitionCo to repay borrowings outstanding thereunder in the amount of 1.00% per annum payable quarterly with the balance due

on the maturity date
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ITEM 7A QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

In addition to the risks inherent in our operations we are exposed to financial market and economic risks The following discussion

provides information regarding our exposure to the risks of changing commodity prices and interest rates Our interest rate aluminum

and natural gas contracts are held for purposes
other than trading They are used primarily to mitigate uncertainty and volatility and to

cover underlying exposures

Commodity Price Risks

See Note 14 Derivative Financial Instruments to our consolidated financial statements in Item of this Annual Report on Form

10-K fbr complete description of our derivative activities to address commodity price risks

Non-perfbrmance risk Our derivatives are recorded at fair value the measurement of which includes the effect of our non-

performance risk for derivatives in liability position and of the counterparty
for derivatives in an asset position

Merrill Lynch is the counterparty for substantial portion ofour derivatives As of December 312011 the fair value ofderivatives

where Merrill Lynch was counterparty was $41.0 million liability As such in accordance with our master agreement described below

we used our counterpartys credit adjustment for the fair value adjustment All of our obligations in respect of derivatives transactions

with Merrill Lynch are entitled to the same guarantee and security provisions as the senior secured credit facilities but we are not required

to post additional collateral or cash margin Our derivatives transactions with Merrill Lynch are governed by an ISDA Master Agreement

form document produced by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association and widely used by derivatives market participants

to establish basic market-standard background rules to govern substantive economic transactions The substantive economic terms of

swap and derivative transactions such as our derivative arrangements described herein are typically agreed to orally and subsequently

memorialized in short-form confirmations that are governed by the background provisions of the ISDA Master Agreement While

management may alter our hedging strategies in the future based on our view of actual forecasted prices there are no plans in place that

would require us to post cash under the master agreement with Merrill Lynch

We have also entered into variable priced aluminum swaps with counterparties other than Merrill Lynch To the extent those swap

contracts are in an asset position for us management believes there is minimal counterparty risk because these counterparties are backed

by the LME To the extent these contracts are in liability position for us the swap agreements provide for us to establish margin accounts

in favor of the broker These margin account balances are netted in the settlement of swap liability At December 31 2011 we had no

balance in the margin account

Financial Risk

Pair salue.s and sensitivity analysis The following tables show the effect of hypothetical increase or decrease of 0% of the

appropriate risk factor of our financial hedges The risk factor related to the interest rate swap is the interest rate and the risk factor

associated with the commodity swaps is the market price associated with the respective commodity

We issued variable-rate debt to finance the Apollo Acquisition and will be subject to variations in interest rates with respect to our

tloating-rate debt As of December 31 2011 outstanding floating-rate debt was $428.5 million Based on the amount of indebtedness

outstanding and interest rates immediately following the 2012 Refinancing and the 2012 Tender Offer our total indebtedness was $600.3

million and our estimated annualized cash interest expense is approximately $33.3 million 1% increase in the interest rates would

increase our annual interest expense by an estimated $6.0 million

The follow ing table represents our sensitivity summary showing the effect of hypothetical increase or decrease of 10% of the

appropriate risk factor of our financial hedges at December 31 2011

Derivative value as of

December 31 2011

Assuming t0% Assuming l0%

increase decrease

in the market in the market

risk factor Actual risk factor

I1vIaterial limitations The disclosures with respect to commodity prices and interest rates do not take into account the underlying

commitments or anticipated transactions If the underlying items were included in the analysis the gains or losses on the hedges may be

offset Actual results will be determined by number of factors that are not under Norandas control and could vary significantly from

those factors disclosed Noranda is exposed to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by counterparties on the above instruments as

well as credit or perflrmance risk with respect to its customers Although nonperformance is possible we do not anticipate nonperforrnance

by any of these parties We believe that our contracts are with credit-worthy counterparties
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Fixed price aluminum customer contracts 2.0 5.5

Variable price aluminum offset swaps 0.5 7.5 14.5

Natural
gas swaps 31.7 33.5 36.8

Total 33.6 390 45.8
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MANAGEMENTS REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCLAL REPORTING

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining an adequate system of internal control over financial reporting as

defined in Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 The Companys internal control over financial

reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of

financial statements for external purposes in accordance with U.S GAAP The Companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that

pertain to the maintenance ofrecords that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions

of the assets of the Company

ii provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being

made only in accordance with authorization of management and directors of the Company and

iii provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisitions use or disposition

of the Companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Internal control over financial reporting has certain inherent limitations which may not prevent or detect misstatements In addition

changes in conditions and business practices may cause variation in the effectiveness of internal controls

Management assessed the effectiveness of the companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based

on criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO in Internal Control-Integrated

Framework Based on its assessment and those criteria management concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control

over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

Ernst Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm has audited the effectiveness of the Companys internal

control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 as stated in their report which is presented on the following page

/s/ Layle Smith

Layle Smith

President and Chief Executive Officer

March 12 2012

/s/ Robert Mahoney

Robert 13 Mahoney

Chief Financial Officer

March 122012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation the Company as

of December 31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive income loss equity and cash

flows for each ofthe three years in the period ended December 31 2011 These financial statements are the responsibility of the Companys

management Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free

of material misstatement An audit also includes examining on test basis evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the

financial statements An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management as

well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation We believe that our audits provide reasonable basis for our opinion

In our opinion the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects the consolidated financial position

of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation at December 31 2011 and 2010 and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles

We also have audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

Companys internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011 based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 12 2012

expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/s ERNST YOU1lG LLP

Nashville Tennessee

March 12 2012
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation

We have audited Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2011

based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the

Treadway Commission the COSO criteria Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations management is responsible for maintaining

effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting

included in the accompanying Managements Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting Our responsibility is to express an

opinion on the Companys internal control over financial reporting based on our audit

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over

financial reporting was maintained in all material respects Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial

reporting assessing the risk that material weakness exists testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal

control based on the assessed risk and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe

that our audit provides reasonable basis for our opinion

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting

principles companys internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance

of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company provide

reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally

accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures ofthe company are being made only in accordance with authorizations

of management and directors of the company and provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of

unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also

projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of

changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation maintained in all material respects effective internal control over financial

reporting as of December 2011 based on the COSO criteria

We have also audited in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States the

consolidated balance sheets as of December31 2011 and 2010 and the related consolidated statements of operations comprehensive

income loss equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31 2011 of Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporation and otir report dated March 12 2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon

/s/ ERNST YOUNG LLP

Nashville Tennessee

March 122012
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62



NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in millions except par value

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable net

Inventories net

Prepaid expenses

Other current assets

Total current assets

Property plant and equipment net

Goodwill

Other intangible assets net

Other assets

Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Taxes payable

Derivative liabilities net

Deferred tax liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt net

Long-term derivative liabilities net

Pension and other post-retirement benefit OPEB liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Long-term deferred tax liabilities

Common stock subject to redemption 0.2 shares at December 31 2011 and 2010
Shareholders equity

Preferred stock 25.0 shares authorized $0.01 par value no shares issued and outstanding

at December 31 2011 and 2010

Common stock 200.0 shares authorized $0.01 par value 67.3 shares issued and

outstanding at December 312011 66.8 shares issued and outstanding at December 31
2010 including 0.2 shares subject to redemption at December 31 2I and 201y

Capital in excess of par value

Retained earnings accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive income loss
Total shareholders equity

Non controlling interest

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying notes

December 31

2011 2010

42.7 33.8

107.6 131.6

186.5 201.1

13.3 12.9

4L3 19.2

391.4 398.6

719.9

137.6 137.6

67.1 73.0

81.6 85.6

4i27 zL414.7

95.9 85.1

453

2.6 4.8

40.9 2.2

35.9 48.5

2.4
265.0 227.1

42.1 4I9i
0.1 18.4

175.7 116.0

46.2 57.9

202.8 277.9

2.0 2.0

0.7 0.7

231.9 227.7

63.4 8.2

42.4 69.5

253.6 289.7

6.0 6.0

259.6 295.7

1377.5 1414.7
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in millions except per share information

SaIes

Operating costs and expenses

Selling general and administrative expensesetstttas
Excess insurance proceeds

Operating income lossSr
Interest expense net

Equity in net loss of investments in affiliates

Gain on business combination

Income before income taxes

Net income

Basic

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Diluted

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

rtS4% -169.9

t/ 4aai 7793

93.9 115.0 76.0

toto

43.5

121.4 67.5 150.1
-L

21.5 31.1 53.5

79.7

ana
120.3

186.3 101.9 160.0

140.9 66.9 101.4

2.10 1.30 2.33

i4j3

SL J4t53
68.35 52.80 43.53

See accompanying notes

64



Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

140s 66.9 iOiANet income

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized net actuarial gain iossan4yior serviceicostrelated to pension
and OPEB plans ifl of tax spt S264A3t5lnd $44
resptcnvely

Reclassification of amounts related to pension and OPEB plans realized in

net income net of tax of $2.2 $1.9 and $2.8 respectively 3.8 3.5 4.6

45

Reclassification of derivative amounts realized in net income net of tax

benefit of $35.8 $29.9 and $62.4 respectively
_______________________________________________

Total other comprthensiye inenme loss _______________________________________
Total comprehensive income

See accompanying notes

62.9 52.2 109.9

4$14
29.0 8.4 47.9

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME LOSS

in millions
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

in millions

0.3 0.3

Stock compónsation expense

awards 1.5 1.5

Balance December 2009 0.4 16 75.1 144.8 6.0 92.2

Net income 66.9 66.9

ther corn prehen

income loss 75.3 75.3

issuance of common shares

for equity offerings
0.3 205.6 205.9

Issuance of couiinou shares

for sharebased pa merit

arrancements
--

Stock compensation expense

related to equity-based

awards 5.9 5.9

Balance December 2010 0.7 227.7 8.2 69.5 6.0 295.7

Net income 140.9 140.9

ther comprehensi

income loss
.9 .9

Issuance of common shares

for share-based payment

arrangements
0.7

Stock conipensation expense

related to equit\ based

av ards
--

Excess tax benefit related to

share-basCd payment

arrangements
0.7

idends to shareholders

Sf03 per share 69.3

Distribution to optionholders

@$1.O0peroption 1.8 1.8

Balance December 2U 0.7 231 .9 63.4 42.4 6.0 259.6

See accompanying notes

Retained

Capital in earnings

Preferred Common excess of par accumulated

stock stock value deficit

Accumulated

other

comprehensive
income loss

Non-

controlling

interest

Total

equity

Balance December 31 2008 0.4 14.4 176.5 198.3 36.6

Net income 101.4 101.4

Other compehensive

income Os 53.5 53.5

Noncontroll inc interest
6.0 6.0

R-eptwchase Mcommon
shares 0.1 .. 0.1

Issuance of common shares

for sharebased pa meni

arrangements

0.7

4.6

0.7

69.3
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in millions

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating

activities

Depreciation and amortization

Non-cash interest expense

Last in first out and lower of cost or market inventory adjustments

Loss on disposal of assets

Insurance proceeds applied to capital expenditures

Goodwill and other intangible assets impairment

Gain on hedging activities net of cash settlements

Settlements from hedge terminations net

Gain loss on debt repurchase

Gain on business combination

Equity in net loss of investments in affiliates

Deferred income taxes

Share-based compensation expense

Excess tax benefit related to share-based payment arrangements

Changes in other assets

Changes in pension other post-retirement and other long-term

liabilities

Changes in current operating assets and liabilities

Accounts receivable net

Inventories net

Taxes receivable and taxes payable

Other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued liabilities

Cash provided by operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from insurance related to capital expenditures

Proceeds from sale of property plant and equipment

Cash acquired in business combination

Cash used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of common shares equity offerings

Proceeds from issuance of common shares share-based payment

arrangements

Dividends paid to shareholders

Distributions paid to optionholders

Repurchase of common shares

Borrowings on revolving credit facility

Repayments on revolving credit facility

Repayments of long-term debt

Excess tax benefit related to share-based payment arrangements

Cash used in financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period

Cash and cash equivalents end of period

See accompanying notes
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0.1
13.0

15.5

211.7

214.0

17.5

184.7

167.2

da

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

140.9 66.9 101.4

97.7 98.7 93.4

11.7 23.7 41.4

12.6 4.1 15.4

3.3 4.0 9.4

11.5

108.0

15.6 64.6 68.9

164.6 120.8

0.1 211.2

120.3
79.7

24.4 14.8 58.0

5.3 5.9 1.5

0.7

6.7 10.0 0.9

14.3 0.6 2.9

24.0 45.3 8.5

25.0 23.0

1.9 5.6 12.0

17.9 15.8 12.7
7.2 9.7 5.0

19.4 2.5 0.4

140.6 270.9 220.5

64.6 61.3 46.7

u.s

2.6 0.2 0.1

11.1

62.0 61.1 24.0

205.9

0.7 0.1 0.3

69.3

1.8

0.7

69.7

8.9

33.8

42.7

215.9

333.3

343.2

133.4

167.2

33.8



NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization Consolidation and Basis of Presentation

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Noranda Noranda HoldCo the Company we our and us and our wholly

owned subsidiary Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation Noranda AcquisitionCo were formed by affiliates of Apollo

Management L.P Apollo on March 27 2007 for the purpose of acquiring Noranda Intermediate Holding Corporation Noranda

Intermediate which owns all of the outstanding shares of Noranda Aluminum Inc

On May 18 2007 Noranda AcquisitionCo purchased all of the outstanding shares of Noranda Intermediate from Xstrata PLC

together with its subsidiaries Xstrata and Xstrata Schweiz A.G direct wholly owned subsidiary of Xstrata This transaction is

referred to as the Apollo Acquisition Noranda HoldCo and Noranda AcquisitionCo had no assets or operations prior to the Apollo

Acquisition In connection with the Apollo Acquisition Noranda AcquisitionCo incurred $1010.0 million of funded debt consisting of

$500.0 million term loan and ii $510.0 million of senior floating rate notes and entered into $250.0 million revolving credit

facility which was undrawn at the date of the Apollo Acquisition In addition to the debt incurred affiliates of Apollo contributed cash

of $214.2 million to us which was then contributed to Noranda AcquisitionCo The purchase price forNoranda Intermediate was $1150.0

million excluding acquisition costs Subsequent to the Apollo Acquisition certain members of our management contributed $1.9 million

in cash through the purchase of common shares

Through August 2009 we held 50% interest in Gramercy and in St Ann discussed below Our investments in these non-

controlled entities in which we had the ability to exercise equal or significant influence over operating and financial policies were

accounted for by the equity method On August 2009 we entered into an agreement with Century Aluminum Company together with

its subsidiaries Century whereby we would become the sole owner of both Gramercy and St Ann The transaction Joint Venture

Transaction closed on August 31 2009 see Note 22 Joint Venture Transaction

On May 19 2010 we completed an initial public offering IPO of 11.5 million shares of common stock at an $8.00 per share

public offering price on the New York Stock Exchange NYSE NOR The net proceeds after the underwriting discounts commissions

fees and expenses
amounted to $82.9 million We used those net proceeds from the offering together with $95.9 million of proceeds from

settling all outstanding fixed price aluminum hedges to repurchase the $66.3 million remaining principal amount of outstanding Holdco

Notes and to repay $110.0 million principal amount outstanding under the term loan The remaining $2.5 million was used for other

Corporate purposes See Note 15 Shareholders Equity for further discussion on the Companys common stock offerings

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally

accepted in the United States of America U.S GAAP In managements opinion the consolidated financial statements include all

normal and recurring adjustments that are considered necessary for the fair presentation of our financial position and operating results

including the elimination of all intercompany accounts and transactions among wholly owned subsidiaries Certain reclassifications have

been made to previously issued consolidated financial statements to conform to the current period presentation These reclassifications

had no impact on net income or net cash flows

Segment Reporting

We are vertically integrated producer of value-added primary aluminum and high quality rolled aluminum coils Our principal

operations include an aluminum smelter in New Madrid Missouri New Madrid and four rolling mill plants in the southeastern United

States New Madrid is supported by our alumina refinery in Gramercy Louisiana Noranda Alumina LLC or Gramercy and bauxite

mining operation in St Ann Jamaica Noranda Bauxite Limited or St Ann As discussed further in Note Segments we report

our activities in five segments our Bauxite segment comprises the operations of St Ann our Alumina segment comprises the operations

ofGramercy our Primary Aluminum segment comprises the operations ofNew Madrid and our Flat-Rolled Products segment comprises

our ftur rolling mills which are located in Huntingdon Tennessee Salisbury North Carolina and Newport Arkansas Our Corporate

expenses represent our fifth segment

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes These estimates affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date ofthe consolidated financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period Actual results could differ from these estimates

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents comprise cash and short-term highly liquid investments with initial maturities of three months or less We place

our temporary cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions which include moneymarket funds invested in U.S Treasury

securities short-term treasury bills and commercial paper We consider our investments in money market funds to be available for use

in our operations
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the invoiced amount and do not bear interest The allowance for doubtful accounts is

our best estimate of the amount of probable credit losses in our existing accounts receivable however changes in circumstances relating

to accounts receivable may result in requirement for additional allowances in the future We determine the allowance based on historical

write-off experience current market trends and in some cases our assessment of the customers ability to pay outstanding balances

Account balances are charged against the allowance after all collection efforts have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is

considered remote

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower ofcost or market LCM We use the last-in-first-out LIFO method ofvaluing raw materials

work-in-process and finished goods inventories at our New Madrid smelter and our rolling mills Inventories at Gramercy and St Ann

and supplies at New Madrid are valued at weighted average cost The remaining inventories principally supplies are stated at cost using

the first-in first-out FIFO method Our flat-rolled products segments inventories our bauxite inventory at St Ann and our alumina

and bauxite inventories at Gramercy are valued using standard costing system which gives rise to cost variances Variances are capitalized

to inventory in proportion to the quantity of inventory remaining at period end to quantities produced during the period Variances are

recorded such that ending inventory reflects actual costs based on the normal capacity of the production facilities and excluding abnormal

amounts of idle facility expense freight handling and spoilage Maintenance supplies expected to be used in the next twelve months

are included in inventories

Property Plant and Equipment

Property plant and equipment are recorded at cost Betterments renewals and repairs that extend the life of the asset are capitalized

other maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred Major replacement spare parts are capitalized and depreciated over

the lesser of the spare parts useful life or remaining useful life of the associated piece of equipment Assets asset retirement obligations

and accumulated depreciation accounts are relieved for dispositions or retirements with resulting gains or losses recorded as selling

general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statements of operations Depreciation is based on the estimated service lives of

the assets computed principally by the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of our long-lived assets for possible impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the

carrying amounts may not be recoverable Long-lived assets are grouped and evaluated for impairment at the lowest levels for which

there are identifiable cash flows that are independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets If it is determined that the carrying

amounts of such long-lived assets are not recoverable the assets are written down to their estimated fair value

We transfer net property and equipment to assets held for sale when plan to dispose of the assets has been committed to by

management Assets transferred to assets held for sale are recorded at the lesser of their estimated fair value less estimated costs to sell

or canying amount Depreciation expense is not recorded for an asset held for sale

Intangible assets with definite life primarily customer relationships are amortized over their expected lives and are tested for

impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable

Self-Insurance

We are primarily self-insured for workers compensation The self-insurance liability is determined based on claims filed but not

paid and an estimate of claims incurred but not yet reported Based on actuarially determined estimates and discount rates of 0.4% in

2011 and 0.6% in 2010 as of December 31 2011 and 2010 we had $4.6 million and $4.1 million respectively of accrued liabilities and

$13.1 million and $11.6 million respectively of other long-term liabilities related to these claims

As of December 31 2011 and 2010 we held $1.9 million and $3.4 million respectively in restricted cash account to secure the

payment ofworkerscompensation obligations This restricted cash is included in noncurrent other assets in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition consideration paid over the fair value of identifiable net tangible and identifiable

intangible assets acquired Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment at

least annually in the fourth quarter or earlier upon the occurrence of certain triggering events

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment at the reporting unit level which in our circumstances are the same as our reportable

segments We evaluate goodwill for impairment using two-step process The first step is to compare the fair value of each of our reporting

units to their respective book values including goodwill If the fair value of reporting unit exceeds its book value reporting unit goodwill
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is not considered impaired and the second step of the impairment test is not required lithe book value of reporting unit exceeds its fair

value the second step of the impairment test is performed to measure the amount of impairment loss if any The second step of the

impairment test compares the implied fair value of the reporting units goodwill with the book value of that goodwill If the book value

of the reporting units goodwill exceeds the implied fair value of that goodwill an impairment loss is recognized in an amount equal to

that excess The implied fair value of goodwill is determined in the same manner as the amount of goodwill recognized in business

combination See Note Goodwill and Note Other Intangible Assets for further information

In 2011 the Financial Accounting Standards Board FASB issued new accounting guidance that simplifies goodwill impairment

tests The new guidance states that qualitative assessment may be performed to determine whether further impairment testing is

necessary We will adopt this accounting standard upon its effective date for periods beginning on or after December 15 2011 and do

not anticipate that this adoption will have significant impact on our financial position or results of operations

Deferred Financing Costs

Costs relating to obtaining debt are capitalized and amortized over the term of the related debt using the straight-line method

which approximates the effective interest method When all or portion of loan is repaid associated amounts of unamortized financing

costs are removed from the related accounts and charged to interest expense

Environmental Liabilities and Remediation Costs

Environmental liabilitie

We are subject to environmental regulations which may create legal obligations to remediate or monitor certain environmental

conditions present at our thcilities Liabilities for these obligations are accrued when it is probable that liability has been incurred and

the amount of loss can reasonably be estimated

The measurement ot environmental liabilities is based on an evaluation of currently available information with respect to each

individual site and considers factors such as existing technology presently enacted laws and regulations and prior experience in

remediation of contaminated sites An environmental liability related to cleanup of contaminated site might include for example an

accrual fbr one or more of the following types of costs site investigation and testing costs cleanup costs costs related to soil and water

contamination post-remediation monitoring costs and outside legal fees

As assessments and remediation progress at individual sites the amount of projected cost is reviewed periodically and the liability

is adjusted to reflect additional technical and legal information that becomes available Actual costs to be incurred at identified sites in

future periods may vary from the estimates given inherent uncertainties in evaluating environmental exposures Refer to Note

Commitments and Contingencies for additional information on our environmental liabilities

Environmental liabilities are undiscounted The long and short-term portions of the environmental liabilities are recorded on the

balance sheet in other long-term liabilities and accrued liabilities respectively

Environmental remediation costs

Costs incurred to improve our property as compared to the condition of the property when originally acquired or to prevent

environmental contamination from future operations are capitalized as incurred We expense environmental costs related to existing

conditions resulting from past or current operations and from which no current or future benefit is discernable

Asset Retirement Obligations

We are subject to environmental regulations which may create legal obligations related to the disposal of certain assets at the end

of their lives We recognize liabilities at fair value for existing legal asset retirement obligations Such liabilities are adjusted for accretion

costs and revisions in estimated cash flows The related asset retirement costs are capitalized as increases to the carrying amount of the

associated long-lived assets and accumulated depreciation on these capitalized costs is recognized

Reclamation Obligation

St Ann has an obligation to rehabilitate land disturbed by St Anns Bauxite mining operations The reclamation process is governed

by the Government of.lamaica GOJ regulations and includes filling the open mining pits and planting vegetation GOJ regulations

require the reclamation process to be completed within certain period from the date mining pit is mined-out generally three years

Liabilities for reclamation are accrued as lands are disturbed and are based on the approximate acreage to be rehabilitated and the average

expected cost per acre

Land Obligation

In cases where land to be mined is privately owned St Ann agrees to purchase the residents property including land crops

homes and other improvements in exchange for consideration paid in the form of cash commitment to relocate the residents to another
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area or combination of these two options the St Ann Land Obligation We account for the costs associated with fulfilling the St

Ann Land Obligation by recording an asset included in other assets in our consolidated balance sheets for the estimated cost of the

consideration with corresponding liability included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities in our consolidated balance

sheets We amortize those costs over three-year period representing the approximate time the land is used for mining purposes including

reclamation the Mining Period

In addition to the St Ann Land Obligation we have an agreement with the GOJ which requires us to fulfill obligations that pre

date St Anns partnership with the GOJ The costs to fulfill those obligations will be reimbursed by the GOJ up to $4.3 million limit

St Ann bears
any costs in excess of that limit the Predecessor Land Obligation At December 31 2011 we believe our costs to fulfill

the Predecessor Land Obligation will exceed the $4.3 million limit by $2.4 million and we have recorded such amount as liability in

our consolidated financial statements

For both the St Ann Land Obligation and the Predecessor Land Obligation we record the costs to acquire and develop the assets

to be used to satisfy the obligations such as land land improvements and housing as property plant and equipment in our consolidated

balance sheets As cash is paid or title to land land improvements and houses is transferred we remove those assets from our financial

statements and reduce the land obligation

Relocating residents occurs often over several years requiring management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

reported amount ofassets and liabilities at the date ofthe consolidated financial statements Actual results could differ from these estimates

As such estimates of the cost to fulfill the St Ann Land Obligation and the Predecessor Land Obligation are subject to revision therefore

it is reasonably possible that further adjustments to our liabilities may be necessary

As revisions are made we amortize such adjustments prospectively over the remaining amortization period in cases where the

Mining Period has not been completed As revisions are made in cases where the Mining Period is complete we record such adjustments

as additional amortization expense in the period of revision

Pensions and Other Post-Retirement Benefits

We sponsor defined benefit pension and OPEB plans for which we recognize expenses assets and liabilities based on actuarial

assumptions regarding the valuation of benefit obligations and the future performance of plan assets We recognize the funded status of

the plans as an asset or liability in the consolidated financial statements measure defined benefit pension and OPEB plan assets and

obligations as of the end of our fiscal year and recognize the change in the funded status of defined benefit pension and OPEB plans in

other comprehensive income The primary assumptions used in calculating pension and OPEB expense and liabilities are related to the

discount rates at which the future obligations are discounted to value the liability expected rate of return on plan assets and projected

salary increases These rates are estimated annually as of December 31

Pension and OPEB benefit obligations are actuarially calculated using managements best estimates and based on expected service

periods salary increases and retirement ages of employees Pension and OPEB benefit expense includes the actuarially computed cost

of benefits earned during the current service periods the interest cost on accrued obligations the expected return on plan assets based

on fair market value and the straight-line amortization of net actuarial gains and losses and adjustments due to plan amendments All net

actuarial gains and losses are amortized over the expected average remaining service life of the employees

Post-Employment Benefits

We provide certain benefits to former or inactive employees after employment but before retirement and accrue for the related

cost over the service lives of the employees These benefits include among others disability severance and workers compensation We

are self-insured for these liabilities At December 312011 we carried liability totaling $0.6 million for these benefits based on actuarially

determined estimates These estimates have not been discounted due to the short duration of the future payments

Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

Derivatives are reported on the balance sheet at fair value For derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges the

effective portion of changes in fair value are initially recorded in other comprehensive income OCI as separate component of equity

and subsequently reclassified into earnings in the period during which the hedged transaction is recognized in earnings The ineffective

portion of changes in fair value is reported in gain loss on hedging activities immediately For derivative instruments not designated as

cash flow hedges changes in the fair values are reported in gain loss on hedging activities in the period of change

U.S GAAP permits entities that enter into master netting arrangements with the same counterparty as part of their derivative

transactions to offset in their consolidated financial statements net derivative positions against the fair value of amounts recognized for

the right to reclaim cash collateral or the obligation to return cash collateral under those arrangements

Financial Instruments

Our financial instruments consist of cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable derivative assets and liabilities accounts
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payable and long-term debt due to third parties Financial instruments expose us to market and credit risks which at times may be

concentrated with certain groups of counterparties We periodically evaluate the financial condition of our counterparties and take

appropriate action to minimize our risk of loss We generally do not require collateral for trade receivables At December 31 2011 there

were no financial instrument counterparties about whom we have substantial doubts as to their ability to perform their obligations Cash

investments are held with major financial institutions and trading companies including registered broker dealers The carrying values and

lair values of our third-party debt and derivative instruments outstanding and are presented in Note 10 Long-Term Debt and Note 14

Derivative Financial Instruments The remaining financial instruments are carried at amounts that approximate fair value

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when title and risk of loss pass to customers in accordance with contract terms Shipping and handling

costs are classified as component of cost of sales in the consolidated statements of operations Shipping and handling revenue is classified

as component of sales in the consolidated statements of operations

Income Taxes

We account tor income taxes using the liability method whereby deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary

differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax

purposes In evaluating our ability to realize deferred tax assets we use judgment in considering the relative impact of negative and

positive evidence The weight given to the potential effect of negative and positive evidence is commensurate with the extent to which

it can be objectively verified Based on the weight of evidence both negative and positive if it is more likely than not that some portion

or all of deferred tax asset will not be realized valuation allowance is established

We must deal with uncertainties in the application of complex tax regulations in the calculation of tax liabilities We are subject

to routine income tax audits We provide for uncertain tax positions and the related interest and penalties based upon managements

assessment of whether tax benefit is more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities We make this assessment

based on only the technical merits of the tax position The technical merits of tax position are derived from both statutory and judicial

authority legislation and statutes legislative intent regulations rulings and case law and their applicability to the facts and circumstances

of the tax position If tax position does not meet the more likely than not recognition threshold the benefit of that position is not

recognized in the consolidated financial statements and liability for unrecognized tax benefits is established tax position that meets

the more likely than not recognition threshold is measured to determine the amount of benefit to recognize in the consolidated financial

statements The tax benefit recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon

ultimate resolution with taxing authority To the extent that we prevail in matters for which liability for an unrecognized tax benefit

is established or are required to pay amounts in excess of the liability established our effective tax rate in given financial statement

period may be affected

Share-Based Payments

We account for employee equity awards under the fair value method Accordingly we measure the cost of employee services

received in exchange fbr an award of equity instruments based on the grant date fair value of the award The fair value of each stock

option is estimated on the grant date using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation model The application of this valuation model involves

assumptions that require judgment and are highly sensitive in the determination of compensation expense The fair value of each restricted

share and each restricted stock unit equals the closing stock price on the grant date We recognize stock compensation expense on

straight-line basis over the vesting period for all equity instruments

We account Rr share-based payment awards to be settled in cash as liability awards We remeasure the fair value of the liability

at each reporting date based on the closing stock price on the reporting date We adjust stock compensation expense at each reporting

date so that the amount ultimately recorded as stock compensation expense will equal the cash paid on the vesting date

Dividends

The declaration of dividends is at the discretion of our Board of Directors The amount of cash dividends declared on our common

stock is dependent upon our financial results cash requirements future prospects and other factors deemed relevant by the Board We

record liability for dividends on the declaration date We record cash dividend payments as reduction to retained earnings

Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share EPS is calculated as income available to common stockholders divided by the weighted-average

number of shares outstanding during the period Diluted EPS is calculated using the weighted-average outstanding common shares

determined using the treasury stock method for options

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The primary economic currency of our Jamaican Bauxite mining operation is the U.S dollar Certain transactions however such
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as salary and wages and local vendor payments are made in currencies other than the U.S dollar These transactions are recorded at the

rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items and on the re-translation of monetary items are immaterial and

are included in selling general and administrative expenses
in the consolidated statements of operations

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ASU No 2011-05 Comprehensive Income Topic 220

Presentation of Comprehensive Income ASU 2011 -05 which is effective for interim or annual periods beginning after December 15

2011 with early adoption permitted ASU 20 11-05 increases the prominence of items reported in OCI and eliminates the option to present

components of OCI as part of the statement of equity We adopted ASU 2011-05 as of October 2011 and it did not have material

impact on our consolidated financial statements other than the presentation thereof We now present separate statement of comprehensive

income

In December 2011 the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No 2011-12 Deferral of the Effective Date for Amendments

to the Presentation of Reclassflcation of Items Out ofAccumulated Other Comprehensive Income in Accounting Standards Update No

2011-05 ASU 2011-12 ASU 2011-12 defers the requirement in ASU 2011-05 to present reclassification adjustments for each

component of accumulated OCI AOCI in both OCT and net income on the face of the financial statements At the time this deferral

expires the presentation of our consolidated financial statements may change

SEGMENTS

We manage and operate our business segments based on the markets we serve and the products we produce

During first quarter 2010 in connection with continued integration activities of our alumina refinery in Gramercy and our bauxite

mining operations in St Ann we changed the composition of our reportable segments Those integration activities included re-evaluation

of the financial information provided to our Chief Operating Decision Maker as that term is defined in U.S GAAP As result we

identified five reportable segments

Bauxite Mines and produces the bauxite used for alumina production at our Gramercy refinery and the remaining bauxite

not taken by the refinery is sold to third party

Alumina Chemically refines and converts bauxite into alumina which is the principal raw material used in the production

of Primary Aluminum The Gramercy refinery is the source for the vast majority of our New Madrid smelters alumina

requirements The remaining alumina production at the Gramercy refinery that is not taken by New Madrid is in the form of

smelter grade alumina and alumina hydrate or chemical grade alumina and is sold to third parties

Primary Aluminum Produces value-added aluminum products in several forms including billet rod high purity sow and

foundry The Primary Aluminum segment also produces commodity grade sow

Flat-Rolled Products Has rolling mill facilities whose major foil products are finstock and container stock

Corporate Reflects costs of corporate operations

During third quarter 2010 as we continued to formalize our internal reporting practices we revised our segment performance

measure to be segment profit loss rather than the previously reported U.S GAAP basis segment operating income Segment profit

in which certain items primarily non-recurring costs or non-cash expenses are not allocated to the segments and in which certain items

primarily the income statement effects of current period cash settlements of hedges are allocated to the segments is measure used by

management as basis for resource allocation We have retrospectively adjusted our segment results for 2009 to conform to the updated

segment performance measure The segment changes discussed above had no impact on our historical consolidated financial position

results of operations or cash flows

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note Accounting Policies

Major Customer Information

During 2010 and 2009 we had no major customers which derived more than 10% of our consolidated revenue In 2011 sales to

one customer within our Alumina segment totaled $148.6 million nearly 10% of our consolidated revenue

Geographic Region Information

Substantially all of our sales are within the United States Revenues from external customers attributed to foreign countries were

immaterial during 2011 2010 and 2009 All long-lived assets are located in the United States except those assets of our bauxite mining

operation in Jamaica which totaled $57.3 million at December 31 2011 and $56.3 million at December 31 2010
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The fhlloing is operating and asset information for our reportable segments in millions

Sales

External customers

lntersegment

Total sales

Segment profit loss

Depreciation and amortization

Capital expenditures

Segment profit loss

Depreciation and amortization

Last in first out and lower of cost

or market inventory adjustments

Gain loss on disposal of assets

Non-cash pension accretion and

stock compensation

Restructuring relocation and

severance

Consulting and sponsor fees

Cash settlements on hedging

transactions

Other net

Operating income loss

Interest expense net

Gain on hedging activities net

Total other income

Income before income taxes

Year ended December 31 2011

Primary Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

68.0 234.9 645.7 611.2 1559.8

83.0 168.2 78.4 329.6

15 1.0 403.1 724.1 611.2 329.6 1559.8

18.5 78.4 140.3 48.3279 4.3 261.9

10.8 21.0 46.0 18.6 1.3 97.7

8.2 14.0 30.3 11.1 1.0 64.6

Year ended December 31 2011

Primary Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

18.5 78.4 140.3 48.3 27.9 4.3 261.9

10.8 21.0 46.0 18.6 1.3 97.7

5.5 8.7 1.6 12.6

0.7 2.8 1.2 3.3

0.4 0.6 2.9 2.5 6.0 12.4

0.2 1.2 0.9 0.6 2.9

0.1 2.2 2.3

0.3 0.4 0.1

0.7 3.4 5.1 9.2

8.0 55.9 82.2 15.9 41.4 0.8 121.4

21.5

86.4

64.9

186.3
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Year ended December 31 2010

Primar Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

Sales

External customers 54.9 222.8 495.9 521.3 1294.9

Intersegment 65.5 142.6 125.4 0.1 333.6

Total sales 120.4 365.4 621.3 521.4 333.6 1294.9

Segment profit loss 23.8 61.9 112.2 50.0 26.9 4.9 216.1

Depreciation and amortization 9.6 19.3 48.3 20.5 1.0 98.7

Capital expenditures 7.7 11.1 26.4 14.3 1.8 61.3

Year ended December 31 2010

Primar Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

Segment profit loss 23.8 61.9 112.2 50.0 26.9 4.9 216.1

Depreciation and amortization 9.6 19.3 48.3 20.5 1.0 98.7

Last in first out and lower of cost or

market inventory adjustments
6.1 3.7 1.7 4.1

Loss on disposal of assets 3.3 0.6 0.1 4.0

Non cash pension accretion and

stock compensation 0.8 1.1 3.3 2.4 7.3 14.9

Restructuring relocation and

severance 3.2 1.5 2.0 1.5 3.7 11.9

Consulting and sponsor fees 18.9 18.9
Cash settlements on hedging

transactions 0.1 2.5 2.4

Other net 0.1 1.1 0.1 0.7 4.5 6.3

Operating income loss 10.3 41.1 49.2 26.2 57.2 2.1 67.5

Interest expense net 31.1

Gain on hedging activities net 65.6

Loss on debt repurchase 0.1

Total other income 34.4

Income before income taxes 101.9
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Sa1es

External customers

Inteffe

Total sales

Segment profit 1oss

Depreciation and amortization

Capital expenditures

Segment profit loss

Depreciation and amortization net

Joint Venture E1ITBA
Last in first out and lower of cost

or market inventory adjustments

Loss tiaposa1 fassets net

Non-cash pension accretion and

stock compensation

Restructuring r1ocation and

sevelance

Consulting and
sponsor

fees

Cash setUemen$ on hedging

transactiOns

Power outage

Goodwifl erbitangible asset

iinparnient

Other net

Operating loss

Interest expense net

Gain on hedging activities net

Equity in net loss of investments in affiliates

Gain on debt repurchase

Gain on business combination

Total other income

Income before income taxes

Segment assets

Bauxite

Al urn ma

Primary Aluminum

Flat-Rolled Products

Corporate

Eliminations

da
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December 31

2011 2010

148.3 135.2

241.7 229.2

574.5 605.4

367.5 411.9

83.6 74.3

38.1 41.3

L377.5 1414.7

Year ended December 31 2009

Primary Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

14.6 56.5 290.4 408.4 769.9

20Q 21.7 .49.9 .. 74
34.6 84.2 340.3 408.4 97.6 769.9

12.3 23 4.9 3$1 Z8d43 20 19.6

4.6 6.1 59.2 23.1 0.4 93.4

L6 1.9 37.7 3.7 1.8 46.7

Year ended December 31 2009

Primary Flat-Rolled

Bauxite Alumina Aluminum Products Corporate Eliminations Consolidated

12.3 2.3 4.9 35.1 28.4 I96

4.6 6.1 52.4 23.1 0.4 86.6

10.4 10.4

6.5 8.9 15.4

4.0 3.3 73

0.2 0.1 4.4 3.7 2.4 10.8

0.8 0.4 O.1 09
5.8 5.8

10.1 132 33
30.6 30.6

108fl

8.6 0.3 4.2 1.1 4.9 2.0

1.1 9.6 23.7 82.7 3.0

108.0

7.3

i$0
53.5

111.8

79.7

211.2

120.3

310.1

160.0
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SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL STATEMENT INFORMATION

Consolidated statements of cash flows

Depreciation and amortization in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows comprised depreciation of property

plant and equipment and other amortization of intangible assets and amortization of other long-term assets as follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Depreciation of property plant and equipment 84.6 88.8 87.3

Amortization of intangible assets 5.9 6.0 4.3

Amortization of other long-term assets 7.2 3.9 1.8

Total depreciation and amortization 97.7 98.7 93.4

Cash paid for interest and income taxes was as follows in millions

_________________________________$ ________________________________

Interest paid 106

U.S Federal and state income taxes paid refunds received 78.8 14.2

Jamaican income taxes paid 4.0 10.0

See Note 10 Long-Term Debt for discussion of interest paid-in-kind during 2011 2010 and 2009

Purchases of property plant and equipment accrued in accounts payable and not yet paid were $8.7 million and $6.3 million for

the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively and are not reflected as capital expenditures in the consolidated statements

of cash flows For the years ended December 31 2011 and 2010 we capitalized interest of $0.9 million and $0.4 million respectively

related to long-term capital projects Accrued capital expenditures and capitalized interest for the year ended December 31 2009 were

immaterial

Consolidated statements of equity

Changes in AOCI were as follows in millions

Accumulated tax

benefit expense
Unrealized net related to unrealized Accumulated tax

actuarial gain loss net actuarial gain benefit expense

prior service cost and loss prior service cost related to unrealized

other related to and other related to Unrealized gain loss gain or loss on Total net of

pension and OPEB pension and OPEB on derivatives derivatives tax

Balance December 31 2008 104 39 414 1503 198

Amounts recorded to OCI
for the year ended

December31 2009 10.8 4.1 70.5 25.4 51.8

Reclassification of amounts

realizedinnetincome 7.4 2.8 112.3 624 105.3

Balance December31 2009 86.4 32.2 312.3 113.3 144.8

Amounts recorded to OCI
for the year ended

December3l20l0 18.4 6.5 2.3.1 8.4 26.6

Reclassification of amounts

realized in net income 5.4 1.9 82.1 29.9 48.7

Balance December 31 2010 99.4 36.8 207.1 75.0 69.5

Amounts recorded to OCI
for the year ended

December31 2011 70.4 26.6 14.3 5.3 52.8

Reclassification of amounts

realized in net income 6.0 2.2 98.7 35.8 59.1

Balance December 312011 163.8 61.2 94.1 33.9 42.4

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

17.3

11.8
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Cash and cash equivalents consisted of the following in millions

December 31

2011 2010

Cash 39.8 12.4

Money market funds 2.9 21 .4

Total cash and cash equivalents 42.7 33

Accounts receivable net consisted of the following in millions

Trade

Allowance for doubtful accounts

Total accounts receivable net

Other current assets consisted of the following in millions

December 31

2011 2010

107.7 131.8

0.1 0.2
107.6 131.6

December31

2011 2010

Current foreigndeferredtax asset 3.3 2.8

Employee loans receivable net 2.2 2.1

Current derivative assets see Note 14 Derivative Financial Instruments

Restricted cash see Note Commitments and Contingencies 30.1 9.8

Other current assets _______________________________

Total other current assets

Other assets consisted of the following in millions

Deferred frnancing coats net of amortization

Cash surrender value of life insurance

Pension asset see Note 12 Pensions and Other Post-Retirement Benefita

Restricted cash see Note Accounting Policies and Note 11 Reclamation Land and

Asset Retirement Obligations

3.7 4.5

41.3 19.2

December 31

2011 2010

8.1

Supplies
127

Prepaid Jamaican income taxes 6.0

Other 100

Total other assets
81 .6

25.1

7.0

12.7

11.0

24.0

5.9

13.6

16.1

5.0

10.0

85.6
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Accrued liabilities consisted of the following in millions

December 31

2011 2010

26.7Compensation and benefits 22.5

Workers compensation 4.6 4.1

Other operating expenses 11.1 10.7

Power rate case related accruals see Note Commitments and Contingencies 30.1 9.8

Accrued interest 2.4 0.3

Asset retirement obligations see Note 11 Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement

Obligations 1.8 2.2

Land obligation see Note 11 Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement Obligations 4.3 2.2

Reclamation obligation see Note II Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement

Obligations 2.8 2.8

Environmental remediation obligations see Note Commitments and Contingencies 1.9 2.0

Obligations to the Government of Jamaica see Note 20 Non-Controlling Interest 4.7 4.0

Pension and other post-retirement liabilities see Note 12 Pensions and Other Post-

Retirement Benefits 0.9 0.7

Restricted stock unit liability awards see Note 16 Share-Based Payments __________________________________

Total accrued liabilities

Other long-term liabilities consisted of the following in millions

0.2

87.3 65.5

December 31

2011 2010

Reserve for uncertain tax positions see Note 18 Income Taxes 10.5

Workers compensation 13.1 11.6

Asset retirement obligations see Note 11 Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement

Obligations 13.9 12.7

Land obligation see Note 11 Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement Obligations 8.9 4.5

Reclamation obligation see Note 11 Reclamation Land and Asset Retirement

Obligations
18 6.6

Environmental remediation obligations see Note Commitments and Contingencies 2.2 2.3

Deferred interest payable 2.3

Deferred compensation and other 5.5 7.4

Total other long-term liabilities 46.2 57.9

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer liability in an orderly transaction

between market participants at the measurement date exit price We incorporate assumptions that market participants would use in

pricing the asset or liability and utilize market data to the maximum extent possible Our fair value measurements incorporate

nonperformance risk i.e the risk that an obligation will not be fulfilled In measuring fair value we reflect the impact of our own credit

risk on our liabilities as well as any collateral We also consider the credit standing of our counterparties in measuring the fair value of

our assets

We use any of three valuation techniques to measure fair value the market approach the income approach and the cost approach

We determine the appropriate valuation technique based on the nature of the asset or liability being measured and the reliability of the

inputs used in arriving at fair value

The inputs used in applying valuation techniques include assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability i.e assumptions about risk Inputs may be observable or unobservable We use observable inputs in our valuation techniques

and classify those inputs in accordance with the fair value hierarchy established by applicable accounting guidance which prioritizes

those inputs The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities Level measurement and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs Level measurement

Level inputs Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that we have access to as of the

reporting date Active markets are those in which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume
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to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis Our investments classified as Level include directly-held or broker-held

exchange-traded derivatives or listed equities

Level inputs Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level which are either directly or indirectly observable as of the

reporting date Level input must be observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability Fair value measurements

that may fall into Level could include financial instruments with observable inputs such as interest rates or yield curves

Level inputs Unobservable inputs that reflect our own assumptions about the assumptions market participants would use in

pricing the asset or liability Fair value measurements that may be classified as Level could for example be determined from

our internally developed model that results in our best estimate of fair value Fair value measurements that may fall into Level

could include certain structured derivatives or financial products that are specifically tailored to customers needs

Financial assets and liabilities are classified based on the lowest enumerated level of input that is significant to the fair value

measurement in its entirety Our assessment of the significance of particular input to the fair value measurement requires judgment

and may affect the fair value of assets and liabilities and their placement within the fair value hierarchy We recognize transfers between

Level or at the end of the reporting period

Valuations on recurring basis

The tables below set forth by level the fair value hierarchy of our assets and liabilities that were measured at fair value on recurring

basis in millions

December 31 2011

Level Level Level Total

Cash equivalents 2.9 2.9

Dcriatic assets 2.5 2.5

Derivative liabilities 41.5 41.5

RSI liahilit a.ards 0.2 0.2

Noranda pension plan assets

Fquit securities

Diversified common stocks 69.7 70.4 4.6 144.7

Ilohal equity securities -- 9.6 9.6

Diversified fixed income mutual fund 91.0 91.0

ash and cash equi alents .3 0.3 .6

Total Noranda pension plan assets 162.0 80.3 4.6 246.9

St Ann pension plan assets

Global equity securities 7.9 7.9

fixed income securities

GOJbonds 15.5 15.5

Global corporate bonds 0.7 0.7

Real estate 1.3 1.3

Other 3.0 3.0

Total St Ann peilsion plan assets 28.4 28.4

Total 164.7 69.7 4.6 239.0
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Cash equivalents

Derivative assets

Derivative liabilities

Noranda pension plan assets

Equity securities

Diversified common stock mutual fund

Other diversified common stocks

Global equity securities

Diversified fixed income mutual fund

Cash and cash equivalents

Total Noranda pension plan assets

St Ann pension plan assets

Global equity securities

Fixed income securities

GOJ bonds

Global corporate bonds

Real estate

Other

Total St Ann pension plan assets

Total

Fair value beginning of year

Additional investment

Return on assets

Fair value end of year

Year ended Year ended

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

36 0.2

0.5

LO 2.9

4.6 3.6

Cash equivalents are temporary cash investments with high credit quality financial institutions which include money market funds

invested in U.S treasury securities short-term treasury bills and commercial paper These instruments are valued based upon unadjusted

quoted prices in active markets and are classified within Level

Fair values of all derivative instruments are classified as Level and are primarily measured using industry standard models that

incorporate inputs including quoted forward prices for commodities interest rate curves and current market prices for those assets and

liabilities Substantially all of the inputs are observable throughout the full term of the instrument The counterparty of our derivative

trades is Merrill Lynch with the exception of small portion of our other hedging contracts related to Midwest premiums

In Note 16 Share-Based Payments we discuss RSU liability awards The fair value of this Level liability is determined based

on the closing market price of our common stock as of December 31 2011

Pension plan assets are valued based upon the fair market value of the underlying investments Plan assets directly invested in

active exchange-traded debt and equity securities are classified within Level Certain investments that do not have guaranteed liquidity

and certain investments in limited partnerships pooled investment funds or unit trusts are classified as Level or Level depending

on managements assessment of the liquidity or the transferability of the investment Underlying investments in limited partnerships for

which significant unobservable inputs were used to determine fair value are classified as Level within the hierarchy

During 2011 we reclassified the presentation of the fair values of our pension plan assets to be consistent with the presentation

within Note 12 Pensions and Other Post-Retirement Benefits As result we now present the Noranda pension plan assets separately

from the St Ann pension plan assets as shown in the tables below During 2011 we transferred certain of our pension assets namely

our diversified common stock mutual funds into collective trust which we have determined is appropriately classified as Level In

addition we reclassified $16.4 million of pension plan assets previously reported as Level as of December 31 2010 to Level because

these assets are in limited partnership or pooled investment fund The valuations of these assets did not change only the presentation

thereof

December 31 2010

Level Level Level Total

21.4 21.4

3.5 3.5

45.1 45.1

59.9 59.9

51.G 49.8 3.6 104.4

83.1 83.1

1.2 1.2

195.2 49.8 3.6 248.6

6.7 6.7

12.7 12.7

1.3 1.3

IA 1.4

2.0 2.0

24.1 24.1

216.6 32.3 3.6 252.5

Changes in the fair value of the pension plan assets classified as Level for the years ended December 2011 and 2010 were

as follows
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In Note 10 Long-Term Debt we disclose the fair values of our debt instruments We use bid prices obtained through broker

quotes to determine the fair value of our AcquisitionCo Notes The fair value of our AcquisitionCo Notes is classified as Level within

the hierarchy While the AcquisitionCo Notes have quoted market prices used to determine fair value we do not believe transactions of

those instruments occur in sufficient frequency or volume for Level classification The fair values of the term loan and revolving

credit facility are based on interest rates available at each balance sheet date These instruments are classified as Level also

Valuations on non-recurring basis

Goodwill trade names and investment in afjiliates

Fair value of goodwill trade names and investment in affiliates prior to the Joint Venture Transaction are measured using

managements assumptions about future profitability and cash flows Such assumptions include combination of discounted cash flow

and market-based valuations Discounted cash flow valuations require assumptions about future profitability and cash flows which we

believe reflects the best estimates at the date the valuations were performed Key assumptions used to determine discounted cash flow

valuations at March 2009 and June 30 2009 and December 31 2009 include cash flow periods ranging from five to seven years

terminal values based upon long-term growth rates ranging from .0% to 2.0% and discount rates based on risk-adjusted weighted

average cost of capital ranging from 12.5% to 13.8% for intangibles and to 19.0% for investment in affiliates

Joint Venture Transaction

The accounting for the Joint Venture Transaction involved number of individual measurements based on significant inputs that

are not observable in the market and therefore represent Level measurement

Fair value of consideration

Fair value of 50% equity interest The fair values of our existing 50% interests in Gramercy and St Ann were based on

discounted cash flow projections These projections required assumptions about future profitability and cash flows which we

believe reflected the best estimates of hypothetical market participant at August 2009 Key assumptions included cash

flow periods of five years terminal values based upon long-term growth rates ranging from 1.0% to 2.0% and discount

rates based on risk-adjusted weighted average cost of capital ranging from 17.0% to 20.0% Revenues included in the

discounted cash flow projections were based on forecasted aluminum prices on which alumina prices are based per the LME

and per aluminum analysts estimates while forecasted volumes were based on our projected alumina needs and estimated

third party customer demand Expenses were based primarily on historical experience adjusted for inflation and production

volume projections

Non-controlling interest The value of GOJs non-controlling interest in NJBP was calculated as 51% of the net fair value of

NJBPs assets and liabilities

Fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

Cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable other assets accounts payable and accrued liabilities balances were recorded

at their carrying values which approximated fair value

Inventories were valued at their net realizable value Except for supplies inventory the fair value of acquired inventories was

function of the inventories stage of production with separate values established for finished goods work-in-process and

raw materials Key inputs included ultimate selling price costs to complete in-process material and disposal or selling costs

along with an estimate of the profit margin on the sales effort

Property plant and equipment were valued using market approach where we were able to identify comparable sales of real

estate and used machinery and equipment Where comparable sales of used machinery and equipment were not available we

estimated fair value based on the replacement cost of new plant and equipment less depreciation and decreases in value due

to physical depreciation functional obsolescence and economic obsolescence Whether valuations were based on comparable

sales or depreciated replacement cost we considered the highest and best use for the assets being valued which was determined

to be their current use in the production of alumina or the mining of bauxite

Intangible assets consist of contractual and non-contractual customer relationships Valuations for these assets were based on

discounted cash flow projections These valuations require assumptions about future profitability and cash flows which we

believe reflected the best estimates ofa hypothetical market participant at August 31 2009 Key assumptions included cash

flow periods over the estimated contract lives based on customer retention rates and discount rates based on risk-adjusted

weighted-average cost of capital ranging from 20.0% to 23.0%

Asset retirement obligations and reclamation liabilities were valued at fair value using discounted cash flow approach with

credit-adjusted risk free rates ranging from 7.0% to 10.0%

82



NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The fair values of the pension benefit obligations were actuarially determined using the Projected Unit Credit method with

discount rates ranging from 5.3% to 5.7% for Gramercy and 16.0% for St Ann pension plan assets were valued based on the

fair market value of the underlying investments Net pension asset and liabilities were calculated as the excess or deficiency

of plan assets compared to benefit obligation

INVENTORIES

We use the LIFO method of valuing raw materials work-in-process and finished goods inventories at our New Madrid smelter

and our rolling mills Supplies inventories at our rolling mills are valued at FIFO Inventories at Gramercy and St Ann and supplies at

New Madrid are valued at weighted average cost and are not subject to the LIFO adjustment Gramercy and St Ann inventories comprise

approximately 26% and 25% of total inventories at cost at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively

Inventories net consisted of the following in millions

December 31

2011 2010

Raw materials at cost 71.2 61.3

Work-in-process at cost 51.7 66.1

Fmished goods at cost 26.3 27.7

Total inventories at cost 149.2 155.1

LIFO adjustment 10.3 13.1

LCMreserve 11.5

Inventories at lower of cost or market 148A 168.2

Supplies 38.5 32.9

Total inventories net 186.5 201.1

Work-in-process and finished goods inventories consist of the cost of materials labor and production overhead costs Supplies

inventory consists primarily of maintenance supplies expected to be used within the next twelve months Non-current maintenance

supplies are included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

An actual valuation of inventories valued under the LIFO method is made at the end of each year based on inventory levels and

costs at that time During the year ended December31 2011 we recorded LIFO loss of $3.6 million in the Flat-Rolled Products segment

due to decrements in inventory quantities During the year ended December 31 2010 we recorded LIFO loss of $0.1 million in the

Primary Aluminum segment due to decrements in inventory quantities

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property plant and equipment net consisted of the following in millions

December 31

Estimated useful

lives
2011 2010

in years

Land 49.2 47.5

Buildings and improvements 10 47 128.2 127.0

Machinery and equipment 50 831.3 817.6

Construction in
progress 59.1 34.5

Property plant and equipment at cost 1067.8 1026.6

Accumulated depreciation 368.0 306.7
Total property plant and equipment net 699.8 719.9

Cost of sales in our consolidated statements of operations includes depreciation expense on property plant and equipment of the

following amounts in millions
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Year ended December 31

2009 87.3

2010 88.8

2011 84.6

Depreciation expense for 2009 in the table above excludes the impact of any insurance recoveries related to the power outage

discussed in Note 21 2009 Insurance Claim

In August 2009 based on changes in expectations about the utilization of certain equipment we wrote off excess equipment of

the Flat-Rolled Products segment which was previously reported as construction in progress with net book value of $3.0 million

GOODWILL

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill were as follows in millions

Primary Aluminum

2008

Impairment

Balance December 31 2010

Impairments

Flat-Rolled Products

Gross Value of Cumulative

Goodwill Impairment

Gross Value of Cumulative

Goodwill Impairment
Total

13746 130

105.2 105.2

jw
137.6 130.7 130.7 137.6

In connection with the preparation of our consolidated financial statements for first quarter 2009 we concluded that it was

appropriate to evaluate our goodwill and intangible assets for potential impairment in light of the power outage at our New Madrid smelter

and the accelerated deterioration of demand volumes in both our Primary Aluminum and Flat-Rolled Products segments Based on our

interim impairment analysis during first quarter 2009 we recorded an impairment charge of $40.3 million on goodwill in the Flat-Rolled

Products segment In the second and third quarters of 2009 we noted no further impairment indicators regarding the recoverability of

goodwill therefore no goodwill impairment testing was necessary at June 30 2009 or September 30 2009

Our annual impairment test performed in the fourth quarters of2O 11 and 2010 resulted in no impairment to goodwill Our impairment

analysis in fourth quarter 2009 related to our annual impairment test performed on October and resulted in $64.9 million write-

down of the remaining goodwill in the Flat-Rolled Products segment This write-down reflected our view that the Flat-Rolled Products

markets would be increasingly competitive for the foreseeable future The combination of price-based competition and increased demand

for lighter gauge products was expected to limit our opportunities for achieving higher fabrication margins

Our impairment analysis includes assumptions about future profitability and cash flows which we believe reflect our best estimates

at the date the valuations are performed The estimates are based on information that is known or knowable at the date of the valuations

It is at least reasonably possible that the assumptions we employ will be materially different from the actual amounts or results and that

additional impairment charges may be necessary
in the future
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OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets net consisted of the following in millions

Weighted December 31
average life 2011 2010

in %ears

Non-amortizable

Trade names Indefinite 17.7 17.7

Amortible

ustomer relationships 13 71.0 71.0

Other 2.5 0.7 0.7

Total other intangible assets gross 89.4 89.4

Accumulated amortization 22.3 16.4

Total other intangible assets net 67.1 73.0

Selling general and administrative expenses in our consolidated statements of operations included amortization of intangible

assets in the following amounts in millions

\ear ended December 31

2009 4.3

2010 6.0

2011 ..

Expected amortization of intangible assets for each of the next fie years is as foIlosin millions

2012 -.

2013 5.9

2014

2015 5.9

2016 5.5

Impairments

As part of our interim impairment analysis during first quarter 2009 which is discussed in Note Goodwill we recorded an

impairment charge for intangible assets of $2.8 million related to the indefinite-lived trade names in the Flat-Rolled Products segment

Our impairment analysis of our indefinite-lived intangible assets in fourth quarter 2009 related to our annual impairment test performed

on October and resulted in no write-downs Further as result of the goodwill impairment write-down in the Flat-Rolled Products

segment during fourth quarter 2009 we tested our Flat-Rolled Products segment amortizable intangible assets for impairment and

determined that the carrying amounts ofthese long-lived assets were recoverable so no write-down was necessary Our annual impairment

tests performed in the fourth quarters of2O 11 and 2010 resulted in no impairment to our indefinite-lived intangible assets Future impairment

charges could be required if we do not achieve cash flow revenue and profitability projections

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Labor Commitments

As of December 31 2011 approximately 1700 or 69% of our employees were union members

We are party to collective bargaining agreements all of which expire within the next five years Our collective bargaining

agreements are with the following unions the United Steelworkers of America USWA the International Association of Machinists

and Aerospace Workers JAMAW the University and Allied Workers Union UAWU and the Union of Technical Administrative

and Supervisory Personnel UTASP We have recently completed the process of formalizing recognition of third union at St Ann

with the Bustamante Industrial Trade Union BITU
During third quarter 2011 we finalized the terms of three-year agreement with the UAWU at St Ann which will extend

through April 30 2013 This agreement covers the majority of our Jamaican workforce

The agreement at St Ann with the UTASP expired in December 2010 claim for new contract was received in June 2011

Negotiations regarding the terms of new agreement are on going
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With the recent formalization of the BITU at St Ann approximately 90% of our St Ann workforce is represented by union

The agreement with the IAMAW at our Newport rolling mill expired in May 2011 and on June 12011 new three-year

labor agreement went into effect

The five year contract in place with the USWA representing our unionized employees at the New Madrid smelter will expire

in August 2012 This contract covers approximately 80% of our New Madrid workforce

The three-year contract in place with the USWA representing our unionized employees at the Salisbury rolling mill will expire

in November 2012 This contract covers approximately 88% of our Salisbury workforce

Legal Contingencies

We are party to legal proceedings incidental to our business We assess the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome of each legal

proceeding based upon the available facts and our historical experience with similarmatters We do not accrue liability when we assess

the likelihood of an unfavorable outcome to be remote Where the risk of loss is probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated we

accrue liability based on the factors mentioned above Where the risk of loss is considered reasonably possible we estimate the range

of reasonably possible losses and disclose any reasonably possible losses if material We update our loss assessment as matters progress

over time Based on current knowledge we do not believe any reasonably possible losses in excess of our accruals would be material to

our consolidated financial statements

Environmental Matters

We cannot predict what environmental laws or regulations will be enacted or amended in the future how existing or future laws

or regulations will be interpreted or enforced or the amount of future expenditures that may be required to comply with such laws or

regulations Such future requirements may result in liabilities which may have material adverse effect on our financial condition results

of operations or cash flows

The Environmental Protection Agency EPA has developed National Ambient Air Quality Standards NAAQS for six

compounds currently identified as criteria pollutants The NAAQS establishes acceptable ambient air levels of each pollutant based on

review of their effects to human health and the environment Sulfur dioxide SOT an emission from our New Madrid smelter facility

is one such criteria pollutant Currently ambient monitoring is used to determine whether emissions from our smelter meet NAAQS

Changes to the stringency of the NAAQS could present material implications for the compliance of our smelter Failure to meet NAAQS

may require us to incur significant capital or operational costs to bring our smelter into compliance and could have negative implications

for the permits that we currently have in place in support of our smelter expansion project

Power Contract

Electricity is our largest cash cost component in the production of primary aluminum and is key factor to our long-term competitive

position in the primary aluminum business We have power purchase agreement with Ameren pursuant to which we have agreed to

purchase substantially all of New Madrids electricity through May 2020 Included in the contract is minimum purchase requirement

equal to five mega watts calculated at peak and non-peak demand charges or approximately $4.0 million over the remaining life of the

contract This minimum purchase requirement represents significantly less power usage than we require given the power-intensive nature

of our smelter facility Our current rate structure with Ameren consists of two components base rate and fuel adjustment clause

FAC
On September 2010 Ameren filed new rate case with the Missouri Public Service Commission MoPSC seeking an 11% base

rate increase In July 2011 the MoPSC ruled on this rate case approving Ameren to increase its base rates which increased our base rate

by 5.2% effective July 31 2011

We are currently party to the appeal ofseveral rate-related issues including rate increases approved by the MoPSC in January 2009

May2010 and July 201 and the amount ofcost increases related to the FAC Despite these appeals our consolidated financial statements

reflect our payment of power costs at the enacted rates with disputed amounts held in escrow by the Missouri Circuit Court As of

December 2011 and 2010 other current assets see Note Supplemental Financial Statement Information to our consolidated

financial statements included $30.1 million and $9.8 million respectively for amounts held in escrow related to these appeals with

corresponding liabilities recorded in accrued liabilities

On November 2011 the Missouri Court ofAppeals issued decision to uphold the MoPSCs January 2009 rate increase approval

The parties to the appeal including Noranda are evaluating whether to request rehearing of the Court of Appealst decision or to appeal

that decision to the Missouri Supreme Court If the parties decide not to file additional appeals or if such appeals are filed and are not

successful substantial portion of the escrowed funds will be released to Ameren At December 31 2011 such amount of released funds

would have been $20.8 million The release of these funds will not result in any impact to our operating results our net working capital

or our net assets

da
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On February 2012 Ameren filed new rate case with the MoPSC seeking a14.6% base rate increase As we have in previous

rate cases we expect to be an active participant in the MoPSC rate setting process Any increase approved would be effective at the

beginning of the month following the MoPSCs ruling We expect ruling on this request by January 2013

Operating Leases

We operate certain office manufacturing and warehouse facilities under operating leases In most cases we expect leases to he

renewed or replaced with other leases when they expire

Rental expense for all operating leases except those with terms of one month or less that were not renewed totaled $3.4 million

$3.7 million and $2.6 million for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively

Future minimum rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancellable lease terms in

excess of one year as of December 31 2011 follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2012 2.0

2013 1.1

2014 0.7

2015 0.7

2016 0.8

Thereafter 0.7

Other Contingencies

We have contractual obligations to reimburse certain maintenance costs to the third party owners of the ships which transport

bauxite from St Ann to Gramercy In February 2011 in connection with terminating our contract with our then-shipping provider we

finalized negotiations with the third party owner of the ships which provided additional evidence with respect to conditions that existed

at December31 2010 As result we reduced our recorded liability for these maintenance costs as of December 31 2010 The effect of

this change in estimate was to reduce cost of goods sold in the Alumina segment by $4.5 million

10 LONG-TERM DEBT

The carrying values and fair values of our outstanding debt were as follows in millions

December 31 2011 December 31 2010

Carrying Fair Interest Carrying Fair Interest

value value rate value value rate

Noranda AcquisitionCo

Senior Floating Rate Notes due 2015

AcquisitionCo Notes 350.3 324.0 4.66% 341.5 309.0 5.19%

2007 Term Loan 78.2 7.2 2AJ5% 78.2 78.2 2.01%

2007 Revolver

Total debt net 428.5 419.1

Less current portion 2.4

Long4erm debt net 426.1 419.7

As described in further detail below on February 29 2012 we refinanced our 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities and entered

into the 2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities consisting of the 2012 Term Loan $325.0 million and the 2012 Revolver up to $250.0

million We also repaid the remaining $78.2 million balance of the 2007 Term Loan We refer to this transaction as the 2012

Refinancing Using proceeds from the 2012 Refinancing on March 2012 the aggregate principal amount of AcquisitionCo Notes

outstanding was decreased by $75.0 million pursuant to Dutch Auction tender offer the 2012 Tender Offer The 2012 Refinancing

and the 2012 Tender Offer resulted in $171.8 million increase in our outstanding indebtedness We are required to repay $0.8 million

of the 2012 Term Loan quarterly beginning in second quarter 2012

After the effects of the 2012 Refinancing and 2012 Tender Offer debt maturities over each of the next five years and thereafter

are as follows in millions
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2012H 2.4

2013 3.3

2014 3.3

2015 278.6

2016 3.3

Thereafter 309.4

Totaldebt 6003

The debt maturity schedule above does not reflect the effect of any optional repayments we may elect to make on our outstanding

debt

2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

On February 29 2012 Noranda AcquisitionCo entered into the following senior secured credit facilities

term loan that matures February 2019 or earlier as described below with an original principal amount of $325.0 million

the 2012 Term Loan and

$250.0 million asset-backed revolving credit facility that matures in February 2017 or earlier as described below which

includes borrowing capacity available for letters of credit and for borrowing on same-day notice the 2012 Revolver

2012 Term Loan

The 2012 Term Loan provides for an initial borrowing of $325.0 million The 2012 Term Loan also permits Noranda

AcquisitionCo to incur incremental borrowings thereunder in an aggregate principal amount equal to the greater of $100.0 million

and an amount such that after giving effect to such incremental borrowing Noranda AcquisitionCo will be in pro forma compliance

with maximum total net senior secured leverage ratio of 2.25 to 1.00 Incremental borrowings are uncommitted and the availability

thereof will depend on market conditions at the time Noranda AcquisitionCo seeks to incur such borrowings

Obligations of Noranda AcquisitionCo under the 2012 Term Loan are senior obligations guaranteed by the Company and

substantially all ofNoranda AcquisitionCos wholly-owned existing and future direct and indirect U.S subsidiaries with certain customary

or agreed-upon exceptions NHB Capital LLC NHB in which we have 100% ownership interest is the only unrestricted subsidiary

and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these obligations Noranda AcquisitionCo and its subsidiary guarantors have

pledged substantially all of their assets as security for such obligations while the Company has pledged its shares of capital stock of

Noranda AcquisitionCo These security interests shall be second priority with respect to accounts receivable inventory and certain related

assets and first priority with respect to all other pledged assets

All outstanding principal and interest under the 2012 Term Loan will be due and payable on the earlier ofi February 28 2019

and ii 91 days prior to the maturity of the AcquisitionCo Notes if more than $100.0 million of the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo

Notes remains outstanding on such date The 2012 Term Loan requires Noranda AcquisitionCo to repay borrowings outstanding

thereunder in the amount of .00% per annum payable quarterly with the balance due on the maturity date

Noranda AcquisitionCo may prepay amounts outstanding under the 2012 Term Loan at any time If such prepayment is made

on or prior to the first anniversary of the date of the 2012 Term Loan as result of certain refinancing or repricing transactions Noranda

AcquisitionCo shall be required to pay fee equal to 1.00% of the principal amount of the obligations so refinanced or repriced Subject

to certain exceptions the 2012 Term Loan requires Noranda AcquisitionCo to prepay certain amounts outstanding thereunder with

the net cash proceeds of certain asset sales and certain issuances of debt and percentage of excess cash flow which percentage is

based upon Noranda AcquisitionCos total net senior secured leverage ratio

Borrowings under the 2012 Term Loan bear interest at rate equal to an applicable margin plus at Noranda AcquisitionCos

option either base rate calculated in customary manner provided such base rate shall not be less than 2.25% or an adjusted

eurodollar rate calculated in customary manner provided that such adjusted eurodollar rate shall not be less than 1.25% The applicable

margin is 3.50% per annum with respect to base rate borrowings and 4.50%
per annum with respect to eurodollar rate borrowings

The 2012 Term Loan contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants restrictions and events of default

2012 Revolver

Subject to certain exceptions maximum availability under the 2012 Revolver is equal to the lesser ofl $250.0 million and

borrowing base ordinarily equal to 85% of the net amount of eligible accounts receivable plus ii the lesser ofA 80% of the lesser

of the original cost or market value of eligible inventory and 90% of the orderly liquidation value of eligible inventory minus iii

any applicable reserves provided that until delivery of an initial inventory appraisal and field examination the borrowing base shall be

equal to the sum ofx 65c of the net book value of the borrowers consolidated accounts receivable and 40% of the net book value
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of the borrowers consolidated inventory Subject to such limitation the borrowers may request the issuance of letters of credit up to an

aggregate amount available to be drawn of $75.0 million and the borrowing of swingline loans up to an aggregate amount equal to 10%

of the outstanding commitments under the 2012 Revolver The 2012 Revolver also permits Noranda AcquisitionCo to incur incremental

commitments thereunder in an aggregate principal amount of up to $100.0 million Incremental commitments are uncommitted and the

availability thereof will depend on market conditions at the time Noranda AcquisitionCo seeks to incur such commitments

Obligations of the borrowers under the 2012 Revolver are senior obligations guaranteed by the Company each borrower and

substantially all ofNoranda AcquisitionCos wholly owned existing and future direct and indirect U.S subsidiaries with certain customary

or agreed-upon exceptions NHB is the only unrestricted subsidiary and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these

obligations Noranda AcquisitionCo and its subsidiary guarantors have pledged substantially all of their assets as security for such

obligations while the Company has pledged its shares of capital stock of Noranda AcquisitionCo These security interests shall be first

priority with respect to accounts receivable inventory and certain related assets and second priority with respect to all other pledged

assets

All outstanding principal and interest under the 2012 Revolver will be due and payable on the earlier of February 28 2017 and

91 days prior to the maturity of the AcquisitionCo Notes if more than $100.0 million of the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo

Notes remains outstanding on such date Noranda AcquisitionCo may prepay amounts and/or terminate commitments outstanding under

the 2012 Revolver at any time without penalty or premium

Borrowings under the 2012 Revolver bear interest at rate equal to an applicable margin plus at Noranda AcquisitionCos option

either base rate calculated in customary manner or an adjusted eurodollar rate calculated in customary manner The applicable

margin is determined based on Noranda AcquisitionCos average quarterly excess availability under the 2012 Revolver The initial

applicable margin is 0.75% per annum with respect to base rate borrowings and 1.75% per annum with respect to eurodollar rate borrowings

Noranda AcquisitionCo is also required to pay quarterly commitment fee equal to 0.3 75% per annum of the
average amount of unused

commitments during the applicable quarter as well as quarterly letter of credit fees equal to the product of the applicable margin

with respect to eurodollar borrowings and the average amount available to be drawn under outstanding letters of credit during such

quarter

The 2012 Revolver contains certain customary affirmative and negative covenants restrictions and events of default If availability

under the 2012 Revolver is less than certain minimum threshold amounts Noranda AcquisitionCo must maintain minimum fixed charge

coverage ratio of 1.00 to 1.00

At closing there was no outstanding balance under the 2012 Revolver and approximately $29.4 million in letters of credit

outstanding thereunder

Certain covenants

Certain covenants contained in our debt agreements governing our 2007 and 2012 Senior Secured Credit Facilities and the indentures

governing our Notes restrict our ability to take certain actions ifwe are unable to meet certain ratios of Adjusted EBITDA to fixed charges

and Net Debt Senior Secured Net Debt and Senior First Lien Secured Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA These actions include incurring

additional secured or unsecured debt expanding borrowings under existing term loan facilities paying dividends engaging in mergers

acquisitions and certain other investments and retaining proceeds from asset sales We met all financial ratio thresholds as ofDecember 31

2011 In addition to the restrictive covenants described above upon the occurrence of certain events such as change of control our

debt agreements could require that we repay or refinance our indebtedness

2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

Prior to the 2012 Refinancing Noranda AcquisitionCo was party to senior secured credit facilities as follows

term loan that matured May 2014 with an original principal amount of $500.0 million of which $78.2 million remained

outstanding as of December 31 2011 the 2007 Term Loan and

$250.0 million revolving credit facility that matured in May 2013 which included borrowing capacity available for letters

of credit and for borrowing on same-day notice the 2007 Revolver We had no outstanding balance under the revolving

credit facility at December 31 2011 As result of the revolving credit facility repurchase in 2009 our maximum borrowing

capacity was reduced $7.3 million from $250.0 million to $242.7 million As of December 31 2011 we had $213.3 million

available for borrowing which is net of $29.4 million outstanding letters of credit

The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were guaranteed by us and by all of the existing and future direct and indirect wholly

owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo not designated as unrestricted under the senior secured credit facilities These

guarantees were full and unconditional NHB Capital LLC NHB in which we have 100% ownership interest is the only unrestricted

subsidiary and the only domestic subsidiary that had not guaranteed these obligations The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were

secured by first priority pledges of all of the equity interests in Noranda AcquisitionCo and all of the equity interests in each of the existing
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and future direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo other than subsidiaries of unrestricted

subsidiaries The 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities were also secured by first priority security interests in substantially all of the

assets ofNoranda AcquisitionCo as well as those of each of our existing and future direct and indirect wholly owned domestic subsidiaries

that guaranteed the 2007 Senior Secured Credit Facilities

2007 Terni Loan

Interest on the loan was based either on LIBOR or the prime rate at Noranda AcquisitionCos election in either case plus an

applicable margin 75% over LIBOR at December 31 2011 that depended upon the ratio ofNoranda AcquisitionCos Senior Secured

Net Debt to EBITDA in each case as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan The interest rate at December 31

2011 was 2.05% Interest on the 2007 Term Loan was payable no less frequently than every
six months

Noranda AcquisitionCo was required to prepay amounts outstanding under the credit agreement based on an amount equal to

50% of our Excess Cash Flow as calculated in accordance with the terms of the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan

within 95 days after the end of each fiscal year The required percentage ofNorandaAcquisitionCos Excess Cash Flow payable to the

lenders under the credit agreement governing the 2007 Term Loan was able to be reduced from 50% to either 25% or based on Noranda

AcquisitionCos Senior Secured Net Debt to EBITDA ratio in each case as defined in the credit agreement governing the 2007

Term 13 Loan or the principal amount of 2007 Term Loan that had been repaid During 2011 no mandatory prepayments were due

pursuant to the cash flow sweep provisions of the credit agreement The payment due in 2012 would have been $24.2 million however

this amount was repaid in connection with the 2012 Refinancing

2007 Revolver

Interest on the 2007 Revolver was based either on LIBOR or the prime rate at Noranda AcquisitionCos election in either case

plus an applicable margin 1.75% over LIBOR at December 31 2011 that depended upon the ratio of Noranda AcquisitionCos Senior

Secured Net Debt to EBITDA in each case as defined in the applicable credit facility and was payable at least quarterly

In addition to paying interest on outstanding principal under the 2007 Revolver Noranda AcquisitionCo was required to pay

commitment fee to the lenders under the 2007 Revolver in respect of unutilized commitments at rate equal to 0.5% per

annum subject to step down if certain financial thresholds were met 0.38% at December 31 2011 and

additional fees related to outstanding letters of credit under the 2007 Revolver at rate equal to the margin applicable to loans

under the 2007 Revolver of 2.0% per annum subject to step down if certain financial thresholds were met 1.75% per annum

at December 312011

Noranda AcquisitionCo Notes

On May 18 2007 Noranda AcquisitionCo issued $510.0 million senior floating rate notes due 2015 The AcquisitionCo Notes

mature on May 15 2015 Through May 15 2011 Noranda AcquisitionCo was permitted to elect to pay interest entirely in cash ii

by increasing the principal amount of the AcquisitionCo Notes by paying interest entirely in kind P1K interest or iii 50% in cash

and 50% in AcquisitionCo P1K Notes interest For any subsequent period after May 15 2011 Noranda AcquisitionCo must pay all interest

in cash The AcquisitionCo Notes cash interest accrues at six-month LIBOR plus 4.0% per annum reset semi-annually The interest rate

at December 2011 was 4.66%

The AcquisitionCo Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on senior unsecured joint and several basis by the existing

and future wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo that guarantee the senior secured credit facilities NHB and

St Ann are not guarantors of the senior secured credit facilities and are not guarantors of the AcquisitionCo Notes Noranda HoldCo

fully and unconditionally guarantees the AcquisitionCo Notes on joint and several basis with the subsidiary guarantors The guarantee

by Noranda HoldCo is not required by the indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes and may be released by Noranda HoIdCo at any

time Noranda HoldCo has no independent operations or any assets other than its interest in Noranda AcquisitionCo Noranda

AcquisitionCo is wholly owned finance subsidiary ofNoranda HoldCo with no operations independent of its subsidiaries

In 2011 and 2010 we issued the following amounts of AcquisitionCo Notes as AcquisitionCo P1K interest due in millions

AcquisitionCo

Notes issued as

P1K interest

Mayl52011 89

November 15 2010 8.9

MayI52010 9.1

If the AcquisitionCo Notes would otherwise constitute applicable high yield discount obligations AHYDO within the meaning
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of applicable U.S federal income tax law Noranda AcquisitionCo will be required to make mandatory principal redemption payments

in cash at such times and in such amounts as is necessary to prevent the AcquisitionCo Notes from being treated as an AHYDO

The indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes limits Noranda AcquisitionCos and its subsidiaries ability among other things

to incur additional indebtedness ii declare or pay dividends or make other distributions or repurchase or redeem our capital stock

iiimake investments iv sell assets including capital stock of restricted subsidiaries enter into agreements restricting our

subsidiaries ability to pay dividends vi consolidate merge sell or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of our assets vii enter

into transactions with our affiliates and viii incur liens

As of December 31 2011 we had $350.3 million in principal amount of AcquisitionCo Notes outstanding

2012 Tender Offer

Pursuant to an Offer to Purchase for Cash on February 21 2012 Noranda AcquisitionCo launched modified Dutch Auction

tender offer the 2012 Tender Offer for up to $75.0 million of its outstanding AcquisitionCo Notes Noranda AcquisitionCo received

tenders prior to 500 p.m New York City time on March 2012 the Early Tender Date As the aggregate principal amount of

AcquisitionCo Notes tendered prior to the Early Tender Date exceeded $75.0 million $75.0 million in principal amount ofAcquisitionCo

Notes were accepted for payment by Noranda AcquisitionCo Noranda AcquisitionCo paid total of $75.2 million in principal interest

and fees on March 2012 in connection with the 2012 Tender Offer As result of the 2012 Tender Offer the aggregate principal amount

of AcquisitionCo Notes outstanding was decreased by $75.0 million to $275.3 million as of March 82012

Noranda HoldCo Notes

On June 2007 Noranda HoldCo issued senior floating rate notes due 2014 in aggregate principal amount of $220.0 million

with discount of .0% of the principal amount While the HoldCo Notes were outstanding Noranda HoldCo had the option to pay

interest entirely in cash ii in HoldCo Notes P1K interest or iii 50% in cash and 50.0% in HoldCo Notes P1K interest On May

15 2010 we issued $2.3 million of HoldCo Notes as HoldCo P1K interest due

During second quarter 2010 we used portion of the proceeds from our 1PO to repurchase and retire all outstanding HoldCo

Notes

Debt repurchase

We did not repurchase any debt during the year ended December 31 2011

For the year ended December 31 2009 we repaid $65.4 million and $9.1 million of aggregate principal balances on the 2007

Term Loan and 2007 Revolver respectively and we repurchased $161.9 million and $194.5 million aggregate principal balance of our

HoldCo Notes and AcquisitionCo Notes respectively The aggregate carrying amount of $426.5 million was repurchased or repaid for

$215.3 million including fees resulting in gain on debt repurchase of $211 .2 million for the year ended December 31 2009

For the year ended December 31 2010 we repaid $249.9 million and $215.9 million of aggregate principal balances on 2007

Term Loan and 2007 Revolver respectively and we repurchased $66.3 million and $20.6 million aggregate principal balance of our

HoldCo Notes and AcquisitionCo Notes respectively The aggregate carrying amount of $549.2 million was repurchased or repaid fir

$549.3 million resulting in loss on debt repurchase of $0.1 million for the year ended December 31 2010

The table below shows gain loss on debt repurchases for the years ended December 31 2010 and 2009 For tax purposes gains

from our 2010 and 2009 debt repurchases will be deferred until 2014 and then included in taxable income ratably from 2014 to 2018

The net carrying amount of debt repurchased or repaid includes principal balance and accrued interest net of any unamortized discount

and deferred financing fees For the year ended December 31 2009 the amount paid to repurchase debt included $1.2 million of creditor

fees paid to amend our credit agreement in 2009 to allow debt repurchases

Gain loss on debt repurchases were as follows in millions

Year ended December 31 2010

AcquisitionCo 2007

HoldCo Notes Notes Term Loan 2007 Revolver Total

______________________________________________________________________________

Net carrying amount of debt repurchased 65.4 20.7 2472 215.9 549.2

Amount paid to repurchase debt 66.4 17.1 249.9 215.9 549.3

Gain loss on debt repurchase 1.0 3.6 27 0.1
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Year ended December 31 2009

AcquisitionCo 2007

HoldCo Notes Notes Term Loan 2007 Revolver Total

Net carrying amount of debt repurchased 159.8 193.3 64.5 8.9 426.5

Amount paid to repurchase debt 43.7 109.9 55.2 6.5 215.3

Gain loss on debt repurchase 116.1 83.4 9.3 2.4 211.2

11 RECLAMATION LAND AND ASSET RETIREMENT OBLJGATIOS

Reclamation Obligation

St Ann has an obligation to rehabilitate land disturbed by St Anns Bauxite mining operations See Note Accounting Policies

for further information The current and long-term portions of our reclamation obligation were $2.8 million and $1.8 million respectively

at December 31 2011 and $2.8 million and $6.6 million respectively at December 31 2010 and are included in accrued liabilities

and other long-term liabilities respectively in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

summary of our reclamation obligations activity at St Ann follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Balance beginning of period 9.4 8.9

Additional liabilities incurred 0.4 1.7

.iabilities cttled 5.2 1.9

Accretion expse 0.7

Balance end of period 4.6 9.4

Land Obligation

In cases where land to be mined is privately owned St Ann
agrees to purchase the residents property including land crops

homes and other improvements in exchange for consideration paid in the form of cash commitment to relocate the residents to another

area or combination of these two options St Ann Land Obligation See Note Accounting Policies for further information Our

current and long-terni portions of the St Ann Land Obligation were $4.3 million and $8.9 million respectively at December 31 2011

and $2.2 million and $4.5 million respectively at December 312010 and are included in accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities

respectively in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets

summary of our St Ann Land Obligation activity follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Balance beginning of period 6.7 77

Additional liabilities incurred 1.8 0.7

iahi lities settled 0.6 0.5

Revisions to the obligation 5.3 1.2

Balance end of period 13.2 6.7

During 2011 we determined that the information that gave
rise to revisions to the land obligation recorded during 2011 was known

or knowable at December 2010 As result cost of goods sold was overstated in the
year

ended December 2011 by $5.3 million

related to revisions to the obligation We have evaluated the materiality of the error from qualitative and quantitative perspective in

accordance with ASC 250-10-599-I Staff ccounting Bulletin Topics .M Assessing Materiality and determined it to be immaterial to

our 2010 consolidated financial statements We have further determined that the impact of correcting this error in the current year is not

material to our 2011 financial statements As result we have not adjusted any previously issued consolidated financial statements

Asset Retirement Obligations

Our asset retirement obligations consist of costs related to the disposal of certain spent pot liners associated with the New Madrid

smelter as well as costs associated with the future closure and post-closure care of red mud lakes at the Gramercy facility where

Gramercy disposes of wastes from its refining process

The current portion of the liability of $1 .8 million and $2.2 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively relates to the
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disposal of spent pot-liners at New Madrid and is recorded in accrued liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The

remaining non-current portion of$ 13.9 million and $12.7 million at December 31 2011 and 2010 respectively is included in other long-

term liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets Asset retirement obligations are estimated based on cash flows discounted

at credit-adjusted risk-free rate

summary of our asset retirement obligations activity follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Balance beginning of period 14.9 13.4

Additional liabilities incurred 0.9 1.3

Liabilities settled 0.9 0.9

Accretion 0.8 1.1

Balance end of period 15.7 149

At cacti of December 2011 and 2010 ve had S9.2 million of restricted cash in an escrow account as security for the payment

of red mud lake closure obligations that will arise under state environmental laws if we were to cease operations at the Gramercy facility

This amount is included in other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets The remaining restricted cash in other assets

relates primarily to funds for workers compensation claims

The ongoing operations at the Gramercy facility generate hazardous materials that are disposed of according to long- standing

environmental permits We have not recorded an ARO for removing such material that may remain throughout the production process

up until closure of the Gramercy facility as we do not currently believe there is reasonable basis for estimating the liability Our ability

to form reasonable estimate is impeded as we cannot predict the amount of hazardous materials that will be remaining at the time of

such closure due to the fact that we are continuously removing and disposing of these materials as they are generated

Environmental Remediation Obligations

In addition to our asset retirement obligations we have identified certain environmental conditions requiring remedial action or

ongoing monitoring at the Gramercy refinery As of December 31 2011 and 2010 we recorded undiscounted liabilities of $1.9 million

and $2.0 million respectively in accrued liabilities and $2.2 million and $2.3 million respectively in other long-term liabilities for

remediation of Gramercys known environmental conditions Approximately 2/3 of the recorded liability represents clean-up costs

expected to be incurred during the next five years The remainder represents monitoring costs which will be incurred ratably over 31

year period Because the remediation and subsequent monitoring related to these environmental conditions occurs over an extended period

of time these estimates are subject to change based on cost No other responsible parties are involved in any ongoing environmental

remediation activities

12 PENSIONS AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFITS

We sponsor defined benefit pension plans for hourly and salaried employees Benefits under our sponsored defined benefit plans

are based on years of service andlor eligible compensation prior to retirement We also sponsor OPEB plans for certain employees These

benefits include life and health insurance In addition we provide supplemental executive retirement benefits for certain executive officers

In connection with the Joint Venture Transaction see Note 22 Joint Venture Transaction we acquired the plans in existence at

Gramercy and St Ann which included defined benefit pension plans and other post-retirement benefit plans The Noranda plans in

existence prior to the Joint Venture Transaction and the Gramercy plans since the date of the Joint Venture Transaction are collectively

disclosed as the Noranda Plans

Disclosures for the St Ann Plans since the date of the Joint Venture Transaction are shown separately as we believe the assumptions

related to the St Ann Plans are significantly different than those of the Noranda Plans

Noranda Plans

Our pension funding policy is to contribute annually an amount based on actuarial and economic assumptions designed to achieve

adequate funding of the projected benefit obligations and to meet the minimum funding requirements of the Employee Retirement Income

Security Act ERISA OPEB benefits are funded as retirees submit claims

We use an annual measurement date of December 31 to determine the pension and OPEB liabilities

During 2011 we offered early retirement benefits to limited number of employees at our rolling mill facilities For the year ended

December 31 2011 we recorded special termination benefit loss of $0.2 million and $0.5 million within net periodic benefit cost and
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selling general and administrative expenses respectively for the cost of providing early retirement benefits In February 2010 we offered

early retirement benefits to certain employees in connection with certain workforce and business process restructuring activities see

Note 13 Restructuring For the year ended December31 2010 we recognized special termination benefit loss of $1.6 million within

net periodic benefit cost for these benefits

Noranda Pension P/an assets

Weighted-average asset allocations as of December 2011 and 2010 and the target asset allocations for 2012 were as follows

Noranda Pension

2011 2010 Target 2012

Fixed ionesurities 35

Equity securities 63 66 65

We seek balanced return on plan assets through diversified investment strategy Noranda pension plan assets consist principally

of equities and fixed income accounts In developing the long-term rate of return assumption for plan assets we evaluated the plans

historical cumulative actual returns over several periods as well as long-term inflation assumptions We anticipate that the plans will

continue to generate long-term investment returns of approximately 8% per annum

Noranda OPEB

The Noranda OPEB benefit obligation included estimated health insurance benefits of $0.8 million $0.8 million and $0.7 million

at December 2011 2010 and 2009 respectively The healthcare cost trend rates used in developing the periodic cost and the projected

benefit obligation are 8% grading to 5% over six
years

The change in benefit obligation and change in plan assets for the Noranda pension plans were as follows in millions

ear ended December 31

2011 2010

Change in benefit obligation

Rene fit obligation hegi lining
11 period 344.7 305

Sei coSt 10.5 9.0

Interest cost 18.3 17.8

Plan changes 0.2 0.1

\ctuarial loss 25.6

Benefits paid 15.4 14.5

Specia term nation benefits 0.2 .6

Benefit obligation end of period 404.6 344.7

Change in plan assets

Fair alue of plan assets beginning of period 248.6 21

Actual return loss on plan assets 8.3 30.4

F.niplover contributions 22.0 20.2

Bts paid 15.4 14.5

lair alue of plmn assets end ol period 246.9 248.6

Funded status 157.7 96.1

Vs eighted-a erage assumptions

Discount rate 4.4% 5.3%

Rate pen sat ion in crease 4.00 4.0
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The change in benefit obligation and change in plan assets for the Noranda OPEB plans were as follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation beginning of period
10.0 8.1

Service cost
0.3 0.3

Interest cost
0.5 0.5

Plan changes
0.6

Actuarial gain loss 1.3 0.9

Benefits paid 03 0.4

Benefit obligation end of period
11.6 10.0

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets beginning of period 0.1 0.1

Employer contributions 0.5 0.4

Benefits paid 0.5 0.4

Fair value of plan assets end of period 0.1 0.1

Funded status 11.5 9.9

Weighted-average assumptions

Discount rate 4.4% 5.3%

Rate of compensation increase 4.3% 4.3%

The net liability for the Noranda plans was recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as follows in millions

Noranda Pension Noranda OPEB
December 31 December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

Current liability 0.5 0.3 0.4 0.4

Long-term liability 157.2 95.8 11.1 9.5

Total 1S7.7 113 9.9

In 2012 we expect to reclassify approximately $11.6 million and $0.1 million from AOCI related to the Noranda pension and

OPEB plans respectively into net income through net periodic cost Amounts related to the Noranda plans in AOCI were as follows in

millions

Noranda Pension Noranda OPEB

December 31 December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

Net actuarial loss 155.0 86.3 1.6 0.4

Prior service cost 2.8 2.9 0.6 0.5

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 157.8 2.2 0.9
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Net periodic benefit costs related to the Noranda Pension Plans included the following in millions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Servi$ 8.0

Interest cost 8.3 17.8 17.0

fl 12.5

Recognized actuarial loss 5.2 5.0 7.2

AdtofSviceoost 0.4 0.3

Settlement and termination benefits 1055 0.1 .6 0.6

oat .. -...

WeSi4avessumns mt.
Discount rate 5.3% 5.8%

ENc4 XSbeINMU plwi ufl
Rate of compensation increase 4.0% 4.3% 4.3

Nd periodic benefit costs related to the Noranda OPFR plans included the folkning in niillions

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Seivicecost or 02
Interest cost 0.5 0.5 0.4

Rei4aa1 gMn loss 0.4 .ç 4fl%$
Amortization of prior ser ice cost benefit 0.1 0.1

Netperiodiccost tafrr

Weigbtd-average assumptions

Discount rate 5.3% 5.8% l0

Rate of conspensation increase 4.3% 43%
..

43%

.5

Aggrted service tuid intest cost 0.8 0.8 fl
Accumulated post retirement benefit obligation 11 .5 11 .6

The projected and accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets for our Noranda pension plans were as follows in

millions

December 31

2011 2010

Prot bentht obliga 37
Accumulated benetit obligation 388.2 331.9

Fair value of plan assets 24t9 248.6

St Ann Plans

St Ann operates defined benefit pension plan and an OPEB plan Our post-retirement benefits include life and health insurance

and are funded as retirees submit claims

In April 2010 we announced certain workforce and business process restructuring activities designed to reduce operating costs

conserve liquidity and improve operating efficiencies at St Ann Refer to Note 13 Restructuring for further information on the

restructuring This restructuring resulted in curtailment gains of$1.5 million and $1.2 million recognized in net periodic pension cost of

the St Ann pension and OPEB plans respectively during the year ended December 31 2010

da

We use an annual measurement date of December31 to determine the pension and OPEB liabilities for the St Ann Pension Plans
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The effects of one percentage point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate on our Noranda OPEB plans post- retirement

benefit obligation were as follows in millions

1% decrease in 1% increase in

rates Assumed rates rates
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The St Ann Pension Plan is funded by employee and employer contributions Employer contributions are made at rate periodically

determined by management which is based in part on employee contributions Our pension funding policy is to contribute annually an

amount based on actuarial and economic assumptions designed to achieve adequate funding of the projected benefit obligations and to

meet the funding requirements of the plan

Our St Ann Pension Plans weighted-average asset allocations at December 31 2011 and 2010 and the target allocations for 2012

by asset category were as follows

Global equity securities 28 28 25

Real cstate 20

Fixed income securities 57 53 50

Other 10

We seek balanced return on plan assets through diversified investment strategy In developing the long-term rate of return

assumption for plan assets we evaluate the plans historical cumulative actual returns over several periods as well as long-term inflation

assumptions We anticipate that the plans investments will continue to generate long-term returns of at least 7% per annum

The change in benefit obligation and change in plan assets for the St Ann Plans since the Joint Venture Transaction were as follows

in millions

St Ann Pension St Ann OPEB

Year ended December 31 Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

hange iii benefit obligation

Benefit obligation beginning of period 18.2 .15 4o7 6.3

Service cost 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3

tnitst cost IA .. 1.6 0.7

Contributions by plan participants 0.8 0.7

Actuwial gthn loss .0.9 12 3.4

Foreign currency changes 0.7 0.1 0.3

Benefits id fl cQ 0.3
lii 18 74 107Benefit obligation end of period

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets beginning of period 24.1 22.2

Employer contributions 0.5 0.4 0.3 0.3

Qrntdbutions by plan picipwts 0.8 0.7

Actual return on plan assets 3.6 2.6

Benefits paid O5 3.2 02 0.3

Foreign currency changes 0.1 1.4

Fair value of plan assets end of period 284

Funded status 740 59 7.4 107

Weighted-average assumptions

Discount rate 7.0% 8.0% 7.0% 8.0%

Rate of compensation increase 5.0% 7.0% 541% 7.0%

December 31

2011 2010 Target 20t2
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The net asset liability for the St Ann Plans was recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as follows in millions

St Ann Pension St Ann OPEB

December 31 December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

Long-teilmasset 7.0

Long-term liability 7.4 10.7

Total 7.0 5.9 10.7

Amounts related to the St Ann Plans in AOCI were as follows in millions

St Ann Pension St Ann OPEB

December 31 December 31

2011 2010 2011 2010

Net actuarial loss vi 4.5

Prior ser ice cost

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3.8 4.9 0.1 4.5

Net periodic benet costs related to the St nn Pension Plans since the Joint Venture Fransaction included the following in

iii Ilions

Period from

September 2009

ear ended December 31 to

2011 2010 December 31 2009

.5 .5

Servioseost 0.6 0.5 0.1

Interest cost .4 .6 0.6

Expected return on plan assets 1.8 2.3 1.2
Recoenied los. .5

Recoid cial loss 0.2 0.1

Curtailment gain 1.5
Net periodic cost 0.4 0.11 0.5

Weightedavexage assumions
Discount rate 8.0 13 .0 16.0

Ex.ofrmonplanassets 9.0% 15.0% 17.5%

Rate ol compensation increase 7.0 13.0 4.00

Net periodic hencflt costs related to the St Ann OPEB Plan since the Joint VentureTransaction included the following in millions

Ieriod from

September 2009

\ear ended December 31 to

2011 2010 Deceniber 31 2009

Service cost 0.4 0.3 01

Interest cost 0.9 0.7 0.2

planasta

Recognized loss 1.2

Recod tiial loss 0.2

Curtailnient gain 1.2

Net periodic cost 1.5 0.3

Weighted-average assumptions

Discount rate 8.00 13.00 6.0

Rate of compensation increase 7.0% 13.0% 14.0%
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The effect ofa one-percentage-point change in the assumed health care cost trend rate on our St Ann OPEB plans benefit obligation

was as follows in millions

1% decrease in I% increase in

rates Assumed rates rates

Aggregated service and interest cost

Projected postretirement benefit obligation 6.5 7.4 8.6

As of December 2011 and 2010 St Ann Pension Plan assets exceeded the projected benefit obligation and the accumulated

benefit obligation

Expected Employer Contributions

Expected contributions approximate $25.0 million and $0.6 million for the Noranda Pension Plans and the St Ann Pension Plans

respectively in 2012 We may elect to make additional contributions to the plans

Expected Future Benefit Payments

The following table provides our estimated future benefit payments for the pension and OPEB plans at December 31 2011 in

millions

Noranda Plans St Ann Plans

Pension benefits OPEB benefits Pension benefits OPEB benefits

Year ended December 31

2012 17.2 0.4 0.8 03

2013 18.1 0.4 0.9 0.4

2014 19.0 0.4 0.9 0.4

2015 19.9 0.5 1.0 0.4

2016 20.7 0.4 1.1 0.5

thereafter 118.8 2.9 8.5 3.2

Total 213.7 5.0 13.2 5.2

Defined Contribution Plans

We also have defined contribution retirement plans that cover our eligible employees The purpose of these defined contribution

plans is generally to provide additional financial security during retirement by providing employees with an incentive to make regular

savings Our contributions to these plans are based on employee contributions and were as follows in millions

Year ended December 31

201 3.3

2010 3.3

2009 2.1

13 RESTRUCTURING

On February 26 2010 we announced workforce and business process restructuring in our U.S operations that reduced operating

costs conserved liquidity and improved operating efficiency The U.S workforce restructuring plan reduced headcount through

combination of voluntary retirement packages and involuntary terminations Substantially all activities associated with this workforce

reduction were completed as of February 26 2010

In connection with decision to contract the substantial portion of our Bauxite mining to third party contractors on April 21 2010

we announced workforce reduction in our Jamaican Bauxite mining operations The workforce restructuring plan reduced headcount

through involuntary terminations Substantially all activities associated with this workforce reduction were completed as ofApril 21 2010

These 2010 actions resulted in $7.6 million of pre-tax charges recorded in the year ended December 31 2010 primarily due to

one-time termination benefits and early retirement benefits These charges were recorded when employee service requirements if any

were met and are reflected in the consolidated statements of operations as component of selling general and administrative expenses

We paid the majority of these restructuring expenses in 2010 We paid the final restructuring expenses of $0.5 million in 2011

da
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The following table summarizes our restructuring activities in millions

Total restructuring

liability

Balance December 31 2009

2010 restructuring expense

Bauxite 3.1

Aluniina 1.4

Primary Aluminum 1.6

at Rn led Products

Corporate
0.4

otal

Benefits paid in 2010 7J
Balance December 2010 0.5

Benefits paid in 2011 _______________

Balance ecemher 2011
____________________________

Restructuring costs are recorded in accrued liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets The restructuring liability as of

December 31 2010 did not include $1.6 million of special termination benefits recorded during the first quarter 2010 in net periodic

pension cost

14 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

We use derivative instruments to mitigate the risks associated with fluctuations in aluminum prices natural gas prices and interest

rates All derivatives are held for purposes other than trading

Fixed price aluminum swaps In 2007 and 2008 we implemented hedging strategy designed to reduce commodity price risk

and protect operating cash flows in the Primary Aluminum segment through the use of fixed price aluminum sale swaps In addition

during first quarter 2009 we entered into fixed price aluminum purchase swaps to lock in portion of the favorable market position of

our fixed price aluminum sale swaps In March 2009 we entered into hedge settlement agreement with Merrill Lynch to provide

mechanism for us to monetize our favorable net fixed price swap positions to fund debt repurchases subject to certain limitations

At the closing of our lPO in May 2010 we settled all of our remaining fixed price aluminum swaps and used the proceeds to repay

indebtedness As of December 2011 we have no outstanding fixed price aluminum swaps

Fixed price customer arrangements From time to time we enter into forward contracts with our customers to sell aluminum in

the future at fixed prices in the normal course of business Prior to fourth quarter 2011 we made determination under ASC 815-10-15

Derivatives and Hedging to elect normal sale accounting on our sales contracts Beginning in fourth quarter 2011 we began to decline

electing normal sale accounting on certain of these customer contracts and began to record those contracts as derivatives fixed price

aluminum customer contracts Because these fixed price customer contracts expose us to aluminum market price fluctuations we

economically hedge this risk by entering into variable price aluminum swap contracts variable price aluminum offset swaps with

various brokers typically for terms not greater than one year

As of December 2011 our outstanding fixed price aluminum customer contracts were as follows

Average hedged

price

per pound
Pounds hedged

in millions

2012 106 371

As of December 31 2011 our outstanding variable price aluminum offset swaps were as follows

Average hedged

price

per pound
Pounds hedged

Year in millions

2012 724

Natural gas swaps We purchase natural
gas to meet our production requirements These purchases expose us to the risk of

fluctuating natural gas prices To offset changes in the Henry Hub Index Price of natural gas we enter into financial swaps by purchasing
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the fixed forward price for the Henry Hub Index and simultaneously entering into an agreement to sell the actual Henry Hub Index Price

As of December 31 2011 our outstanding natural
gas swaps were as follows

Average price Million BTIJs

per million BTUs hedged

Year in millions

2012 746 81

Interest rate swaps We have floating-rate debt which is subject to variations in interest rates We had interest rate swap agreements

to limit our exposure to floating interest rates through November 15 2011 As of December 31 2011 we have no outstanding interest

rate swaps

We recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at their estimated fair value in our consolidated balance sheets

The following table presents the carrying values which were recorded at fair value of our derivative instruments outstanding in millions

December 31

2011 2010

Fixed price aluminum customer contracts 2.0

Variable price aluminum offset swaps 7.5 3.1

Natural gas swaps 33.5 40.3

Interest rate swaps 4.4
Total 39.0 41.6

Merrill Lynch is the counterparty for substantial portion of our derivatives All swap arrangements with Merrill Lynch are part

of master arrangement which is subject to the same guarantee and security provisions as the senior secured credit facilities The master

arrangement does not require us to post additional collateral or cash margin We present the fair values of derivatives where Merrill

Lynch is the counterparty in net position on the consolidated balance sheets as result of our master netting agreement The following

is presentation of the gross components of our net derivative balances in millions

December 31

2011 2010

Current derivative assets 2.5 3.4

Current derivative liabilities 41.4 26.6
Current derivative assets liabi1ities net 138.91 23.2

Long-term derivative assets 0.1

Long-term derivative liabilities 01 18.5

Long-term derivative assets liabilities net 0.1 18.4

The following is gross presentation of the derivative balances segregated by type of contract and between derivatives that are

designated and qualify for hedge accounting and those that are not in millions

December 31 2011 December31 2010

Hedges that qualify Hedges that do not Hedges that qualify Hedges that do not

for qualify for qualify

hedge accounting for hedge accounting hedge accounting for hedge accounting

Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability Asset Liability

Fixed price aluminum customer contracts 2.0

Variable price aluminum offset swaps 0.5 8.0 3.5 0.4

Natural gas swaps 21.9 11.6 23.0 17.3
Interest rate swaps 4.4
Total 21.9 23 W6 23.0 33 22.1

For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges the effective portion of any gain or loss on the

derivative is reported as component of AOCI and reclassified into earnings in the same period or periods during which the hedged

transaction affects earnings

Fixed price aluminum swaps From January 2008 to January 29 2009 fixed price aluminum-swaps were designated and
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qualified as cash flow hedges As result of the New Madrid power outage in January 2009 we concluded that certain hedged

sale transactions were no longer probable of occurring and we discontinued hedge accounting for all our aluminum fixed

price sale swaps on January 29 2009 At that date amounts were frozen in AOCI until such time as they are reclassified into

earnings in the period the hedged sales occur or until it is determined that the original forecasted sales are probable of not

occurring

Natural gas swaps We entered into certain natural gas contracts during the fourth quarter of 2009 that qualified fbr and were

designated as cash flow hedges based on portion of estimated consumption of natural gas

The following table presents the net amount of unrealized gains losses on cash flow hedges that were reported as component

of AOCI at December 31 2011 and the expected timing of those amounts being reclassified into earnings in millions

December 31 2012 Thereafter December 31 2011

Fixedpealurniuurncustornerswaps 109.3 6.7 116.0

Natural
gas swaps 21.9 21.9

Total .874 94.1

Ciains and losses on the derivatives representing hedge ineffectiveness are recognized in current earnings along with amounts that

are reclassified from AOCI however these amounts were not material for the periods presented Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge

accounting or have not been designated for hedge accounting treatment are adjusted to fair value through earnings in gains losses on

hedging activities in the consolidated statements of operations

The thllowing table presents how our hedging activities affected our consolidated statements of operations for each period in

millions

Derivatives qualified

as hedges

Amount reclassified

from AOCI

Derivatives not

qualified as hedges

Change in

fair value

Total gain loss on

hedging activities

15 SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

In connection with the P0 pursuant to our amended and restated certificate of incorporation our authorized capital stock increased

from 100.0 million to 225.0 million of which 200.0 million $0.01 par value is designated as common stock and 25.0 million at $0.01

par value is designated as preferred stock As of December 31 2011 and 2010 no preferred stock was outstanding

da
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Amounts expected to be

reclassified into earnings

January 2012

to

Net unrealized gains

losses on cash flow

hedges pre-tax in

AOCI at

Year ended December 31 2011

Fixed price aluminum sv aps
14.0 14.0

Fixed price aluminum customer contracts 2.0 2.0

ariable price aluminum olIset aps
9.2 9.2

Natural gas swaps 15.3 4.9 20.2

lntcret rate ss ap 0.2 0.2

Total 98.7 12.3 86.4

Year ended December 2010

Fixed price aluminum swaps 86.9 0.6 86.3

Variable price
aluminum offi.et S\\ aps

0.9 0.9

Natuil gas swaps
4.8 12.9 17.7

Interest rate aps

Total 82.1 16.5 65.6

Year ended December 2009

Fixed price aluminum swaps 172.3 47.6 124.7

Variable price aluminum offset swaps 12.2 12.2

Natural gas swaps 21.4 21.4

Interest rate Ss aps
3.7 3.7

Total 172.3 60.5 111.8
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On April 16 2010 our Board of Directors approved two-for-one split of our outstanding shares of common stock to be effected

in the form of stock dividend Stockholders of record at the close of business on April 19 2010 were issued one additional share of

common stock for each share owned by such stockholder as of that date The additional shares were issued on April 20 2010 The stock

split increased the number of shares of common stock outstanding from approximately 21.9 million to approximately 43.8 million All

share and per share amounts shown in the consolidated financial statements and related notes reflect the split The total number of

authorized common shares and the par value thereof were not changed by the split

On December 10 2010 we completed follow-on public offering of 11.5 million shares of common stock at an 11 .35 per share

public offering price on the NYSE The net proceeds after the underwriting discounts commissions fees and expenses
amounted to

$123.1 million We used those proceeds to repay $122.3 million principal amount outstanding under the term loan The remaining $0.8

million was used for other corporate purposes

Cash Dividend

On November 2011 the Board declared regular quarterly cash dividend of $0.03 per share on our outstanding shares of common

stock In addition on November 2011 the Board declared supplemental cash dividend of$ 1.00 per share on our outstanding common

stock The regular and supplemental dividends were paid on November 22 2011 to shareholders of record as of the close of business on

November 14 2011

Cash payments related to the November 2011 regular and supplemental dividends totaled approximately $71 .1 million in aggregate

comprising $69.3 million of dividends on outstanding shares of common stock and $1.8 million to holders of stock options We paid

these amounts entirely from available cash balances

On February 152012 the Board declared regular quarterly dividend of$0.04 per share to be paid on March21 20l2 to shareholders

of record as of February 27 2012 The Board anticipates declaring this dividend in future quarters on regular basis however changes

in the Companys financial condition and cash needs could result in dividends being declared in different amounts or not at all

On February 29 2012 the Board declared supplemental dividend of $1.25 per share to be paid on March 19 2012 to shareholders

ofrecord as ofMarch 122012 Cash payments related to the supplemental dividend will total approximately $88 million in aggregate We

expect to pay these amounts from the net proceeds from the 2012 Refinancing discussed above

16 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Common Stock Subject to Redemption

As part of his March 2008 employment agreement our Chief Executive Officer CEO agreed to purchase 200000 shares of

common stock at $10.00 per share for total investment of $2.0 million As amended in October 2010 his employment agreement

provides that shares purchased carry redemption feature which guarantees total realization on these shares of at least $8.0 million since

reduced to $7.3 million to reflect dividends to date in the event change in control occurs prior to March 2013 and the CEO remains

employed with us through the 12-month anniversary of such change in control or experiences certain qualifying terminations of

employment

Because of the existence of the conditional redemption feature the carrying value of these 200000 shares of common stock is

reported outside of permanent equity In accordance with FASB ASC Topic 718 Compensation Stock Compensation ASC
Topic 718 the carrying amount of the common stock subject to redemption is reported as the $2.0 million proceeds The carrying value

of that common stock is not adjusted to the $7.3 million redemption amount because it is not considered probable that change in control

event will take place prior to March 2013

Noranda Long-Term Incentive Plans

We recorded stock compensation expense as follows in millions

___________$ _________________________________________________________

Stock options

Restricted stock and restricted stock unit equity awards 2.1 0.1

Restricted stock unit liability awards

Total stock compensation expense
before income taxes 5.3 5.9

Income tax benefit

Total stock compensation expense net of income taxes

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

1.5

1.5

0.6
3.4 3.8 0.9
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We reserved 3800000 shares of common stock for issuance under our Noranda 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan Employees and

non-employee directors held 1637431 options at December 31 2011 The investor director provider group held 140000 options at

December31 2011 The investor director provider group consists of the six full-time employees of our principal shareholders affiliated

with Apollo Management VI Apollo who serve on our Board Common stock shares awarded or sold to employees and non-employee

directors under the plan including exercised stock options totaled 1394824 shares through December 31 2011 We had 627745 shares

available for issuance under the 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan as of December 31 2011

We reserved 5200000 shares of common stock for issuance under our Noranda 2010 Incentive Award Plan As of December 31

2011 employees and non-employee directors held 449111 unvested service-vesting restricted stock units awards RSUs 30354 shares

of restricted stock and target amount of 260866 performance-vesting RSUs The outstanding award amounts include dividend equivalent

units issued to restricted stock and RSU holders in connection with the cash dividend paid to shareholders discussed in Note 15

Shareholders Equity The number and grant date fair value of the performance awards to be issued maximum of 521732 awards

will be based on Company performance for the
years 2011 through 2013 total of 65014 service-vesting RSUs have vested as of

December 2011 We reacquired 201 shares upon vesting based on employee elections to use shares to pay for income taxes on the

shares vested We had 4396670 shares available for issuance under the 2010 Incentive Award Plan as of December 31 2011

In 2011 we granted 90000 cash-settled service-vesting RSUs the investor director provider RSUs in lieu ofRSUs that would

otherwise be granted under the director compensation program and 12443 dividend equivalent units to the investor director provider

group In December 2011 68295 of these investor director provider RSUs vested The remainder will vest in June 2012 subject to the

continued service of the Apollo employees as our directors We make cash payment to Apollo equal to the fair market value of the

outstanding investor director provider RSUs on the vesting dates We account for the investor director provider RSUs as liability awards

We remeasure the lair value of the liability at each reporting date and adjust stock compensation expense so that the amount ultimately

recorded as stock compensation expense will equal the cash paid on the vesting date see Note Fair Value Measurements As of

December 31 2011 we had paid Apollo $0.5 million related to the vested RSUs and had $0.2 million in accrued liabilities in the

accompanying consolidated balance sheets for these awards

In May 2010 in connection with the Companys IPO stock options were modified to remove call option which had created an

implicit seven year vesting period The effect of this modification was to accelerate expense recognition for certain fully-vested options

and to change the amount of expense to be recognized based on an assumed forfeiture rate We recognized $3.2 million of compensation

expense during the year ended December 31 2010 in connection with this modification The modification also shortened the period over

which compensation expense is recognized for service awards which continue to vest resulting in an immaterial amount of additional

compensation expense during the year ended December 31 2010

In October 2010 stock options were modified in accordance with the terms of separation agreements for certain employees The

effect of this modification was to accelerate
expense recognition to reflect the modified vesting schedule of the options We recognized

$1 .1 million of compensation expense during the year ended December 31 2010 in connection with these modifications

Our stock option activity and related information follows

Employee options and non-employee
director options Ins estor director pros ider options

\eighted- \%eighled
Common average Intrinsic salue Common aerage

shares exercise price in millions shares exercise price

.5

utstanding ecemher 2008 .820448 .90 140000 9.00

Granted 344852 0.98

Forfeited 5.4 10 2.00

Outstanding December 31 2009 2129890 1.75 140000 9.00

granted 35.400 2.18

Exercised 28329 2.00 0.3

Forfeited 49.905 1.51

Outstanding December 31 2010 2087056 1.76 140000 9.00

Exercised 426.263 1.57 5.3

Forfeited 23362 1.67

Outstanding December 31 201 1637.431 1.81 13.4 140000

Fully vested and exercisable December 31
2011 weighted-average remaining

contractual term of.8 years each 1080780 2.05 6.7 I4OO 9.00

Options that were not in-the-money at December 312011 and therefore have negative intrinsic value have been excluded from
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aggregate intrinsic value calculations

We estimated the grant date fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model We did not grant

stock options in 2011 The following table summarizes the assumptions used concerning our stock option grants

Year ended December 31

2010 2009

Employee Employee

Expected price volatility 90.9% 77.3%

Risk-free interest rate 3.1% 3.3%

Weighted-average expected lives in years

Weighted-average fair value 1.76 0.56

Dividend yield

Expected price volatility was based on the historical volatility of representative peer companies stocks The expected term

assumption at the grant date was generally based on historical patterns of forfeitures and the contractual term of the option as well as

forward looking factors plus an estimated additional holding period until options are exercised Expected dividend yield was based on

managements expectation of no dividend payments Risk free interest rates were based on the U.S Treasury yield curve in effect at the

grant dates

Our employee and non-employee director RSU and restricted stock activity was as follows

Performance

Service-vesting RSUs vesting RSUs Restricted stock

Weighted- Weighted

average grant average grant

date fair value RSUs target date fair valueRSUs shares

Non-vested December 31 2009

Granted 103524 11.63

Non-vested December 31 2010 103524 11 63

Granted 405403 15.32 248038 26762

Dividend equivalent units granted 62879 745 31856 3592

Vested aggregate intrinsic value of $0.5

million 65014 11.54

Forfeited 57681 13 79

Non-vested December 31 201 aggregate
intrinsic value of $6.1 million 449111 14.11

6.99

7.45

19028

260866 30354 7.04

Our investor director provider RSU activity was as follows

RSUs

Non-vested December 31 2010

Granted 90000

Dividend equivalent units granted 12443

Vested 68295

Non-vested December 312011 34.148

We determined grant date fair value of service-vesting RSUs and restricted stock based on the closing price of our common stock

on the grant date We estimated forfeiture rate for service-vesting RSUs based on the historical forfeiture rate for employee stock option

grants of comparable size We expect all non-employee director and investor director provider RSUs and restricted stock to vest Dividend

equivalent units vest on the same schedule as the related RSUs Service-vesting RSUs and restricted stock will generally vest over three

years on the anniversary of the grant date in the following increments 25% on the first anniversary 25% on the second anniversary and

50% on the third anniversary We recognize stock compensation expense on straight-line basis over the three year vesting period

As ofDecember 312011 unrecognized stock compensation expense related to non-vested options service-vesting RSUs restricted

stock and investor director provider RSUs was $4.8 million We will recognize this amount over weighted-average period of 1.6 years

We have not yet recognized stock compensation expense for performance-vesting RSUs because the performance conditions have not

been determined as of December 31 2011

Total fair value of options that vested for the years ended December 31 2011 2010 and 2009 was $1.2 million $2.1 million and
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17 NET INCOME PER COMMON SHARE

We present both basic and diluted EPS on the face ofour consolidated statements ofoperations Basic and diluted EPS are calculated

as follows in millions except per share

2011 2010 2009

Net income 1409 669 101

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 6706 5156 4353

Effect of dilutive options 1.29 1.24

Diluted 6835 528 4353

Net income per common share

Basic

Diluted

Certain stock options whose terms and conditions are described in Note 16 Share-Based Payments could potentially dilute basic

EPS in the future hut were not included in the computation of diluted EPS because to do so would have been antidilutive Those anti-

dilutive options are as follows in millions

2011 2010 2009

Antidilutive options 005 tO 227

Current

Federal

Foreign

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

Year ended December 31

2011 2010 2009

63.7 18.9

State

Current total

Deferred

Federal

Foreign

State

Deferred total

Total

27

3.4 1.3 1.0

69.8 2.2 0.6

22.1 11.9 53.6

0.8 2.8 0.6

0.1 5.0

24.4 14.8 58.0

454 350 586

Sl.4 million respectively Total fair value of vested service-vesting RSUs was $0.8 million for the year ended December 31 2011 No

restricted stock or performance-vesting RSIJs were vested as of December 2011

December 31

2.10 1.30 2.33

2.06 1.27 2.33

December 31

18 INCOME TAXES

The components of income before income taxes were as follows in millions

UnitedStates 178.3 91.6

Foreign 8.0 10.3

Total 186.3 1019

Income tax expense was as follows in millions

129.9

30.1

160.0

0.4

As of December 31 2011 we have state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $125.3 million expiring in years 2017

through 2029 In addition as of December 31 2011 we have state tax credit carryforwards of$ 1.6 million expiring in years 2012 through
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2026

FASB ASC Topic 740 Income Taxes ASC Topic 740 requires valuation allowance against deferred tax assets if based on

available evidence it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized In assessing the need for

valuation allowance we consider historical levels of income expectations and risks associated with estimates of future taxable income

and ongoing prudent and practical tax planning strategies On quarterly basis we evaluate our deferred tax asset balance for realizability

To the extent we believe it is more likely than not that some portion of our deferred tax assets will not be realized we will increase the

valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets For the year ended December 31 2011 we decreased our valuation allowance by

$8.6 million which consists of $10.0 million release related primarily to capital loss carryforwards which were either utilized in 2011

or expired pursuant to the relevant statute of limitations partially offset by $1.4 million increase for our deferred tax assets primarily

state net operating loss carryforwards Adjustments could be required in the future if we estimate that the amount of deferred tax assets

to be realized is more or less than the net amount we have recorded

As of December 31 2011 we have not provided for withholding or United States federal income taxes on approximately $45.4

million of accumulated undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaries as they are considered by management to be permanently

reinvested If these undistributed earnings were not considered to be permanently reinvested an approximately $1 .2 million deferred

income tax liability would have been provided

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for

financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes

Significant components of our deferred tax assets and liabilities were as follows in millions

December 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax liabilities

Property related 141.5 150.7

Debt related 743

Investments 43.6 50.0

Inventory
10.2 17.5

Intangibles
13.3 21.3

Derivatives
27.9 68.8

Other 2.0 1.2

Total deferred tax liabilities 313.0 385.2

Deferred tax assets

Compensation related 74.6 54.0

Capital and net operating loss carryforwards
5.3 14.9

Foreign and state tax credit carryforwards
1.1 1.7

Other 2.3 5.2

Total deferred tax assets 833 75.8

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 5.6 14.2

Net deferred tax assets 17.7 61.6

Net deferred tax liability
235.3 323.6

Reconciliation of Income Taxes

The reconciliation of the income taxes calculated at the rates in effect with the effective tax rate shown in the statements of

operations was as follows
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Federal Statutory income tax rate

Reconciling items between federal statutory income tax rate and

effective tax rate

State and local income taxes net of federal benefit

Equity method investee income

Internal Revenue Code Sec 199 manufacturing deduction

Goodwill impairment

Bargain pwÆaseaccounting

Federal valuation allowance

Reserve for uncertain tax positfons

Other permanent items

Effective tax rate

December 31

2011 2010 2009

35.0 35.0 35.0

07 0.8 2.3

0.2
3.9 1.8

23.9

25.3
5.4

2.6 02 0.2

0.6 0.1 0.7

2L4 M.1 36.6

The Apollo Acquisition was consummated on May 18 2007 when Noranda AcquisitionCo acquired the Noranda Aluminum
business of Xstrata Schweiz A.G or Xstrata by acquiring the stock of Noranda Intermediate Holding Corporation Noranda

Intermediate which owned all of the outstanding shares of Noranda Aluminum Inc In connection with the Apollo Acquisition Xstrata

generally agreed to indemnify us for taxes imposed on Noranda Intermediate and its subsidiaries with respect to periods ending on or

prior to the date of the Apollo Acquisition At December 31 2010 and December 31 2011 we had receivable of $4.5 million and $0.1

million respectively from Xstrata equal to our provision for uncertain tax positions net of federal benefits for income taxes ofNoranda

Intermediate and its subsidiaries for periods ending on or prior to the date of the Apollo Acquisition The net decrease of $4.4 million in

the year ended December 31 2011 consists ofa $4.5 million decrease as result of the expiration of the statute oflimitations with respect

to certain income tax returns partially offset by an increase of $0.1 million for additional amounts related to prior period tax positions

As of December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 we had unrecognized tax benefits including interest of approximately $2

million and $11.8 million respectively The net decrease of $9.7 million in the
year

ended December 31 2011 consists ofa $9.9 million

decrease as result of the expiration of the statute of limitations with respect to certain income tax returns partially offset by an increase

of $0.2 million for additional amounts related to prior period tax positions resulting in $6.3 million reduction net of federal benefits

in income tax expense

Changes in amounts of unrecognized tax benefits were as follows in millions

Beginning of period

Tax positions related to the current period

Gross additions

Gross reductions

Tax positions related to prior years

Gross additions

Gross recticns

Settlements

Lapses on statute of limitations

End of period

December 31

2011 2010 2009

10.2 10.2 10.1

03 0.1

2.0 10.2 10.2

The total amounts of net unrecognized tax benefits as of December31 2011 and December 31 2010 that if recognized would

impact the effective tax rate were $1.4 million and $7.7 million respectively Within the next twelve months we estimate that the

unrecognized benefits could change by approximately $0.2 million as result of tax audit closings settlements and the expiration of the

statute of limitations with
respect to returns in various jurisdictions We elected to accrue interest and penalties related to unrecognized

tax benefits in our provision for income taxes As of December 31 2011 and December 31 2010 we have accrued interest and penalties

related to unrecognized tax benefits of approximately $0.1 million and $1.6 million respectively

We file consolidated federal and various state income tax returns The earliest year open to examination in the Companys major

jurisdictions is 2008 for federal and state income tax returns
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19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In connection with the Apollo Acquisition we entered into management consulting and advisory services agreement with our

principal stockholders affiliated with Apollo Management VI L.P for the provision of certain structuring management and advisory

services for an initial term ending on May 18 2017 Terms of the agreement provided for annual fees of $2.0 million payable in one

lump sum annually Historically we expensed approximately $0.5 million of such fees each quarter within selling general and

administrative expenses in our consolidated statements ofoperations Upon completion ofour initial public offering in second quarter 2010

as permitted by the terms of that management agreement Apollo terminated the agreement and received $13.5 million fee from the

Company This payment consisted of $1.0 million in management fees accrued in 2010 prior to the termination of the management

agreement and $12.5 million in accelerated management fees due upon termination of the management agreement Such fee is included

in selling general and administrative expenses
in our consolidated statements of operations

We sell flat-rolled products to Berry Plastics Corporation portfolio company of Apollo under an annual sales contract Sales to

this entity were as follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011
9.0

2010
10.6

2009
62

We have historically sold flat-rolled products to Richardson Trident Co which was acquired in first quarter of 2011 by Metals

USA Holdings Corp portfolio company ofApollo Sales to Metals USA Holdings Corp and its subsidiaries were as follows in millions

Year ended December 31

2011
19.4

2010
11.4

2009
8.6

Accounts receivable from related parties were as follows

Year ended December 31

2011 2010

Beny Plastics Corporation
04 01

Metals USA Holdings Corp 3.7 2.6

Until the Joint Venture Transaction on August 31 2009 see Note 22 Joint Venture Transaction Gramercy was our 50% owned

joint venture and purchases of alumina from Gramercy were considered related party transactions Related party purchases from Gramercy

prior to the Joint Venture Transaction were as follows in millions

PeriodfciiæJànuaryl2009toAUgUt312OO9
56.0

20 NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST

Through St Ann we hold 49% partnership interest in Noranda Jamaica Bauxite Partners NJBP in which the GOJ holds

51% interest NJBP mines bauxite approximately 50% of which was sold to Gramercy during 2011 with the remaining majority sold to

Sherwin Alumina Company

St Ann is party to several agreements collectively the Mining Agreements with the GOJ St Ann and the GOJ have equal

voting rights in NJBPs executive committee St Ann manages the mining operations under management agreement St Ann receives

bauxite from NJBP at NJBPs cost and pays the GOJ return on its investment in NJBP through fees paid by NBL pursuant to an

establishment agreement that defines the negotiated fiscal structure St Ann has special mining lease with the GOJ for the supply of

bauxite The lease ensures access to sufficient reserves to allow St Ann to ship annually 4.5 million dry metric tonnes DMT of bauxite

from mining operations in specified concession area through September 30 2030 We have reached agreement with the GOJ to mine

5.4 million DMT during 2012

In return for these rights St Ann is required to pay fees called for in the establishment agreement consisting of

Dedication feeBase dedication fee of $0.6 million per year is tied to total land base of 13820 acres The sum actually

paid will vary with the current total of bauxite lands owned by the GOJ which is being used by NJBP expressed as proportion
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of the total land base

Depletion feeAbase depletion fee of $0.2 million is paid on base shipment of 4.0 million DMT
per annum Variations

in amounts paid will be proportional to changes in shipments

Asset usage fee St Ann also pays the GOJ 10% annually in respect of the GOJs 51% share of the mining assets

Production levy production levy determined using the
average realized price of primary aluminum as determined by

regulation of the GOJ is applied to all bauxite shipped from Jamaica other than sales to the GOJ and its agencies

Royalty Royalties are payable to any person for the mining of bauxite at rate of U.S $1.50 per dry metric tonnes of

monohydrate bauxite shipped and U.S $2.00 per dry metric tonnes of trihydrate bauxite shipped provided that during any

period when the production levy is payable the royalty shall be at rate of U.S $0.50 per dry metric tonnes

As of December 2011 and 2010 we recorded accrued liabilities of $4.7 million and $4.0 million respectively for these fees

We had no prepaid GOJ royalties as of December 31 2011 however we recorded $2.3 million of prepaid GOJ royalties in prepaid

expenses as of December 31 2010

On December 2009 NBL arrived at an understanding with the GOJ to amend the establishment agreement This amendment

sets the fiscal regime structure ofthe establishment agreement from January 2009 through December 2014 The amendment provides
for commitment by NBL to make certain expenditures for haulroad development maintenance dredging land purchases contract

mining training and other general capital expenditures from 2009 through 2014 If we do not meet our commitment to the GOJ regarding

these expenditures we would owe to the GOJ penalty that could be material to our consolidated financial statements We believe there

is remote possibility that we will not meet the commitment We signed the formal amendment with the GOJ on the fiscal structure in

June 2010 which did not change the cost structure from the agreement reached in 2009 The terms of the agreement required us to make

$14.0 million prepayment of Jamaican income taxes for fiscal years 2011 through 2014 of which $10.0 million was paid in June 2010

and the remainder was paid in April 2011

We have determined that NJBP is variable interest entity under U.S GAAP and St Ann is NJBPs primary beneficiary The

determination that St Ann is the primary beneficiary was based on the fact that St Ann absorbs the profits and losses associated with the

partnership while the GOJ receives certain fees from St Ann royalties production and asset
usage fees etc. Therefore we consolidate

NJBP into our consolidated financial statements beginning with the date of the Joint Venture Transaction On January 2010 we adopted

Accounting Standards Update No 2009-1 Improvements in Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest

Entities ASU 2009-1 which replaced quantitative approach for determining the primary beneficiary with qualitative approach

and did not change our previous conclusion that St Ann is NJBPs primary beneficiary Due to the consolidation ofNJBP the following

amounts are included in our consolidated balance sheets in millions

December 31 2011 December31 2010

Impact on Impact on
NJBP Impact of consolidated NJBP Impact of consolidated

balances Eliminations statements balances Eliminations statements

Cash and cash equivalents 1.9 1.9

Accounts recci able net II .2 11.2

Inventories net consisting of maintenance

supp1is inventory and fuel 12.0 12.0

Other current ascts

Property plant and equipment net 38.4 38.4

Other asseh 5.2 5.2

Accounts payable 50.1 42.8 7.3

\ccrued liabi itie 4.3 4.3

EnvirotUnentai land and reclairiation

1iabiIifi 4.6 4.6

Noncontrol Ii ng interest 6.0 6.0

NBPs net lwestment and advances to

NJBP 5.8 31.6 37.4

0.5

8.6

1.4 1.4

38.4 38.4

2.7 2.7

43.1 36.0 7.1
4.6 4.6

8.3 8.3

________________________________________________________
6.0 6.0

_______________________________
5.7 19.9 25.6

The liabilities recognized as result of consolidating NJBP do not represent additional claims on our general assets NJBPs
creditors have claims only on the specific assets of NJBP and St Ann Similarly the assets of NJBP we consolidate do not represent

additional assets available to satisfy claims against our general assets

St Ann receives bauxite from NJB Pat cost excluding the mining lease fees described above therefore NJBP operates at breakeven

Further all returns to the GOJ are provided through the payments from St Ann under the various fees levies and royalties described
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above In these circumstances no portion of NJBPs net income loss or consolidated comprehensive income loss is allocated to the

non-controlling interest We do not expect the balance of the non-controlling interest to change from period to period unless there is an

adjustment to the fair value of inventory or property plant and equipment as may occur in LCM or asset impairment scenario

21 2009 INSURANCE CLAIM

During the week of January 26 2009 power supply to our New Madrid smelter was interrupted several times because of severe

ice storm in southeastern Missouri As result of the power outage we lost approximately 75% of the smelter capacity The smelter

became fully operational again during first quarter 2010

We reached $67.5 million settlement with our insurance carriers all ofwhich had been received by September 30 2009 Insurance

proceeds funded $11.5 million of capital expenditures at our New Madrid smelter through September 30 2009 The following table shows

the insurance activity as presented in our consolidated financial statements through September 30 2009 when we finalized all settlements

and received related proceeds in millions

Nine months eiided September 30 2009

Expenses Related Net

incurred proceeds impact

Cost of sales 17.4 17.4

Selling general and administrative expenses 6.6 6.6
Excess insurance proceeds 43.5 43.5

Total 24.0 67.5 43.5
Insurance cash receipts through September 30 2009 67.5

The line item titled Excess insurance proceeds reflects the residual insurance recovery after applying total expected proceeds

recognized against the losses incurred through September 30 2009 We incurred costs in the fourth quarter of 2009 of $3.3 million related

to bringing production back to full capacity The excess insurance proceeds are not intended to represent gain on the insurance claim

but only timing difference between expected proceeds recognized and claim-related costs incurred

22 JOINT VENTURE TRANSACTION

On August 31 2009 we became the sole owner of both Gramercy and St Ann Prior to the Joint Venture Transaction our 50%

investment interests in the joint ventures were accounted for by the equity method The results of operations related to Gramercy and

St Ann are included in our consolidated financial statements from the transaction closing date

Gain Calculation

We measured the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Joint Venture Transaction utilizing valuation techniques

based on the nature of the asset or liability being measured and the reliability of inputs used in arriving at fair value Note Fair Value

Measurements for further discussion of significant assumptions used in measuring these fair values Expenses related to the Joint Venture

Transaction such as valuation legal and consulting costs are included in selling general and administrative expenses

The Joint Venture Transaction was business combination achieved in stages since we owned 50% of both Gramercy and St Ann

prior to August 31 2009 We recorded $18.5 million as gain on business combination related to re-measuring our investment in affiliates

to fair value as of the acquisition date The $1 .2 million tax effect of this gain was recorded as tax expense The Joint Venture Transaction

was also bargain purchase Based on the fair values assigned to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed we recorded $101.8 million

net of tax gain on business combination related to the bargain purchase The total gain on business combination recognized was $120.3

million
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he calculation the gain on business combination is summarized below in millions

August 31 2009

Gain on busis combination from acquired interests

Transaction date titir alue of our pre ions 500o equity interest

Transaction date carrying value of our previous 50% equity interest 126.8

Re aluation of our previous 5000 equit interest 8.5 145.3

Non-controlling interest in NJBP see Note 20 Non-Controlling Interest 6.0

Total transaction date fair alue of our previous 50% equity interest 151 .3

Fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed

heasb.uivaien ILl

Aecounk recei able net 61 .3

Inventories net 59.2

Property plant and equipment net 195.8

Other intangible assets net 19.8

Other assets
33.8

Deed tex lithilities c434

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities and other long-term liabilities 58.5

Eavimmue and reelanintion liabilities 25

Other longterm liabilities 0.1 253.1

11112
Total gain on business combination trom acquireci interest 4W

Total gain on business combination from joint venture transaction

Gain on business combination from acquired interests

lain on business combination relate4 to revaluing our previous 50% equity interest

101.8

Its

120.3
Total gain on business combination from joint venture transaction _______________

The results of operations related to Gramercy and St Ann are included in our consolidated financial statements from the closing

date of the transaction The operating results of Gramercy and St Ann included in our consolidated statements of operations for the period

from the transaction date of August 31 2009 to December 31 2009 are summarized below in millions

Sales
71.1

Operating loss 32.7

Net loss 20.8

Pro forma Information

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma condensed statements ofoperations data for the year ended December 31 2009

and reflects the results of operations as if the Joint Venture Transaction had been effective January 2009 These amounts have been

calculated by adjusting the results of Gramercy and St Ann to reflect the additional inventory cost depreciation and amortization that

would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments to inventory property plant and equipment and intangible assets had been

applied on January 2009 together with the consequential tax effects The unaudited pro forma financial information is not intended

to represent the consolidated results of operations we would have reported if the acquisition had been completed at January 2009 nor

is it necessarily indicative of future operating results

da
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Unaudited
pro

forma condensed statements of operations are presented below in millions except per share data

Pro forma

Year ended

December 31

2009

Sales 879.1

Operating loss 175.0
Net mcome 19.2

Net income per common share

Basic 0.44

Diluted 0.44

Weighted-average common shares outstanding

Basic 43.53

Diluted 43.53

Investment in Afffliates

Prior to the Joint Venture Transaction and through August 31 2009 we held 50% interest in Gramercy and in St Ann

Summarized financial information for the joint ventures as recorded in their respective consolidated financial statements at full

value excluding the amortization of the excess carrying values of our investments over the underlying equity in net assets of the affiliates

is presented through August 31 2009 prior to the Joint Venture Transaction The results of operations of Gramercy and St Ann have

been included in our consolidated financial statements since the Joint Venture Transaction date

Summarized statements of operations information prior to the Joint Venture Transaction follows in millions

Period from

January 2009

to

August 31 2009

Net sales 208.1

Gross profit 5.5

Net income 9.9

Net sales included sales to related parties which include alumina sales to us and our previous joint venture partner and Bauxite

sales from St Ann to Gramercy in millions

Period from

January 2009

to

August 31 2009

St Ann to Gramercy 29.1

St Ann to third parties 20.0

Gramercy to us and our joint venture partner 112.1

Gramercy to third parties 46.9

Impairment of investment in affiliates

In first quarter 2009 in response to the global economic contraction and the New Madrid power outage production was partially

curtailed at Gramercy and St Ann These partial curtailments led us to evaluate our investment in the joint ventures for impairment in

first quarter 2009 which resulted in $45.3 million write-down $39.3 million for St Ann and $6.0 million for Gramercy In second

quarter 2009 we recorded $35.0 million impairment charge related to our equity method investment in St Ann This impairment

reflects second quarter 2009 revisions to our assumptions about St Anns future profitability and cash flows Each impairment is recorded

within equity in net income loss of investments in affiliates in the consolidated statements of operations

Our analysis included assumptions about future profitability and cash flows of the joint ventures which we believe to reflect our

best estimates at the date the valuations were performed The estimates were based on information that was known or knowable at the

date of the valuations and it is at least reasonably possible that the assumptions employed by us will be materially different from the

actual amounts or results See Note Fair Value Measurements for further discussion of significant assumptions used
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Carrying Value Compared To Underlying Equity

Prior to the Joint Venture Transaction the excess of the carrying values of our share of the joint venture investments over the

amounts of underlying equity in net assets was amortized on straight-line basis for each affiliate as part of recording our share of each

joint venturs earnings or losses Amortization expense
recorded in equity in net income loss of investments in affiliates during the

period from January 2009 to August 31 2009 was $4.3 million

23 SUBSIDIARY ISSUER OF GUARANTEED NOTES

The AcquisitionCo Notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed on senior unsecured joint and several basis by the existing

and future wholly owned domestic subsidiaries of Noranda AcquisitionCo that guarantee the senior secured credit facilities NHB and

St Ann are not guarantors of the senior secured credit facilities and are not guarantors of the AcquisitionCo Notes Noranda HoldCo

fully and unconditionally guarantees the AcquisitionCo Notes on joint and several basis with the subsidiary guarantors The guarantee

by Noranda HoldCo is not required by the indenture governing the AcquisitionCo Notes and may be released by Noranda FloldCo at any

time Noranda HoldCo has no independent operations or any assets other than its interest in Noranda AcquisitionCo Noranda

AcquisitionCo is wholly owned finance subsidiary of Noranda HoldCo with no operations independent of its subsidiaries

The tbllowing consolidating financial statements present separately the financial condition and results of operations and cash flows

condensed for Noranda HoldCo as parent guarantor Noranda AcquisitionCo as the issuer the subsidiary guarantors the subsidiary

non-guarantors NHB and St Ann and eliminations These consolidating financial statements have been prepared and presented in

accordance with SEC Regulation S-X Rule 3-10 Financial Statements of Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed Securities Registered

or Being Registered

The accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidating financial statements are consistent with those elsewhere in

the consolidated financial statements Intercompany transactions have been presented gross in the following consolidating financial

statenients however these transactions eliminate in consolidation
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31 2011

in millions

Parent

guarantor
Issuer Subsidiary

Noranda Noranda Subsidiary non

HoIdCo AcquisitionCo guarantors guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3.3 31.3 3.3 4.8 42.7

Accounts receivable net

Trade 102.5 5.1 107.6

Affiliates 21.7 11.9 0.7 21.6 55.9

Inventories net 163.5 24.3 1.3 186.5

Prepaid expenses 0.2 6.4 6.7 13.3

Other current assets 33.2 8.1 41.3

Totalcurrentassets 25.2 43.2 309.6 70.6 57.2 391.4

Investments in affiliates 428.3 1457.5 1885.8
Advances due from affiliates 91.9 682.5 63.4 837.8

Property plant and equipment net 642.5 57.3 699.8

Goodwill 137.6 137.6

Other intangible assets net 73.1 6.0 67.1

Otherassets 8.1 53.0 20.5 81.6

Total assets 453.5 1600.7 1898.3 211.8 2786.8 1.3775

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Trade

Affiliates

Accrued liabilities 0.2

88.3 7.6 95.9

21.7 21.6 12.6 55.9
24 634 213 873

1.7 0.6 0.3 2.6

409 409

0.1 35.8 35.9

24 24
2.0 26.5 250.6 41.8 55.9 265.0

4261 4261

0.1 0.1

Other long-term liabilities 0.1 35.3 10.8 46.2

Advances due to affiliates 152.2 685.6 8378
Long-term deferred tax liabilities 43.7 34.1 128.8 3.5 7.3 202.8

Common stock subject to redemption 2.0 2.0

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock

Common stock 0.7 0.7

Capital in excess of par value 231.9 352.1 1199.7 83.7 1635.5 231.9

Retained earnings accumulated deficit 63.4 118.6 155.3 61.2 335.1 63.4

Accumulated other comprehensive income

loss 42.4 42.4 39.8 2.6 84.8 42.4

Total shareholders equity 253.6 428.3 1315.2 142.3 1885.8 253.6

Non-controlling interest 6.0 6.0

Total equity 253.6 428.3 1315.2 148.3 1885.8 259.6

Total liabilities and equity 453.5 1600.7 1898.3 211.8 2.786.8 1377.5

Taxes payable

Derivative liabilities net

Deferred tax liabilities

Current portion of long-terni debt

Total current liabilities

Long-term debt

Long-term derivative liabilities net

Pension and other post-retirement liabilities 168.3 7.4 175.7
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

Consolidating Balance Sheet

December 31 2010

in millions

Parent

guarantor

oranda
HoIdCo

Subsidiar

Subcidiar non

guaranlors guarantors Iiniinations Consolidated

ASSETS

urrent assets

cash and cash equivalents 7.3 20.4 2.5 3.6 33.8

Accounts recei able net

Trade 128.1 3.5 131.6

Affiliates 21.4 11.9 -- 14.4 47.7 --

Invento net 176.0 27.2 2.1 201.1

Prepaid expenses
0.2 4.2 8.5 12.9

thercts 12.5 6.7 19.2

fotal current assets 28.9 32.3 323.3 63.9 49.8 398.6

Investments in affiliates 356.5 1265.7 1622.2

Adances due from affiliates 28.3 46.7 516.7 63.5 655.2

Property plantand equipment net 663.6 56.3 719.9

Good ill
137.6 137.6

Other intangibie assets net 73.0 73.0

Other assets 11.0 59.6 15.0 85.6

Totalassets 413.7 1355.7 1773.8 198.7 2.327.2 1414.7

l.IABILIlIES 1NI FQIIITV

Current liabilities

Accounts payable

Trade 0.1 77.5 7.5 85.1

Aililiate 21.3 14.4 12.0 47.7

Accrued liabilities 0.3 48.7 16.5 65.5

Taxes payable
5.3 0.8 0.3 -- 4.8

Derivave liabilities net 23.2 23.2

Deferred tax liabilities 0.1 48.4 -- 48.5

Total current liabilities 5.5 21.6 211.4 36.3 47.7 227.1

Lone-term debt 419.7 -- 419.7

Long-term derivative liabilities net 18.4 18.4

Pension and other postretirement

liabilities
105.3 10.7 116.0

Other long-term liabilities 0.1 2.3 44.3 11.2 57.9

Adances due to affiliates 78.0 521.5 56.4 655.9

Long-term deferred tax liabilities 38.4 34.1 204.8 2.0 1.4 277.9

Conimon stock subject to redemption 2.0 2.0

Shareholders equity

Preferred stock

Common stock 0.7 0.7

Capital in excess of par alue 227.7 352.1 1199.7 83.7 1.635.5 227.7

Retained earnings accumulated

deficit 81 65.1 142.2 152.2 8.2

Accumulated other comprehensive

income loss 69 69 75.7 6.3 138.9 69

Total shareholders equity 289.7 356.5 1133.2 132.5 1622.2 289.7

Noncontrol in interest 6.0 ---- 6.0

Total equity
289.7 356.5 1133.2 138.5 l6222 295.7

Fotal liabilities and equit 413.7 1355.7 1773.8 198.7 2327.2 1414.7

Issuer

Noranda
AcquisitionCo
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31 2011

in millions

Parent

guarantor Issuer Subsidiary

Noranda Noranda Subsidiary non

HoIdCo AcquisitionCo guarantors guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

Sales 1491.9 150.9 83.0 1559.8

Operat inc costs and expenses

Cost of sales 1298.9 128.6 83.0 1344.5

Sd hug general and administrative

expenses 6.8 0.3 72.5 14.3 93.9

Total operating costs and expenses 6.8 0.3 1371.4 142.9 830 1438.4

Operating income loss 6.8 0.3 120.5 8.0 121.4

Other income expense

Interest expense income net 0.4 21.8 0.1 21.5

Gain on hedging activities net 86.4 86.4
Total other income expense 0.4 21.8 86.3 64.9
Income loss before income taxes 6.4 22.1 206.8 8.0 U-- 186.3

Income tax henelit expense 2.3 7.8 53.6 1.9 45.4

Equity in net income of subsidiaries 145.0 159.3 304.3
Net income 140.9 145.0 153.2 6.1 304.3 140.9
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31 2010

in millions

Eliminations Consolidated

1240 1204 65 1294Sales

Operatintz costs and expenses

Cost of sales 1083.9 94.0 65.5 1112.4

el cenera and administrati

expenses
7.3 18.7 73.0 16.0 15.0

Total operating costs and expenses 7.3 18.7 1156.9 110.0 65.5 1227.4

Operating income loss 7.3 18.7 83 10.4 67.5

Other income expense

Interest expense income net 6.0 29.0 0.2 4.1 31.1

Gain on hedging activities net 65.6 65.6

Gain loss on debt repurchase .0 0.9 --

Total other income expense 7.0 28.1 65.4 4.1 34.4

Income loss hefire income taxes 14.3 46.8 148.5 14.5 101.9

Income tax benefit expense 5.1 15.7 51.5 4.3 35.0

quits in net income of subsidiaries 76 107.2 83.3

Net income 66.9 76.1 97.0 10.2 183.3 66.9

Parent

guarantor

Noranda
HoldCo

Issuer

Noranda
AcquisitionCo

Subsidiary

Subsidiary non

guarantors guarantors
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

Consolidating Statement of Operations

Year ended December 31 2009

in millions

Parent

Eliminations Consolidated

755 346 200 769Sales

Operating costs and expenses

Cost of sales 766.6 32.9 20.0 779.5

Selling general and administrative

expenses
3.2 2.5 67.4 2.9 76.0

Goodwill and other intangible asset

impairment 100 1080

Excess insurance proceeds 43.5 43.5

Total operating costs and expenses 3.2 2.5 89.5 35.8 20.0 920.0

Operating income loss 3.2 2.5 143.2 1.2 150.1

Other income expense

Interest income expense net 18.1 48.2 0.3 13.1 53.5

Gainonhedgingactivitiesnet 111.8 111.8

Equity in net loss of investments in

affiliates 79.7 79.7

Gain on debt repurchase 116.1 95.1 211.2

Gain on business combination 83.3 37.0 120.3

Total other income 98.0 46.9 115.1 50.1 310.1

Income loss before income taxes 94.8 44.4 28.1 48.9 160.0

Income tax expense 33.6 16.7 4.3 4.0 58.6

Equity in net income of subsidiaries 40.2 12.5 52.7

Net income loss 101.4 40.2 32.41 44.9 52.7 101.4

guarantor

Noranda
HoldCo

Issuer

Noranda
AcquisitionCo

Subsidiary

guarantors

Subsidiary

non

guarantors
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDiNG CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 2011

in millions

Parent

guarantor Issuer

Noranda Noranda Subsidiary

HoldCo AcquisitionCo guarantors

4.7

Eliminations Consolidated

OPERATING AT WITIES
____________________________

ash pros Ided h\ used in operating

acti itie 81.3 57.0

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures 56.4 8.2 64.6

Proceeds from sale of property plant

and equment 0.2 2.4 2.6

Cash used in eslin acti ities 56.2 5.8 62.0

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds troni issuance ol common
shares share-based payment

arranLemenl 0.7 0.7

Dividends paid to shareholders 69.3 69.3

listrihutions paid 10 optlonholderS 1.8 1.8

Excess tax benefit related to share-

based payment arrangements
0.7 0.7

Distribution to iae from

suhsidiar\ 70.4 70.4

Cash provided by used in financing

activities 0.7 70.4 69.7

hangc in cash and cash equialents 4.0 10.9 0.8 .2 8.9

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period
7.3 20.4 2.5 3.6 33.8

ash and cash equi alents end olperiod 3.3 31.3 3.3 4.8 42.7

7.0 140.6

Subsidiary

non

guarantors
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 2010

in millions

Parent

guarantor Issuer Subsidiary

Noranda Noranda Subsidiary non

HoldCo AcquisitionCo guarantors guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash provided by used in operating

activities 154.7 363.7 51.7 10.2 270.9

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures 53.6 7.7 61.3
Proceeds from sale of property plant

and equipment 0.1 0.1 0.2

Cash used in investing activities 53.5 7.6 61.1
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of common
shares equity offerings

205.9 205.9

Proceeds from issuance of common
shares share-based payment

arrangements
0.1 0.1

Repayments on revolving credit

facility 215.9 215.9

Repayments of long-term debt 66.3 267.0 333.3
Distribution to parent from

subsidiary 0.9 0.9

Cash provided by used in financing

activities 140.6 483.8 343.2

Change in cash and cash equivalents 14.1 120.1 1.8 2.6 133.4
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period 21.4 140.5 4.3 1.0 167.2

Cash and cash equivalents end of period 7.3 20.4 2.5 3.6 33.8
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NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash provided by used in operating

activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Capital expenditures

Purchase of debt

Proceeds from insurance related to

capital expenditures

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION
Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended December 31 2009

in millions

Proceeds from sale of property plant

and equipment

Cash acquired in business

combination

FINANCING ACIIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of common

shares share-based payment

arrangements

Repurchac ol common shares

Borrowings on revolving credit

facility

Repa\ nients on re ol ing credit

facility

Repayments of long-term debt

Intereonlpall\ ad atiecs

Capital contribution to subsidiary

from parent

Distribution 10 parent from

subsidiary

Cash provided by used in fmancing

activities

hange iii cash and cah equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of

period

Cash and cash equivalenk end of period

Parent

guarantor

Noranda
HoldCo

issuer

Noranda
AcquisitionCo

Subsidiary

guarantors

Subsidiary

non

guarantors Eliminations Consolidated

4.7 229.7 37.2 41.0 0.7 220.5

45.1 1.6 46.7

40.3 40.3

11.5 11.5

0.1 0.l

11.1 11.1

Cash provided by used in investing
11.1 33.5 41.9 40.3 24.0activities

___________________________________________________________________________________________

0.3 0.3

0.1 0.1

13.0 13.0

15.5 15.5

2.7 169.4 39.6 211.7

3.0 3.2 0.2

83.7 83.7

1.5 1.5

2.0 260.3 83.9 39.6 214.0

2.7 19.5 3.7 1.0 17.5

24.1 160.0 0.6 184.7

21.4 140.5 4.3 1.0 167.2
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ITEM CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL

DISCLOSURE

Not applicable

ITEM 9A CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain system of disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information

which is required to be timely disclosed is accumulated and communicated to management in timely fashion In designing and evaluating

such controls and procedures we recognize that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated can provide

only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives Our management is necessarily required to use judgment in

evaluating controls and procedures In the ordinary course of business we review our system of internal control over financial reporting

and make changes to our systems and processes to improve such controls and increase efficiency while ensuring that we maintain an

effective internal control environment Changes may include such activities as implementing new more efficient systems and automating

manual processes

An evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures was performed as of the

end of the period covered by this report This evaluation was performed under the supervision and with the participation of management

including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer Based upon that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective to provide reasonable assurance that information

required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

is accumulated and communicated to management including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer as appropriate to

allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure and are effective to provide reasonable assurance that such information is recorded

processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the SECs rules and forms

Managements Report On Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Managements report on internal control over financial reporting and the attestation report of Ernst Young LLP the Companys

independent registered public accounting firm on the Companys internal control over financial reporting are included on pages 61

through 63 of this Form 10-K

Changes In Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Companys internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the fiscal quarter ended

December31 2011 that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys internal control over financial

reporting

ITEM 9B OTHER INFORMATION

None
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PART III

ITEM 10 DIRECTORS EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The intbrmation set forth under the captions Corporate Governance Code of Business Conduct Election of Directors

Corporate Governance Director Independence Corporate Governance Board of Directors Meetings and Committees

Compensation Committee Report Corporate Governance Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation and Section

16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May

10 2012 is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 11 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information set forth under the captions Corporate Governance Compensation Committee Interlock and Insider

Participation Compensation of Directors Executive Compensation Compensation Committee Report Compensation Discussion

and Analysis 2011 Summary Compensation Table 2011 Grants of Plan-Based Awards 2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal

Year End 2011 Pension Benefits 2011 Outstanding Equity Awards 2011 Option Exercises and Stock Vested and Potential

Payments Upon Termination or Change in control in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May

10 2012 is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12 SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information set forth under the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management in our Proxy

Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10 2012 is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 13 CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information set forth under the captions Election of Directors Corporate Governance and Certain Relationships and

Related Party Transactions in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10 2012 is incorporated

herein by reference

ITEM 14 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information set forth under the caption Ratification of the Appointment of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

in our Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10 2012 is incorporated herein by reference
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PART IV

ITEM 15 EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

See the index to Financial Statements which
appears on page 60 of this report

Financial Statement Schedules

Any applicable financial statement schedules required under the related instructions are included in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements which

appear on pages 64 through 124 of this report

Exhibits

See the Index to Exhibits which appear on pages 129 through 131 of this report
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the registrant has duly caused this

report to he signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 12 2012

NORANDA ALUMINUM HOLDING CORPORATION

By /S/ LAYLE SMITH

Name Layle Smith

Title President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Each of the undersigned directors and officers of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation hereby constitutes and appoints

Layle Smith Robert Mahoney and Gail Lehman and each of them his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents with full

power of substitution and resubstitution for him and his name place and stead in any
and all capacities to execute any and all amendments

to this annual report and to cause the same to be filed with all exhibits thereto and all documents in connection therewith with the

Securities and Exchange Commission granting unto said attorneys-in-fact
and agents and each of them full power and authority to do

and perform
each and every act and thing requisite and desirable to be done in and about the premises as fully and to all intents and

purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person hereby ratifying and confirming all acts and things that said attorneys-in-fact

and agents or any
of them or their or his substitute or substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof

Pursuant to the requirements
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed below by the following persons

on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signature
Title

Date

/S/ LAYLE SMITH President Chief Executive Officer and Director March 12 2012

layle Smith Principal Executive Officer

/Si ROBERT MAHONEY Chief Financial Officer
March 12 2012

Robert Mahoney Principal Financial Officer and Principal Accounting Officer

/S/ WILLIAM BROOKS Director
March 12 2012

William Brooks

/S/ ERIC PRESS Director
March 12 2012

Eric Press

/S/ GARETH TURNER Director
March 12 2012

Turner

/S/ ALl RASHID Director
March 12 2012

Au Rashid

IS MATTHEW NORD Director
March 12 2012

Matthess Nord

/S/ MATTHEW MICHELINI Director
March 12 2012

Matthew Michelini

/S/ ALAN SCHUMACHER Director
March 12 2012

Alan Schumacher

/S/ THOMAS MIKLICH Director
March 12 2012

Thomas Miklich

/S ROBERT KASDIN Director
March 12 2012

Robert Kasdin

IS RICHARD EVANS Director March 12 2012

Richard Evans

IS HENRY SILVERMAN Director
March 12 2012

Henr Silerman
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Exhibit

number
Description

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement dated April 10 2007 by and among Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation
Noranda Finance Inc and Xstrata Schweiz A.G incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Noranda Aluminum
Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form -4 filed on January 31 2008

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-166947 filed on

May 19 2010

3.2 Amended and Restated By-Laws of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit

4.2 of the Companys Registration Statement on Form S-8 File No 333-166947 filed on May 19 2010

4.1 Indenture dated May 18 2007 by and among Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation the Guarantors named

therein and Wells Fargo Bank as Trustee incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on January 31 2008

4.2
Supplemental Indenture dated as of September 2007 among Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Noranda
Aluminum Acquisition Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank National Association as Trustee incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form -4 filed on

January 31 2008

4.3 Form of Senior Floating Rate Note due 2015 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Noranda Aluminum
Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on January 31 2008

4.4 Form of common stock certificate of the Company incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 of Amendment No to

the Companys Registration Statement on Form 5-1 File No 333-150760 filed on April 26 2010

10.1 ABL Credit Agreement dated as of February 29 2012 among Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Noranda
Aluminum Acquisition Corporation the other borrowers party thereto from time to time the lenders party thereto

from time to time Bank of America NA as Administrative Agent and the other parties thereto

10.2 ABL Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated as of February 29 2012 among Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporation Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation each of its Subsidiaries identified therein and Bank of

America NA as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

10.3 Term Credit Agreement dated as of February 29 2012 among Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Noranda
Aluminum Acquisition Corporation the lenders party thereto from time to time Bank of America N.A as

Administrative Agent and the other parties thereto

10.4 Term Guarantee and Collateral Agreement dated as of February 29 2012 among Noranda Aluminum Flolding

Corporation Noranda Aluminum Acquisition Corporation each of its Subsidiaries identified therein and Bank of

America NA as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

10.5 Intercreditor Agreement dated as of February 29 2012 among Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation Noranda
Aluminum Acquisition Corporation each of its Subsidiaries identified therein and Bank of America N.A as ABL
Agent and Term Agent

10.6 Management Incentive Compensation Plan Term Sheet dated May 24 2007 between William Brooks and Apollo

Management VI L.P incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations
Registration Statement on Form -4 filed on January 31 2008

10.7 Amended and Restated Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation 2007 Long-Term Incentive Plan dated

April 16 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Current

Report on Form 8-K filed onApril 21 2010

10.8
Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated as of May 29 2007 between Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporation and William Brooks incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on January 31 2008

10.9 Form of Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement Management Holders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on January 31 2008

10.10 Form of Subscription Agreement incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 of Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Registration Statement on Form -4 filed on January 31 2008

10.11 Form of Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement Investor Director Providers incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.8 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form filed on January 31 2008

10.12 Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated February 22 2008 by and among Noranda

Aluminum Inc Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Layle Smith incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.9 of Amendment No ito Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed on

April 11 2008

10.13 Amended and Restricted Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated as of November 12 2009 between Noranda
Aluminum Holding Corporation and Layle Smith incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Noranda
Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on November 16 2009
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Exhibit

number Description

10.14 Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated May 2008 by and among Noranda Aluminum

Inc Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Kyle Lorentzen incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 25 2009

10.15 Special Mining Lease No 165 dated October 2004 granted by the Government of Jamaica to St Ann Bauxite

Limited incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Annual Report on

Form 10-K filed on February 25 2009

10.16 Agreement dated as of December 14 2004 by and between Union Electric Company d/b/a Ameren Missouri and

Noranda Aluminum Inc incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations

Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 25 2009

0.1 Amendment to the Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated November 12 2009 between

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Layle Smith incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on November 16 2009

10.18 Amended and Restated Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated as of November 12 2009 between Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporation and Kyle Lorentzen incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on November 16 2009

10.19 Form of Amended and Restated Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement Management Holders incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on

November 16 2009

10.20 Form ot Non Qualified Stock Option Agreement Management Holders incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on November 16 2009

10.2 2010 Incentive Award Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 10 2010

10.22 Senior Executive Bonus Plan incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 10 2010

10.23 Amended and Restated Securityholders Agreement by and among Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and the

other Holders that are parties thereto dated as of May 19 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Current Report on Form 8- filed on May 19 2010

10.24 Aniended Establishment Agreement dated as of June 24 2010 between the Government of Jamaica and Noranda

Bauxite Limited incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly

Report on Form l0-Q filed on July 30 2010

10.25t Amended and Restated Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Layle Smith incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on October 29 2010

10.26 Amended and Restated Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Kyle Lorentzen incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on October 29 2010

10.27 Amended and Restated Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Robert Mahoney incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on October 29 2010

10.28
Amended and Restated Management Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between

Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation and Gail Lehman incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Quarterly Report on Form 10- filed on October 29 2010

10.29
Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporation and Alan Brown incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporations Quarterly Report on Form lOQ filed on October 29 2010

lO3 Equity Investment and Incentive Term Sheet dated October 26 2010 between Noranda Aluminum Holding

Corporation and Scott Croft incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations

Quarterly Report on Fonn lO-Q filed on October 29 2010

10.31 Management Incentive Term Sheet dated November 12 2010 between Peter Hartland and Noranda Aluminum

Holding Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16 2010

10.32
Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Kyle Lorentzen and Noranda Aluminum

Holding Corporation dated as of November 15 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16 2010

10.33 Separation of Employment Agreement and General Release between Alan Brown and Noranda Aluminum

Holding Corporation dated as of November 15 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Noranda

Aluminum Holding Corporations Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16 2010
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Exhibit

number Description

10.34 Consulting Agreement between Alan Brown and Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporation dated as of

November 15 2010 incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations

Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 16 2010

10.35
Management Incentive Term Sheet dated September 30 2011 between Wayne Hale and Noranda Aluminum

Holding Corporation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Noranda Aluminum Holding Corporations

Form 10-Q filed on November 2011

12.1 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

21.1 List of Subsidiaries

23.1 Consent of Ernst Young LLP

23.2 Consent of CRU

24.1 Power of Attorney included in signature pages

1.1 Chief Executive Officer Certification

31.2 Chief Financial Officer Certification

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer

95.1 Mine Safety Disclosures

101 INS XBRL Instance Document

101 SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101 CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101 DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101 LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101 PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

Certain portions of this document have been omitted pursuant to confidential treatment request
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